

# Promoting safe use of medicines in hospitalised children Rama Arab

## ▶ To cite this version:

Rama Arab. Promoting safe use of medicines in hospitalised children. Pharmacology. Université de Lyon, 2022. English. NNT: 2022LYSE1123 . tel-04220721

## HAL Id: tel-04220721 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04220721

Submitted on 28 Sep 2023

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



N°d'ordre NNT : 2022LYSE1123

## THESE de DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITE DE LYON opérée au sein de l'Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1

## Ecole Doctorale N° 341 (Ecosystèmes Evolution Modélisation Microbiologie)

Spécialité de doctorat : Pharmacologie Discipline : Pharmacologie Clinique

# Soutenue publiquement le 07/07/2022, par : Rama ARAB

# Promoting Safe Use of Medicines in Hospitalised Children

Devant le jury composé de :

Pr. Behrouz Kassai-Koupai, Professeur des Universités - Praticien	(Président du jury)
Hospitalier, Université Claude Bernard Lyon1, France	
Pr. Matthieu Roustit, Professeur des Universités - Praticien Hospitalier,	(Rapporteur)
Université Grenoble Alpes, Saint-Martin-d'Heres, France.	
Pr. Emmanuel Chazard, Professeur des Universités - Praticien Hospitalier,	(Rapporteur)
Université de Lille, France	
Dr. Huu Kim An Nguyen, Maître de Conférences - Praticien Hospitalier	(Examinatrice)
Université Claude Bernard Lyon1, France	
Dr. Perrine Janiaud, Chercheuse en Recherche Clinique, Hôpital	(Examinatrice)
Universitaire de Bâle, Suisse	
Dr. Catherine Cornu, Praticien Hospitalier, Hospices Civils de Lyon, France	(Directrice de thèse)

# **UNIVERSITE CLAUDE BERNARD - LYON 1**

Président de l'Université

Président du Conseil Académique

Vice-président du Conseil d'Administration

Vice-président du Conseil Formation et Vie Universitaire

Vice-président de la Commission Recherche

Directeur Général des Services

## M. le Professeur Frédéric FLEURY

M. le Professeur Hamda BEN HADID M. le Professeur Didier REVEL

M. le Professeur Philippe CHEVALIER

Directeur : M. le Professeur J. ETIENNE

M. Fabrice VALLÉE

M. Alain HELLEU

## **COMPOSANTES SANTE**

Faculté de Médecine Lyon Est – Claude Bernard Faculté de Médecine et de Maïeutique Lyon Sud – Charles Mérieux

Faculté d'Odontologie Institut des Sciences Pharmaceutiques et Biologiques

Institut des Sciences i harmaceutiques et Biologiques Institut des Sciences et Techniques de la Réadaptation Département de formation et Centre de Recherche en Biologie Humaine

COMPOSANTES ET DEPARTEMENTS DE SCIENCES ET TECHNOLOGIE

Faculté des Sciences et Technologies Département Biologie Département Chimie Biochimie Département GEP Département Informatique Département Mathématiques Département Mécanique Département Physique UFR Sciences et Techniques des Activités Physiques et Sportives Observatoire des Sciences de l'Univers de Lyon Polytech Lyon Ecole Supérieure de Chimie Physique Electronique Institut Universitaire de Technologie de Lyon 1 Ecole Supérieure du Professorat et de l'Education Institut de Science Financière et d'Assurances

Directeur : M. le Professeur D. BOURGEOIS Directeur : Mme la Professeure C. VINCIGUERRA Directeur : M. le Professeur Y. MATILLON Directeur : Mme la Professeure A-M. SCHOTT

Directeur : Mme la Professeure C. BURILLON

Directeur : M. F. DE MARCHI Directeur : M. le Professeur F. THEVENARD Directeur : Mme C. FELIX Directeur : M. Hassan HAMMOURI Directeur : M. le Professeur S. **AKKOUCHE** Directeur : M. le Professeur G. TOMANOV Directeur : M. le Professeur H. BEN HADID Directeur : M. le Professeur J-C PLENET Directeur : M. Y.VANPOULLE Directeur : M. B. GUIDERDONI Directeur : M. le Professeur E.PERRIN Directeur : M. G. PIGNAULT Directeur : M. le Professeur C. VITON Directeur : M. le Professeur A. **MOUGNIOTTE** Directeur : M. N. LEBOISNE

# Remerciements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all people who have inspired, supported and encouraged me during these years and made this thesis a reality. Especially I would like to thank:

## The honourable members of the Jury,

Prof. *Chazard* and Prof. *Matthieu*, thank you for accepting being the reporters of my thesis and for doing all the work implicated with it.

Prof. *Janiaud*, thank you for being part of my examining committee and agreeing to evaluate my work.

## To my thesis directors,

Dr. *Cornu*, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to your scientific and professional guidance and advices have indeed helped my progress. Thank you for taking a chance on me; letting me be your first PhD student, for your patience, enthusiasm for teaching, reassuring words, and encouragement.

Prof. *Kassai*, a million thank you does not seem to be enough. Thank you for believing in me and giving me the opportunity to be where I am. Thank you for sharing your vast experience on methodology and research in general. Thank you for your advices and neverending support.

Dr. *Nguyen,* thank you for always meeting my never-ending questions, for the invaluable support, valuable opinions, guidance in the field of pediatrics. This thesis would not have been possible without your support.

#### The members of the team EMET

Prof. *Gueyffier* and Prof. *Lega*, I am proud to be part of your Laboratory. Thank you for providing us a friendly and a good working atmosphere.

*Gaelle, Berthe and Mohammed,* thank you for your support in English writing and editing of this thesis.

All the co-authors, thank you for the valuable collaboration and advices.

## The program PAUSE team,

Thank you for your financial support to this thesis as well as for the valuable accompaniment to the Scientists in Exile. Because of you, I was able to continue my academic journey in this country.

## My friends,

*Roubi*, thank you for your unconditional support. Having you by my side made the last 4 years full of valuable and unforgettable moments. I have really enjoyed working, lunching, discussing research and life with you. I am thankful for all that we share.

My friends (*Rasha, Areeg, Hiba, Rana*) thank you for being in my life, hearing me out and giving me the support that I needed.

*Marianne, Bruno, Catherine and George,* thank you for supporting us in the most difficult times. You are such a family for me.

To all my old friends from Syria, you will always have a place in my heart.

#### My family,

*Moayad*, thank you for your unconditional love and support, for making my life so joyful and being so understanding during all the time behind papers and the computer. Without you I would not have come this far.

*Assyla*, my little angel, you gave me the energy, the peace and the motivation to accomplish this work. Thank you for filling my life with other things than research and work and for bringing happiness into my life. You made of this world a place worth living in.

My sisters, *Shahed and Sedra*, my brother *Muhamed*, thank you for the unconditional love and support. Borders cannot separate us. You are always in my heart.

*Rand,* my sister and my friend, words cannot describe the gratitude I feel for having you in my life. You complete me. You were always there to remind us what actually matters in life.

My parents, *Azam and Amal*, thank you for encouraging me to do what I want to do in life and for respecting my choices. The genes, environment and education that you have shared with me have helped me become who I am today.

To the memory of my grandfather Abdullah Shehadeh, I dedicate this work to you.

## **Table of Contents**

Remerciements	2
Abstract	7
Résumé en français	9
Abbreviations	
List of publications	13
List of scientific communications	13
List of Tables	14
List of Figures	15
Chapter A: General Introduction	16
1. Fundamental challenges of paediatric drug development	16
2. The current situation in paediatric practice	22
3. Consequences on child safety	
4. Key strategies to promote drug safety in children	
Bibliography	
Aim of Thesis	55
Chapter B: My articles	56
(Article I) Trigger tools to identify adverse drug eventsin hospitalised chil	dren: A
systematic review	
(Article II) Replacing liquid with solid dosage forms in pediatric practice	e: Feasibility
and economic impact from a hospital-based study	
(Article III) Efficacy and safety outcomes of dosage regimens of amikaci	n in neonates:
a systematic review	
Chapter C: General discussion and Conclusion	130 141

Appendices of the article (I)	
Appendices of the article (II)	
Appendices related to the article (III)	
Appendices related to the discussion	

## Abstract

The lack of adequate clinical trials in paediatrics has generated many issues in medicine use for hospitalised children, such as the prescription of off-label or unlicensed drugs, the lack of suitable dosage forms, inadequate safety information, and the lack of evidence-based dosing information. This challenges the prescription and administration of medicines in paediatric settings and impacts drug safety in this population. For these reasons, monitoring drug safety is particularly important in the paediatric population. Despite that, adverse drug reactions (ADRs) in hospitalised children are underestimated and underreported, suggesting the need for improving the existing detection methods.

The aim of this thesis is to promote the safe use of medicines in hospitalised children through three independent objectives. The first objective is to identify all available trigger tools, as a promising detection method of ADR in paediatric inpatients, and describe the performances of paediatric triggers in the purpose of optimising their use in paediatric settings. The second objective is to identify possible practical circumstances allowing dosage form choices to be optimized regarding safety, by replacing liquid formulations with suitable solid dosage forms in hospitalised children, and to assess the economic impact of these potential changes. The third objective is to review the available literature data on the efficacy and safety of amikacin using different dosage regimes in neonates and to attempt to identify the most appropriate dosage regimen for use.

Two systematic reviews and one analysis study of a hospital database were conducted. A total of 179 paediatric triggers detecting adverse drug events (ADEs) were identified in a systematic review study. Triggers' performances were assessed by their positive predictive values (PPVs)

most of the time in the studies. These values varied significantly between studies, suggesting a need for more studies on paediatric triggers. The use of triggers could be optimised by selecting the most pertinent triggers and by creating an electronic real-time detection system. The triggers could be used for three clinical interests (to prevent, detect and report ADRs) when integrated in such a system. In a second study based on an analysis of 3-year data regarding oral drug administrations, 10 drugs, involving 19,671 administrations of liquid formulations, were selected to potentially replace liquid with suitable solid dosage forms in paediatric practice. We proved that there are opportunities to optimise current dosage form choices for hospitalised children by using available dosage forms. In a second systematic review, clinical and pharmacokinetic outcomes regarding efficacy and safety of 37 different dosage regimens of amikacin in neonates based on the reported data is continuing.

The results of this thesis can be used by health-care professionals and health policy makers interested in promoting a safer and more appropriate use of medicines in hospitalised children.

*Keywords*: Paediatric, hospitalised children, pharmacovigilance, adverse drug reaction, trigger tool, detection, drug formulation, dosage form, drug safety, substitution to solid dosage form, amikacin, neonates, drug monitoring, optimal dosage regimen, pharmacokinetics.

## Résumé en français

#### Titre : Sécurisation de l'usage des médicaments chez les enfants hospitalisés

**Résumé** : Le nombre insuffisant d'essais cliniques en pédiatrie engendre plusieurs problèmes lors de l'utilisation des médicaments chez les enfants hospitalisés, tels que le recours aux prescriptions de médicaments hors Autorisation de Mise sur le Marché (AMM), le manque de formes galéniques adaptées à l'enfant, des informations insuffisantes en matière de sécurité des médicaments et le manque de posologies basées sur de hauts niveaux de preuves. Ceci remet en question la prescription et l'administration de médicaments en pédiatrie et influence la sécurité des médicaments dans cette population particulière. Dans ce contexte, la surveillance de la sécurité des médicaments est particulièrement importante chez les enfants. Malgré cela, les événments indésirables médicamenteux (EIM) chez les enfants hospitalisés sont sousestimés et sous-déclarés, suggérant un besoin d'améliorer les méthodes de détection actuelles.

L'objectif de cette thèse est de promouvoir la sécurisation de l'usage des médicaments chez les enfants hospitalisés à travers trois sous-objectifs indépendants. Le premier est d'identifier tous les « triggers » disponibles, en tant que méthode prometteuse de détection des EIMs chez les enfants hospitalisés, et de décrire les performances des « triggers » utilisables en pédiatrie dans le but d'optimiser leur utilisation en milieu hospitalier pédiatrique. Le deuxième est d'identifier les circonstances pratiques possibles permettant d'optimiser les choix de formes galéniques, en remplaçant les formulations liquides par des formes solides adaptées, chez les enfants hospitalisés et d'évaluer l'impact économique de ses changements potentiels. Le troisième est d'examiner les données disponibles dans la littérature sur l'efficacité et la sécurité des posologies d'amikacine chez les nouveau-nés et tenter d'identifier la posologie la plus appropriée à utiliser.

Deux revues systématiques de la littérature et une étude d'analyse d'une base de données hospitalière ont été menées. Un total de 179 « triggers » utilisables en pédiatrie pour détecter des EIM a été identifié par une revue systématique de la littérature. Les performances des « triggers » ont été estimées par leurs valeurs prédictives positives la plupart du temps dans les études. Ces valeurs variaient considérablement d'une étude à l'autre, suggérant la nécessité de mener plus d'études sur les « triggers » en pédiatrie. L'utilisation des « triggers » pourrait être optimisée en sélectionnant les «triggers » les plus pertinents et en créant un système électronique de détection en temps réel. L'utilisation des «triggers » dans un tel système pourraient servir à trois objectifs cliniques (la prévention, la détection et le signalement des EIM). Dans une deuxième étude basée sur une analyse des données d'administrations des médicaments oraux recueillies sur 3 ans, dix médicaments, impliquant 19 671 administrations de formulations liquides, ont été sélectionnés dans le but de pouvoir remplacer ces formes liquides par des formes solides appropriés dans la pratique hospitalière pédiatrique. Dans cette étude, nous avons prouvé qu'il existe des opportunités pour optimiser les choix actuels des formes galéniques chez les enfants hospitalisés, en utilisant des formes galéniques disponibles sur le marché. Dans une deuxième revue systématique de la littérature, les résultats cliniques et pharmacocinétiques concernant l'efficacité et la sécurité de 37 posologies d'amikacine pour les nouveau-nés ont été rapportés. Le travail consistant à sélectionner la posologie d'amikacine la plus appropriée chez les nouveau-nés en se basant sur les données rapportées se poursuit.

Les résultats de cette thèse peuvent être utilisés par les professionnels de santé et les décideurs politiques dans le domaine de la santé intéressés par la sécurisation de l'usage des médicaments chez les enfants hospitalisés.

*Mots clés* : Pédiatrie, enfants hospitalisés, pharmacovigilance, événments indésirables médicamenteux, détection, formulation du médicament, forme galénique, sécurité du médicament, substitution à la forme solide, amikacine, nouveau-nés, posologie optimale, pharmacocinétique.

# Abbreviations

ADE	Adverse Drug Event
ADR	Adverse Drug Reaction
AE	Adverse Event
Cpeak	Peak concentration
Ctrough	Trough concentration
DRP	Drug-Related Problem
ED	Emergency Department
EHR	Electronic Health Record
EIM	Effet Indésirable Médicamenteux
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EMS	Electronic Medication Systems
EREMI	Assessment of the risk of dverse Drug Reactions (Evaluation Du Risque d'Evénements
	Indésirables Médicamenteux)
FAERS	FDA Adverse Event Reporting System
FN	False Negative
FP	False Positive
GA	Gestational Age
GTT	Global Trigger Tool
HCPs	Health-Care Professionals
HIS	Hospital Information System
IHI	Institute for Healthcare Improvement
IM	Intramuscular
IV	Intravenous
ME	Medication Error
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
NAG	N-Acetylglucosaminidase
NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
NPV	Negative Predictive Value
ORL	Otolaryngology
PCA	Post-Conceptional Age
PICU	Paediatric Intensive Care Unit
PMA	Post-Menstrual Age
PNA	Postnatal Age
PPV	Positive Predictive Value
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
RCT	Randomised Clinical Trial
SmPC	Summary of Product Characteristics
TN	True Negative
ТР	True Positive
UK	United Kingdom
WHO	World Health Organization

# List of publications

- Arab R, Cornu C, Kilo R, Portefaix A, Fretes-Bonett B, Hergibo F, et al. Trigger tools to identify adverse drug events in hospitalised children: a systematic review. Therapies [Internet]. 2022 Jan 31; Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040595722000269</u>
- Arab R, Kassai B, Kilo R, Cornu C, Gomes E, Dagonneau T. Replacing liquid with solid dosage forms in pediatric practice: Feasibility and economic impact from a hospital-based study. Therapies [Internet]. 2021 décembre ; Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040595721002651
- 3. Kilo R, Laporte S, Arab R, Mainbourg S, Provencher S, Grenet G, et al. Metaregression of randomized control trials with antithrombotics: weak correlation between net clinical benefit and all cause-mortality. Sci Rep. 2021 Jul 19;11(1):14728.

List of scientific co	mmunications
-----------------------	--------------

Title	Congress	Type of the communication	Year
Trigger tools to identify adverse drug events in hospitalised children: a systematic review	Congrès Société Française de Pharmacologie et de Thérapeutique (2021)	Interactive poster	2021
Thirty five percent of oral liquid administrations are substitutable with suitable solid forms among 10 highly substitutable drugs	Congrès Société Française de Pharmacologie et de Thérapeutique (2021)	Interactive poster	2021
Trigger tools to identify adverse drug events in hospitalised children: a systematic review	8th Congress of the European Academy of Paediatric Societies (EAPS 2020)	Oral presentation	2020

# List of Tables

## Tables of the general introduction

Table 1: Comparison between the four detection methods according to the	43
results of the systematic review conducted by Meyer-Massetti et al.	

## Tables of the article I

Table 1: Summary of the studies included in the systematic review	72
Table 2: Risk of bias summary of the included studies according to the QUADAS-2*	73
tool	

## Tables of the article II

Table 1: The 10 drugs in liquid dosage forms most frequently administered to	96
children eligible for substitution withauthorized suitable alternative solid dosage	
forms	

## Tables of the article III

Table 1: Design and target population of each of the identified studies.	112
Table 2: Dosage regimens and main findings of the included studies	117

# **List of Figures**

## Figures of the general introduction

Figure 1: List of the most common challenges that can be encountered during the conduct of 21 a paediatric clinical trial proposed by Chiaruttini et al.

Figure 2: Summary of advantages and disadvantages of existing liquid and solid oral dosage 28 forms for child use (established by Lajoinie et al.)

Figure 3: Venn diagram showing the relationship between adverse events, adverse drug34reactions and medication errors

Figure 4: Timeline of pharmacovigilance for a drug from development (pre-market) to post- 38 marketing use

## Figures of the article I

Figure 1: Flow diagram for selection of articles	71
Figure 2: Warning triggers of available PPV, and $PPV > 0$	74
Figure 3: Validation triggers of available PPV, and $PPV > 0$	75
Figure 4: Reporting Triggers of available PPV, and $PPV > 0$	76
Figure 5: Bleeding-related triggers of available PPV, and $PPV > 0$	77

## Figures of the article II

Figure 1: A. The general stages of data processing. B. Stages of data processing in the94substitution assessment and the economic impactassessment for every identified drug.95Figure 2: Flow chart of data analysis.95

## Figures of the article III

Figure 1: Flow diagram for selection of articles	111
Figure 2: Proposition of a selection method	123

# **Chapter A: General Introduction**

## 1. Fundamental challenges of paediatric drug development

## 1.1. Physiological differences between paediatric and adult populations

There is a large spectrum of physiological differences between the paediatric and adult populations. There are also differences in the paediatric population between paediatric age groups from newborns to adolescents. The paediatric population is therefore divided into five main age categories by the European Medicines Agency; preterm newborns (from day of birth through the expected date of delivery plus 27 days), term newborns /neonates (1 to 27 days of age), infants (28 days to 23 months of age) children (2 to 11 years of age) and adolescents (12 to 16-18 years of age\*) (1–3). Contrary to adults, the compositions and the functions of children's bodies and organs are continuously changing during growth. These changes generate drug responses different from those in adults or in children in other age groups. Thus, drugs have different pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties in children, which could lead to different clinical results. Neonates are the paediatric age group most concerned with these differences (4–6).

**1.1.1. Impact of the physiological differences on the pharmacokinetic properties** All pharmacokinetic properties of the drugs (i.e., absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) could be impacted by the physiological particularities of children.

The absorption of orally administered drugs could differ in children because of the changing concentrations of gastric PH through the first 3 years of life (7), the slow gastric emptying within the first 6 months in preterm infants (8,9), the prolonged intestinal transit time in neonates or the reduced one in older infants (10). The bioavailability of intramuscularly

administered drugs could also change in neonates by the decreased blood flow to muscles, which varies quite considerably over the first 2-3 weeks of life, the less muscular mass and the higher proportion of body water. In newborns, this route of administration is therefore unreliable, and the pharmacokinetics are unpredictable (11,12).

The proportions of body fat, plasma proteins, total and extracellular body water change significantly and continuously during the first year of life, which affect the distribution of drugs. The percentage of the total body water reaches 80-90% of body weight in newborns. It decreases to 55-60% by adulthood (13). The extracellular water content is about 45% in neonates compared with 20% in adulthood. Consequently, the volume of distribution in the paediatric population is relatively higher for water-soluble drugs such as gentamicin (10) and lower for fat-soluble drugs such as diazepam (14).

Additionally, the concentration of binding proteins is lower in neonates and infants than adults, as well as their binding capacities. This results in a greater free fraction of the drug in the blood, which increases the drug activity (15,16). Furthermore, neonates often present increased plasma concentrations of bilirubin and free fatty acid, which reduce the drug binding even more (13). The liver is the most important organ for drug metabolism. In children, liver blood flow and many drug-metabolizing enzymes are reduced. The former reaches adult rates by around one year of age (17). This may result in higher or lower drug plasma levels than those reached in adults and in other paediatric age groups (18). For example, CYP1A2 is an isoenzyme involved in metabolizing many drugs such as caffeine and theophylline. This enzyme is hardly detectable in neonates. It becomes more detectable in infants aged one to three months. Its presence in infants <1 year old is at about 30% of that in adults , at 81% in two year olds and comparable to adult values in children of three years or more (10). The varying levels of CYP1A2 with age

explain the changing values of the half-life of caffeine at different ages (95 hours in neonates, 7 hours in infants, 3 hours in children and 4 in adults) (19).

The decreased renal blood flow in children under two years old and the immaturity of glomerular filtration and renal tubular secretion during the neonatal period restrict the renal excretion of drugs in these age groups. It has been shown that in late infancy and/or childhood, for many drugs such as for cimetidine and levetiracetam, children have a similar or higher rate of clearance from plasma than adults. This often makes administration of a higher dose necessary in this population (20–22).

**1.1.2.** Impact of the physiological differences on the pharmacodynamic properties The effect of drugs in paediatric populations including drug action and toxicity could be different from that in adult populations for reasons not related to pharmacokinetic changes. Many changes on drug targets (e.g., receptors, transporters, and channels) occur during the developmental process in children and generate different clinical responses. For example, changes in the receptors of prostanoids, angiotensin II and catecholamines were observed in children (23,24).

Some frequent adverse drug reactions (ADRs) in children were found related to these changes. For example, the respiratory depression and bradycardia related to the administration of opioids are more frequent in newborns despite their insufficient analgesic effect. This is explained by the fact that the opioid receptors in the medulla and pons, where respiratory and cardiovascular centres are located, are developed earlier than those in other parts of the brain (25). Other examples are the acute dystonic reactions or seizures, which are reported more frequently in young children after the administration of the dopamine 2-antagonists metoclopramide or prochlorperazine. This higher level of drug reactions is explained by the developmental changes that occur in dopamine receptors in this age group (24). Moreover, the therapeutic effect of other drugs could still be achieved in children with decreased concentrations, which is the case of ciclosporin. A greater immunosuppressive response to ciclosporin is reported in infants than in older children and adults (26).

#### 1.2. Challenges in conducting paediatric clinical trials

Randomized clinical trials (RCT) are considered as the gold standard trials for evaluating efficacy and safety of drugs (27). They provide data of the highest degree of evidence, needed in paediatric population. However, conducting such trials has many ethical, scientific and financial issues in the aforementioned population (28,29) (Figure 3). This is reflected by the low number of RCTs conducted in children compared to adults. A study shows that only 12% of clinical trials for the conditions representing high burden paediatric diseases were conducted in paediatric populations (30).

The field of clinical trials in children suffers from a lack of adequate funding. Many pharmaceutical industries do not find enough commercial interest in these trials because of the high costs of studies and the small market size. In addition, paediatric trials are subject to a stringent regulatory scrutiny (31). It was found that the pharmaceutical industry funds only 41% of clinical trials conducted in children, whereas it funds 65% the clinical trials in adults (30). As a consequence, the limited funds of non-profit organizations are frequently used to sponsor paediatric trials (30).

Patient recruitment is the first practical difficulty in conducting a paediatric clinical trial because of the small patient population. Nonetheless, finding the adequate number of paediatric participants is important to provide statistical power for the study. This difficulty becomes major when stratification by age groups is required. This refers to the necessity of allocating a

specific number of patients of each age group. Stratification is used to reduce imbalance between randomized groups when it is known that age factors influence the outcome (32). Recruiting paediatric patients is the hardest in rare diseases when very little number of participants are available (33).

Obtaining proper informed consents from children is an important and critical ethical element. Until now, obtaining a child's consent is not required. Parents or legal guardians are asked to make the decision in their place (32). However, some recommendations encourage involving children as much as possible in the decision-making process, and collecting written assents at school ages (34). Furthermore, paediatric expertise capable of recognizing the individuality and unpredictability of children's responses is needed in these clinical trials. This expertise is also crucial for assessing the research protocols and monitoring safety (35). In the paediatric population, long-term follow-up is needed because of the numerous adverse effects that can manifest later in life (36,37).

The other main challenges in designing and conducting a paediatric trial are the lack of validated quantitative and quantitative tools for outcome evaluation to use in children and the limited volume of biological specimens allowed (29).

Figure 3: List of the most common challenges that can be encountered during the conduct of a paediatric clinical trial proposed by Chiaruttini et al. (29)



### 2. The current situation in paediatric practice

The lack of clinical trials in children reflects on the paediatric daily practice. It takes form in the seeking of off-label and unlicensed medicines, the lack of appropriate paediatric drug formulations, the poor prescribing information that leads to the increased risk of medication errors (MEs) and unanticipated ADRs (38).

#### 2.1. Off-label and unlicensed medicine use

"Children are therapeutic orphans", with these words Dr. Harry Shirkey, in 1963, described the fact that most of essential medicines are not adequately tested and labelled for paediatric use (39).

The role of the licensing process of a drug is to ensure that the drug has been demonstrated to be well tolerated, effective, and of good quality. With unlicensed or off-label medicines, we do not have this assurance as well as the necessary information for its use (38).

The use of a drug is considered "off-label" when it is outside the Summary of Product Characteristic (SmPC) conditions (the package insert recommendations), as its use (40):

- 1. In contraindication cases,
- 2. For a different age,
- 3. Through a different route of administration,
- 4. In different dose,
- 5. With a different frequency of administrations.

The drug is "unlicensed" when:

1. It has no marketing authorisation in the paediatric population.

- 2. The dosage form of the medicine is modified before use.
- 3. It is an extemporaneous preparation.

In absence of labelled medicines, the children's therapeutic needs are covered by medicines labelled for adult-use or for other paediatric population use. For decades, the use of unlicensed or off-label medicines has been common practice in children This practice has been adopted all around the world whether children were hospitalised or treated at home.

According to a systematic review of studies published between 2007 and 2017, the rate of offlabel prescriptions ranged between 3.2% and 95% in paediatric studies (40). The probability of receiving an off-label prescription is reduced with increased age. It is reduced by 3% for every year in age increase, starting at 51.6% probability for less than one-year olds and 29.3% probability for 20-year olds. This probability is even higher when children are hospitalised. In general, inpatient children are 2.9 times more likely to receive an off-label medicine than outpatients (41).

The prescriptions for an unapproved age range or an unapproved indication were generally the main reasons of off-label classification in children, followed by the use of an unapproved dose or and the use of unapproved dosage forms (42).

# 2.1.1. Prevalence of off-label and unlicensed medicines use in hospitalised children

A systematic review including 34 studies, published in 2015, showed that 0.2 to 47.9% of prescriptions for the hospitalised children were for unlicensed medicines and 12.2 to 70.6% were for off-label drugs. The percentage of children who received at least one off-label and/or unlicensed drug ranged from 42 to 100%. Newborns have the highest chance to receive off-

label and/or unlicensed drugs. The formulation modification was the main purpose of unlicensed prescriptions (3.6-100%) and the dose modification was the main purpose of off-label prescriptions (7.1-73.1%) (43).

A hospital database analysis showed that 78.7% of patients received off-label drugs and 40.5% of medicine cost in the hospital is spent on these medications. The most used off-label drugs in children were central or autonomic nervous system agents, fluids, nutrients, or gastrointestinal tract agents whereas off-label use of antineoplastic drugs was uncommon (44).

#### 2.1.2. Prevalence of off- label and unlicensed medicines use in newborns

Higher rates of off-label and unlicensed drug use in neonates compared to any other population were reported in several studies; A prospective cohort study showed that 96.4% of neonates in neonatal intensive care units (NICUs) were exposed to off-label drugs and 66.8% of them to unlicensed medicines. It indicated that about one-half (49.3%) of medicines were off-label and 24.6% were unlicensed. The main reasons for the off-label and unlicensed classification in neonates were the frequency of administration and the administration of adaptations of pharmaceutical forms (45).

According to a recent national survey comprising 214 perinatal centres in Germany, an approved alternative medication was available for one out of three of the off-label and unlicensed medicines used in neonates. Interestingly, the costs of alternative approved medicines increased in median 405-fold compared with the corresponding off-label/ unlicensed medicines (46).

Studies showed that off-label drug use is associated with an increased frequency of adverse drug events (ADEs). A prospective study involving six paediatric and neonatal centres including 5060 patients showed that a higher risk of an ADE was expected when children

received off-label drug treatment [7.3% vs. 1.2%; P < 0.01] (47). This correlation was confirmed by another prospective study (48).

A systematic review found that between 23 and 60% of unlicensed and/or off-label prescriptions were involved in an ADR (49).

#### 2.2. Lack of child-friendly dosage forms

In paediatrics, the choice of a dosage form is an important issue. It impacts the acceptability, compliance, and effectiveness of drug treatment (50).

A main result of the historical underinvestment in paediatric pharmaceutical research by the pharmaceutical industry was the lack of dosage forms designed specifically for children (51). The optimal dosage form for children (child-friendly dosage form) must be safe (e.g., without toxic excipients), well tolerated, easy to use (i.e., palatable and requiring few manipulations), acceptable by children, transportable, easily produced and cost-effective. It must also respect the child's lifestyle, avoid MEs and deliver variable and accurate doses (52–55). Many of the existing dosage forms used in children are originally designed to be used in adults (conventional dosage forms) and none of them meets all these criteria for all pediatric age groups. For example, oral liquid formulations are easy to swallow by children but may contain inappropriate excipients. They are also harder to administer (i.e., require complicated calculations and measurements) (Figure 4).

An Australian study showed that dosage forms of 21.9% to 25% of medicines licensed for paediatric use were not appropriate (56).

The main concerns associated with the use of adult drugs in children are the increased risk of MEs, the excipient safety and the low medicine acceptability by children (57–60).

• Increased risk of dosing errors

Conventional dosage forms often need to be manipulated to meet the smaller required dose in children. Liquid formulations require complex calculations and dilutions to reach the appropriate formulation and dose for children (56,61). Manipulations of some solid dosage forms are also common to obtain an appropriate dose/form for children such as splitting or crushing tablets and opening capsules (62,63).

Such practices are associated with a high risk of dosing errors and could lead to inaccurate doses and unknown drug stability (57). Dosing-related problems were found the most frequent reason of the occurrence of drug-related problems in children (64).

• Safety of excipients

Excipients are commonly utilised to improve the palatability, shelf life, and/or manufacturing processes of medicines. Children's responses to excipients differ from adults' and vary by paediatric age group. Certain excipients are not safe for children because they can slow organ development (e.g., ethanol, propylene glycol, benzyl alcohol and parabens) (58).

• Low acceptability

The acceptability of a medicine is defined by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) as "the overall ability and willingness of the patient to use and its care giver to administer the medicine as intended" (65). The notion of acceptability is particularly important in designing and prescribing medicines in children. When a medicine is not accepted by a child, it has low chance to be taken correctly, which impacts its safety and efficacy. Acceptability is a multifaceted concept that depends on therapeutic product characteristics such as the route of administration,

appearance, swallowability, palatability and the required dose and frequency as well as patient factors such as age and pathological state (54,65).

The acceptability of existing oral dosage forms varies among children; low acceptability of existing dosage forms is reported for children under 6 years old. The age of the patient, the size of tablets/capsules and the taste of liquids appears to play the main role in determining the dosage form acceptability (59,60). For that, many studies were conducted to define acceptability the existing adult-designed dosage forms by children (59,66,67).

Figure 4: Summary of advantages and disadvantages of existing liquid and solid oral dosage forms for child use (established by Lajoinie et al.(69))



## 2.3. Inadequate evidence-based dosing information

The use of off-label or unapproved medicines in children is associated with a lack of prescribing information based on a high level of evidence (44). A study shows that the monographs of 72% of the drugs approved between 2007 and 2016 in Canada did not contain any paediatric-specific information and indication (68). A recent survey on paediatric information have found that the SmPCs of 42.4% of the medicines currently available in Germany contained contraindications or warnings for at least one paediatric age group medicinal products (69).

The inadequacy of prescribing information reaches 80% of medicines in neonates according to an Australian study (56).

The lack of high-quality information about medicines in children leads to absence of evidencebased dosing guidelines and to high variabilities in drug use conditions in practice, in addition to discrepancies between existing dosing recommendations (70). For example, large variation in dexamethasone paediatric dosing practices were found between hospitals, according to a recent study (71)

With these discrepancies in dosing recommendations, practitioners are unable to identify the most appropriate using conditions of these medicines and they rely on one available recommendation such as an expert opinion for the age group they are treating, or even on evidence from a different population to guide practice.

A systematic review published in 2022, comprising 18 studies, demonstrated that the inappropriate selection of drug dosage is the main cause of drug-related problems in paediatric patients (64).

This problem is more present in paediatric settings, such as NICUs, where the off-label prescribing practice is more frequent, . A survey comprising 199 NICUs located in 25 European countries reported a great variability in using ciprofloxacin and fluconazole for the treatment of sepsis within and between countries. The detected differences concerned dosage regimens including daily doses, frequency of administrations, unit dose, route of administration and treatment duration. In many NICUs (27%), even a local standard written protocol of a drug use was not established (72). Antibiotics are also largely concerned by this problematic (73,74). A considerable variability of dosage regimens of antibiotics was identified by a French survey conducted in 2015 in 44 French NICUs. The survey identified 444 different dosage regimens for 41 antibiotics. The number of different dosage regimens varied from 1 to 32 per drug. Twelve antibiotics had the highest variability in their used dosage regimens (amikacin, gentamicin, netilmicin, tobramycin, vancomycin administered as continuous infusion,

ceftazidime, cloxacillin, oxacillin, penicillin G, imipenem/cilastatin, clindamycin and metronidazole) (75). Similar results regarding antibiotics were met by many other studies (74,76–78) suggesting the need to optimize the evaluation of drugs in neonates (5).

### 3. Consequences on child safety

## 3.1. Drug related problems (DRPs) in children

#### 3.1.1. Definitions of different untoward events

There is a large variety of names in medical publications for the untoward symptoms that follow the use of drugs or the medical interventions. With the same detection methods, some studies could focus on detecting ADEs while others focused on adverse events (AEs) or MEs. In addition, different definitions could be found for each term. Therefore, it would be appropriate to mention the different terms used to describe events associated with drugs and medical care interventions, and provide the different definitions for each one of them. Figure 3 represents the relationship between AE, ADE ADR, and ME.

#### **Drug-related problem**

The term of drug-related problem was adopted from van Mil et al. to encompass all medicationrelated events (i.e., ADEs, ADRs, AEs, processes (causes), and outcomes (effects)), and is not limited to events causing harm (79)

#### Adverse event

The Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) defines AE as an "unintended physical injury resulting from or contributed to by medical care that requires additional monitoring, treatment or hospitalization, or that results in death" (80). This definition is widely admitted since it implicates events induced by drugs or other medical interventions, and it specifies a minimum

level of harm to be detected. Aronson et al. proposed to define AE as follows "any abnormal sign, symptom, laboratory test, syndromic combination of such abnormalities, untoward or unplanned occurrence (e.g. an accident or unplanned pregnancy), or any unexpected deterioration in a concurrent illness" (81). For Michel et al. it is an "unintended injury caused by medical management rather than by a disease process" (82). In the three definitions, any type of medical care intervention could be the cause of the event. According to Aronson et al., a medical intervention is not even needed as the event should just occur during an illness but not be caused by it.

## Adverse drug event

The Institute of Medicine defines ADE as "an injury resulting from medical intervention related to a drug". This definition encompasses harms that arise from MEs as well as conventional ADRs (81)(83). Nydert et al. adopted this definition considering that it also includes any suspicion of a relation to drug therapy (both preventable and non-preventable). For example, infections, vascular harm or pressure ulcers related to devices used for intravenous delivery or to devices used for enteral feeding (84).

The term ADE is the most confusing term because it is usually used to describe a suspected ADR during which the causality link between the drug and the event is not confirmed or assessed. When this causality is assessed and the event is attributed to the drug, the ADE becomes an ADR and when it is not, it becomes an AE caused by a procedure of care. Using the term ADE always implies that the drug has been directly or indirectly implicated (81) but contrary to an ADR, a confirmed causality link is not required.

The Institute of Medicine also provided another wider definition of ADEs, which integrates the part that the disease of the patient plays in the outcomes: an ADE is "an injury due to medication management rather than the underlying condition of the patient".

A more complete definition of ADE was presented by the Committee of Experts on Management of Safety and Quality in Health Care as "any injury occurring during the patient's drug therapy and resulting either from appropriate care, or from unsuitable or suboptimal care". The committee also explained that an ADE can result in different outcomes, notably in the worsening of an existing pathology, in the lack of any expected health status improvement, in the outbreak of a new pathology or a one could have been prevented, in the change of an organic function, or in a noxious response due to the medicine taken (85)

## Adverse drug reaction

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines ADR as "a response to a drug that is noxious and unintended and occurs at doses normally used in man for the prophylaxis, diagnosis or therapy of disease, or for modification of physiological function". Laurence defines it as "a harmful or significantly unpleasant effect caused by a drug at doses intended for therapeutic effect (or prophylaxis or diagnosis), which warrants reduction of dose or withdrawal of the drug and/or foretells hazard from future administration."(86). By using the words "response" and "caused by", both definitions require a causal link between the event and the drug to be an ADR. This causality link is what distinguishes an ADR from an ADE. It is usually complicated to confirm or decline this causality link, and when an event is attributed to a medicinal product, the attribution should also be accompanied by a statement of the degree of probability of the attribution. Therefore, all ADRs are ADEs, but not all ADEs s are ADRs. This distinction is important in clinical trials, in which not all events are necessarily drug induced. In order to avoid this complexity, the term ADE is more often used.

The seriousness of the harm should always be considered when identifying an ADR. Aronson and Ferner consider that the WHO definition has some defects because it excludes all doses that are not used in the way described by the definition and all adverse reactions that may be inconvenient but not harmful (81). Laurence also requires a minimum level of harm by excluding minor unwanted reactions.

In case of death, life-threatening event, hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation, disability or incapacity or a congenital anomaly or birth defect, the ADR becomes a serious ADR. (86)

## **Medication error**

The definition of ME, which was proposed by Ferner et al. in 2006, and has been widely accepted is "a failure in the treatment process that leads to, or has the potential to lead to, harm to the patient" (87)

ME includes all types of errors that could occur from the prescription to post administration:

- 1. Prescribing errors
- 2. Transcription errors
- 3. Dispensing errors
- 4. Administration errors

Figure 3 : Venn diagram showing the relationship between adverse events, adverse drug reactions and medication errors (90)

1- Adverse events that are not reactions to the medicines			
2- ADRs (not from e		rrors)	
4- Medication errot that are not ADRs	3- ADRs (from medication errors)		
5- Medication errors that that do not cause adverse events		<ul> <li>1+2+3+4 = all adverse events in people taking medicines</li> <li>3+4+5 = all medication errors</li> <li>2+3 = all adverse drug reactions</li> <li>2+3+4 = Adverse drug events as defined by Bates et al.</li> </ul>	
#### **3.1.2.** Prevalence of AEs in hospitalised children

# 3.1.2.1. Prevalence of ADRs/ADEs

A systematic review published in 2021 including 18 studies indicated that paediatric patients are easily affected by ADRs even though the majority of ADRs were preventable, and their severity is mostly considered minor and moderate (64).

A recent systematic review included 26 studies, based in the UK, reported a median prevalence equal to <u>25.6% of patients (IQR 21.8–29.9)</u> experiencing ADRs during hospitalisation; 79.2% of the reactions warranted withdrawal of medication (88).

Another systematic review of studies regarding ADRs in children, published in 2001 and including 17 prospective studies, showed that the overall incidence of ADRs in hospitalised children was 9.53% (95% CI, 6.81, 12.26), with severe reactions accounting for 12.29% (95% CI, 8.43,16.17) of the total number of ADRs (89).

One prospective study, which enrolled 703 patients admitted to 2 general child wards and 1 paediatric intensive care unit at a teaching hospital in Germany, observed that 14.1% of children experienced an ADR during hospitalisation (90).

The main known risk factors of the occurrence of ADRs in children are young age, polypharmacy, prolonged hospitalisation, being critically ill, the use of unlicensed and off-label medications and dosing problems.(47,64)

The ADR-related mortality in children is 0.8% according to a UK study comprising data collected for 37 years (91). However, ADR-related mortality rates differ widely between countries; a systematic review identified rates between 3.4 and 13.0% in North America and between 0.1 and 2.2% in Europe (92).

The high incidence rates of ADRs lead to prolonged hospital stays and additional costs (93). According to a systematic review, ADRs come at a substantial cost to health systems, with an estimated cost of USD 2 401 per hospitalised patient, equating to a 19.86 % increase in overall cost and a 8.25 % increase in hospitalisation time (94).

Beside the higher mortality and morbidity rates as well as the significant financial costs, ADRs have other important consequences, including loss of trust in the health-care system and greater non-adherence to treatment (95).

# 3.1.2.2. Prevalence of MEs

Because of their unique physiology and developmental needs, children are particularly vulnerable to MEs, which are very common in paediatric inpatient settings. A meta-analysis published in 2019, comprising 56 studies, estimated the rate of MEs of 1 per 7 medication orders in paediatric wards using paper medication charts, with at least 1 error experienced every 2 or 3 paediatric admission. This rate is reduced when using electronic charts. The rate of MEs was found to differ between setting wards; it ranged from 24 to 75% of the admissions in multiple ward studies, from 62 to 75% in general ward studies, from 5.6 to 94.9% in paediatric intensive care units (PICU) studies, from 70 to 91% in NICU studies and from 0.9 to 51% in Emergency Department (ED) studies (96).

According to a systematic review, the most common MEs in the UK hospitals are the drug administration errors, with a median prevalence of 16.3% (IQR 6.4–23), wrong administration techniques represented 53% (IQR 52.7–67.4) of these errors. Prescribing errors came in the second place, with a median prevalence of 6.5% (IQR 4.7–13.3); of which the median rate of dose prescribing errors was 11.1% (IQR 2.9–13) (88). Prescribing errors seemed higher in NICUs, EDs and PICUs than in general wards (96,97).

The major factors associated with medication administration errors according to paediatric nurses are being distracted and interrupted as well as being understaffed. Nurses indicated that the main reasons for not reporting MEs were focusing on the patient and the fear of adverse consequences (98). Conversely, the main factors associated with prescribing errors are the moment of consultation (e.g., weekends and early mornings), the severity of the disease, the experience level of the prescriber (99).

# 3.2. Paediatric pharmacovigilance

The WHO defines pharmacovigilance as "the science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding, and prevention of adverse effects or any other drug-related problem" (100).

Pharmacovigilance systems should ideally take a life-cycle approach. This approach is carried out throughout the drug development process, from the beginning of research and development to post administration. We distinguish two stages of pharmacovigilance systems (figure 4): premarketing surveillance and post-marketing surveillance. Pre-marketing surveillance consists of collecting data concerning ADRs from preclinical screening to Phase I, II and III clinical trials. Post-marketing surveillance includes collecting data on ADRs from drug approval and throughout drug market life

Figure 4: Timeline of pharmacovigilance for a drug from development (pre-market) to post-marketing use (101)

Pharmacovigilance life cycle: pre- and post-marketing										
Pre-market research and development					Post-market real world use					
Preclinical animal toxicity	Clinical Phase I	Clinical Phase II	Clinical Phase III	Regulatory review and approval	Pricing and access	Benefit-risk and risk management activities: pharmacovigilance				

3.2.1. Importance of post-marketing monitoring of medicine safety in children Post-marketing pharmacovigilance is particularly important in children for both licensed and unlicensed medicines. In both cases, drug safety data are generally limited in children. Concerning licensed medicines, the amount of information collected regarding ADRs during paediatric clinical trials is very limited for many reasons: the sample sizes of patients enrolled in phase I and II trials and in most cases, phase III trials are small. The sample sizes in phase III trials are generally established regarding efficacy endpoints and consider rarely safety endpoints. In addition, many adverse reactions take a long period of time to appear after drug exposure and could not be detected during a clinical trial period. Furthermore, serious adverse events are often rare, thus they are rarely detected through a paediatric clinical trial. It was shown that only very common ( $\geq 10\%$ ) or common (between  $\geq 1\%$  and < 10%) ADRs might be detected (102). Therefore, post-marketing monitoring is the most important source of information on ADRs for licensed medicines. In unlicensed and off-label medicines, little or no information is available on clinical safety of drugs in the concerned conditions of use. Additionally, drug safety data collected in the adult population cannot be used for the paediatric population (103). An effective monitoring regarding safety for these drugs is particularly important to rapidly identify any inappropriate and unsafe use.

# 3.2.2. Challenges of ADR-detection in children

Most of the methods to detect ADRs used in children are originally designed to be used in adults. However, in addition to pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic drug particularities, many other particularities inherent to challenge these methods when used in the paediatric population;

• Limited communication skills

Young children are unable to communicate in the same ways that adults can. For example, infants experiencing hallucination may be irritable, but they may not be able to articulate their symptoms appropriately. A Japanese study suggests that the limited linguistic skills of patients under three years old explain the underreporting of ADEs in this age group comparing to those in children aged three years and more (104).

• Child-specific ADRs

Some ADRs are only seen in children, regardless of the effects of growth and development. Other ADRs caused by certain ingredients and excipients may manifest differently in adults and children, e.g., the life-threatening gasping syndrome seen in infants exposed to benzyl alcohol (105).

• Diagnostic challenges

Physical examinations and tests cannot be carried out in the same way that they are in adults (106). Detection methods need to consider the child-specific diagnostic techniques as well as the specific biological values when used for the paediatric population.

Therefore, the validity of detection methods in the paediatric population should be tested. The person or the machine carrying out the detection or the evaluation process should master the Diagnostic particularities in children. (107).

#### 3.2.3. Post-marketing detection methods in hospitalised children

Post-marketing pharmacovigilance can be conducted through passive and active surveillance systems. In passive surveillance, health-care professionals or patients send spontaneous reports to the marketing authorisation holder or regulatory authority in which they describe the ADE after one or more medicinal products are used. Active surveillance involves enhanced or targeted monitoring for certain events or drugs and seeks to ascertain completely the number of ADEs through a pre-planned process. Active surveillance methods include computerised ADE reporting systems, trigger tools and medical note reviews. In general, adopting passive ADE-detection methods is simple and cheap while adopting active methods may be more costly but generates more informative results (101).

Pharmacovigilance consists of two main steps: safety signal identification and risk assessment (108). Safety signal is information on a new or known AE that may be caused by a medicine and requires further investigation. In post-marketing phase, safety signals depend on the number of reports of an ADE and consequently of detected ones.

Many studies were conducted to describe and compare the most commonly used ADE-detection methods in the paediatric population. Four detection methods are commonly used to detect ADEs: incident report review, direct observation, chart review and trigger tools.

• Incident report review

Incident report review is defined as voluntary reporting of incidents by health-care professionals (HCPs), patients, or parents. Reporting can be done on paper, through e-mail, fax, phone, or through an interactive computer system (109). It is the most ancient and the most common detection method used in daily practice. An incident report describes one or more ADEs in a patient who was given or took one or more medical products, and is out of any research perspective or any other structured data collection. This method is based on the reporters' awareness of the presence of a potential drug-related harm and their motivation to report it (110).

Reporting ADEs by HCPs is mandatory only in certain cases. This method is usually the main source of ADE, especially serious ADE, in post-marketing phases (111,112). It has the advantages to provide exhaustive information, including narrative sections of the context and causative factors. This information is necessary to analyse the causes and the contributing factors of ADEs. However, ADEs were found under-detected and under-reported through this method. This leads to limits our knowledge about drug safety in children. In daily practice, the difficulty encountered in detecting ADEs in the hospital environment can still be observed due to factors such as a lack of the ability to suspect it, a false belief that an observed ADE is an 'expected' reaction, which results in only reporting 'unexpected' severe and serious ADEs (112), and a lack of knowledge concerning ADRs (113).

• Direct observation

Direct observation is an active method that refers to a wide range of direct, real-time observation techniques of all aspects of the medication use process (114,115). The main advantage of this method is that a higher number of ADEs can be detected in real time, which allows a better and

faster ADE management. Nevertheless, it consumes a considerable amount of time and human and financial resources.

• Medical chart review

Medical chart review is an active method and includes both concurrent and retrospective reviews of medical records, discharge summaries, pharmacy databases, and laboratory data (116,117). Despite providing high-quality information regarding ADEs, this method has showed serious practical limitations, including the need of trained experts, considerable period of time and significant amount of human and financial resources.(118).

• Trigger tools

A trigger tool is an active method defined as a targeted medical record review, either manually or automatically (80,117). A trigger is a data element (alert) within a health record identifying the presence of an ADE that has occurred or is about to occur (80). The ability of automatization is the major advantage provided by this tool. The main limitation is its long planning process before use, including training, evaluation and automatisation. Many paediatric trigger tools exist, and each one of them represents a unique set of triggers, with many of them are shared by different tools.

A complete comparison between the four methods is provided in (Table 1)

 Table 3: Comparison between the four detection methods according to the results of the

 systematic review conducted by Meyer-Massetti et al. (118)

Methods	Quantification	Resource saving	Time	Specificity	Sensitivity
/advantages	of ADE	Saving	saving		
Incident report	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark\checkmark$	$\checkmark\checkmark$	$\checkmark \checkmark \checkmark$	$\checkmark$
review					
Direct observation	$\checkmark \checkmark \checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	√	-
Medical chart	$\checkmark \checkmark$	$\checkmark$	-	$\checkmark\checkmark$	-
review					
Trigger tools	$\checkmark\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark \checkmark \checkmark$	-	$\checkmark\checkmark$

The number of 🗸 refers to the positive results reported of the method compared to other methods. -: data are not reported.

# 4. Key strategies to promote drug safety in children

# 4.1. Generating and collecting more data on paediatric drug safety

Increasing data on paediatric drug safety is essential for the improvement of childcare. Promoting this collection is important in both pre-marketing and post-marketing stages.

#### 4.1.1. Facilitating the conduction of clinical trials in children

In the recent years, legal efforts have been made by regulatory agencies worldwide (119–122), aiming to encourage and facilitate conducting more RCTs in children and to reinforce the requirements to obtain safety information on drugs during these trials. Positive but not enough impacts were reported for these legalisations; The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act in 2002 and the Pediatric Research Equity Act in 2003 resulted in an increase in rational prescribing for children, with over 800 labelling changes registered until 2014 (123). However,

the European governmental initiatives, taken until 2007, to promote the conduction of paediatric clinical research had only a limited impact on decreasing the rates of unlicensed and off-label drug use in children (124). Another recent study reviewing all currently available medicines in Germany have concluded that the new EU Paediatric regulation did not succeed in stimulating the conduction of clinical studies for medicines of which the patent had already expired, suggesting that more efforts are still needed (69).

# 4.1.2. Improving post-marketing paediatric pharmacovigilance methods

Given the significant rates of ADRs reported in hospitalised children, many of which are serious and preventable, better detection methods and interventions are required to improve children's safety (125). Each of the existing detection methods has advantages and limitations.

Until now, there has been no gold standard for detecting ADEs in clinical practice (126). Combining two or more methods appears to be the best pragmatic approach to collect more safety data on drugs and to conclude to a clearer ADR assessment (127). However, the use of each of the existing methods could be improved for paediatric use. The improvement may target signal identification techniques, paediatric-specific detection roles or reporting systems.

Among the available detection methods, we focus in the present document on the trigger tool method and its possible improvement. This method has been recently developed and is a promising practical method used in paediatric inpatients (118).

Trigger tools have shown numerous advantages and are compatible with the growing generation and use of Electronic health records (EHRs). Yet, their use to detect ADEs in paediatric daily practice in many developed countries, including France, is still limited.

The performance of this method varies between the different trigger tools and depends directly on the triggers included in each tool (118). An optimised use of such a method in daily practice requires selecting triggers effective and pertinent to the targeted population, the settings and the commonly used drugs. Therefore, updated information on available triggers and the description of their performances are needed. It is well known that using irrelevant or ineffective triggers can result in high false positive rates, and consequently over-alerting, a loss of trust in the detection system and increased costs, especially when used in a real-time detection mode.

# 4.2. Promoting safe practices

#### 4.2.1. Optimizing dosage form choice in children

While waiting for the marketing of novel child-friendly dosage forms, prescribers need to deal with available dosage forms. For many drugs, many liquid and solid dosage forms are often available for oral administration in the paediatric populations. Choosing between them should consider the advantages and the disadvantages of each one of them for the patient age group (65). Prescribers also have to consider the compliance to the child and the family preference, which could differ from the prescriber primary choice, in order to reach the best drug acceptability and adherence (128,129). Studies show that liquid dosage forms were the most frequently oral forms used in practice in all child age groups (130) despite the advantages provided by solid dosage forms for certain paediatric age groups (65). Factors influencing dosage form choice by paediatricians are not well reported. Yet, the properties of dosage forms do not appear to be considered in physicians' prescribing decisions (131)

In order to make the most appropriate dosage form choice for their patients, prescribers need to be informed of the other safe dosage form alternatives available; including information on labelling status, possible dosages, patient acceptability and cost.

# 4.2.2. Harmonizing dosing recommendations

The different dosage regimens available of a drug in children are based on different levels of evidence and different efficacy and safety results. Recommending one dosage regimen is a complicated process due to the low comparability between studies and the absence of a validated selection strategy considering high variability in terms of population, design, parameters, outcomes, and results. However, providing unique updated dosing guidelines based on the best available evidence for paediatric prescribers for many drugs is a real need that must be addressed. Drug prescriptions in children as in adults should be based on the best available evidence, including data from peer-reviewed scientific studies (132). For that, harmonisation projects need to be initiated with the objective of identifying the most appropriate dosage regimen of drugs and define the type of study(ies) needed to validate it with a higher level of evidence. The harmonization initiatives should target at first the off-label and unlicensed used medicines that are associated with serious potential ADRs, especially those used in neonates. The provided dosage recommendations should be kept up-to-date and consider all new information. All harmonization projects need to collect literature data on the dosage regimens of the drugs in question.

# Bibliography

1. European Medicines Agency. Note for guidance on clinical investigation of medicinal products in the paediatric. 2001.

2. European Medicines Agency. Guideline on good pharmacovigilance practices (GVP) -Product- or Population-Specific Considerations IV: Paediatric population. 2018 Nov p. 17.

3. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER). General Clinical Pharmacology Considerations for Pediatric Studies for Drugs and Biological Products. 2014.

4. Alinejad S, Yousefichaijan P, Rezagholizamenjany M, Rafie Y, Kahbazi M, Arjmand A. Nephrotoxic Effect of Gentamicin and Amikacin in Neonates with Infection. Nephro-Urol Mon [Internet]. 2018 Mar 31 [cited 2021 May 31];10(2). Available from:

https://sites.kowsarpub.com/num/articles/58580.html # abstract

5. van den Anker JN. How to optimize the evaluation and use of antibiotics in neonates. Early Hum Dev. 2014 Mar;90 Suppl 1:S10-12.

6. Allegaert K, van den Anker J. Neonatal drug therapy: The first frontier of therapeutics for children. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2015 Sep;98(3):288–97.

7. Stewart CF, Hampton EM. Effect of maturation on drug disposition in pediatric patients. Clin Pharm. 1987 Jul;6(7):548–64.

8. Butler DR, Kuhn RJ, Chandler MH. Pharmacokinetics of anti-infective agents in paediatric patients. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1994 May;26(5):374–95.

9. Morselli PL, Franco-Morselli R, Bossi L. Clinical pharmacokinetics in newborns and infants. Age-related differences and therapeutic implications. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1980 Dec;5(6):485–527.

10. Strolin Benedetti M, Baltes EL. Drug metabolism and disposition in children. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2003 Jun;17(3):281–99.

11. Driessen OMJ, Sorgedrager N, Michel MF, Kerrebijn KF, Hermans J. Pharmacokinetic aspects of therapy with ampicillin and kanamycin in new-born infants. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1978 Nov 1;13(6):449–57.

12. Paisley JW, Smith AL, Smith DH. Gentamicin in newborn infants. Comparison of intramuscular and intravenous administration. Am J Dis Child. 1973 Oct;126(4):473–7.

13. Rane A, Wilson JT. Clinical pharmacokinetics in infants and children. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1976;1(1):2–24.

14. Bartelink IH, Rademaker CMA, Schobben AFAM, van den Anker JN. Guidelines on paediatric dosing on the basis of developmental physiology and pharmacokinetic considerations. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2006;45(11):1077–97.

15. Kearns GL, Abdel-Rahman SM, Alander SW, Blowey DL, Leeder JS, Kauffman RE. Developmental pharmacology--drug disposition, action, and therapy in infants and children. N Engl J Med. 2003 Sep 18;349(12):1157–67.

16. Kurz H, Michels H, Stickel HH. Differences in the binding of drugs to plasma proteins from newborn and adult man. II. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1977 Jul 19;11(6):469–72.

17. Anderson GD, Lynn AM. Optimizing pediatric dosing: a developmental pharmacologic approach. Pharmacotherapy. 2009 Jun;29(6):680–90.

18. McLeod HL, Relling MV, Crom WR, Silverstein K, Groom S, Rodman JH, et al. Disposition of antineoplastic agents in the very young child. Br J Cancer Suppl. 1992 Aug;18:S23–9.

19. Aranda JV, Collinge JM, Zinman R, Watters G. Maturation of caffeine elimination in

infancy. Arch Dis Child. 1979 Dec;54(12):946-9.

20. Alcorn J, McNamara PJ. Ontogeny of hepatic and renal systemic clearance pathways in infants: part II. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2002;41(13):1077–94.

21. Patsalos PN. Clinical pharmacokinetics of levetiracetam. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2004;43(11):707–24.

22. Somogyi A, Becker M, Gugler R. Cimetidine pharmacokinetics and dosage requirements in children. Eur J Pediatr. 1985 May;144(1):72–6.

23. Bouayad A, Kajino H, Waleh N, Fouron JC, Andelfinger G, Varma DR, et al. Characterization of PGE2 receptors in fetal and newborn lamb ductus arteriosus. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2001 May;280(5):H2342-2349.

24. Wong DF, Wagner HN, Dannals RF, Links JM, Frost JJ, Ravert HT, et al. Effects of age on dopamine and serotonin receptors measured by positron tomography in the living human brain. Science. 1984 Dec 21;226(4681):1393–6.

25. Olkkola KT, Maunuksela EL, Korpela R, Rosenberg PH. Kinetics and dynamics of postoperative intravenous morphine in children. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1988 Aug;44(2):128–36.

26. Marshall JD, Kearns GL. Developmental pharmacodynamics of cyclosporine. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1999 Jul;66(1):66–75.

27. Akobeng AK. Understanding randomised controlled trials. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2005 Aug 1;90(8):840–4.

28. Lagler FB, Hirschfeld S, Kindblom JM. Challenges in clinical trials for children and young people. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2021 Apr 1;106(4):321–5.

29. Chiaruttini G, Felisi M, Bonifazi D. Challenges in Paediatric Clinical Trials: How to Make It Feasible [Internet]. The Management of Clinical Trials. IntechOpen; 2018 [cited 2022 Mar 2]. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/58721

30. Bourgeois FT, Murthy S, Pinto C, Olson KL, Ioannidis JPA, Mandl KD. Pediatric versus adult drug trials for conditions with high pediatric disease burden. Pediatrics. 2012 Aug;130(2):285–92.

31. Krekels EHJ, van den Anker JN, Baiardi P, Cella M, Cheng KY, Gibb DM, et al. Pharmacogenetics and paediatric drug development: issues and consequences to labelling and dosing recommendations. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2007 Aug;8(12):1787–99.

32. Henschel AD, Rothenberger LG, Boos J. Randomized clinical trials in children-ethical and methodological issues. Curr Pharm Des. 2010;16(22):2407–15.

33. Augustine EF, Adams HR, Mink JW. Clinical Trials in Rare Disease: Challenges and Opportunities. J Child Neurol. 2013 Sep;28(9):1142–50.

34. European union. European Union. Ethical considerations for clinical trials on medicinal products conducted with the paediatric population. Eur J Health Law. 2008 Jul;15(2):223–50.

35. Hirtz DG, Gilbert PR, Terrill CM, Buckman SY. Clinical trials in children--How are they implemented? Pediatr Neurol. 2006 Jun;34(6):436–8.

36. Hill P. Off licence and off label prescribing in children: litigation fears for physicians. Arch Dis Child. 2005 Feb;90 Suppl 1:i17-18.

Klassen TP, Hartling L, Craig JC, Offringa M. Children are not just small adults: the urgent need for high-quality trial evidence in children. PLoS Med. 2008 Aug 12;5(8):e172.
Joseph PD, Craig JC, Caldwell PHY. Clinical trials in children. Br J Clin Pharmacol.

2015 Mar;79(3):357-69.

39. Shirkey H. Therapeutic orphans. J Pediatr. 1968 Jan;72(1):119–20.

40. Allen HC, Garbe MC, Lees J, Aziz N, Chaaban H, Miller JL, et al. Off-Label Medication use in Children, More Common than We Think: A Systematic Review of the Literature. J Okla State Med Assoc. 2018 Oct;111(8):776–83.

41. Czarniak P, Bint L, Favié L, Parsons R, Hughes J, Sunderland B. Clinical setting influences off-label and unlicensed prescribing in a paediatric teaching hospital. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0120630.

42. Saputro ID, Putra ON, Hardiyono, Mufidah E. "Off-Label" Medicine Use In Burned Children: Three-Year Retrospective Study. Ann Burns Fire Disasters. 2021 Mar 31;34(1):18–25.

43. Magalhães J, Rodrigues AT, Roque F, Figueiras A, Falcão A, Herdeiro MT. Use of off-label and unlicenced drugs in hospitalised paediatric patients: a systematic review. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2015 Jan;71(1):1–13.

44. Shah SS, Hall M, Goodman DM, Feuer P, Sharma V, Fargason C, et al. Off-label drug use in hospitalized children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2007 Mar;161(3):282–90.

45. Costa HTM de L, Costa TX, Martins RR, Oliveira AG. Use of off-label and unlicensed medicines in neonatal intensive care. PLoS One. 2018 Sep 25;13(9):e0204427.
46. Veldman A, Richter E, Hacker C, Fischer D. The Use of Off-Label Medications in Newborn Infants Despite an Approved Alternative Being Available—Results of a National Survey. Pharmacy. 2022 Feb;10(1):19.

47. Pratico AD, Longo L, Mansueto S, Gozzo L, Barberi I, Tiralongo V, et al. Off-Label Use of Drugs and Adverse Drug Reactions in Pediatric Units: A Prospective, Multicenter Study. Curr Drug Saf. 2018;13(3):200–7.

48. Saiyed MM, Lalwani T, Rana D. Is off-label use a risk factor for adverse drug reactions in pediatric patients? A prospective study in an Indian tertiary care hospital. Int J Risk Saf Med. 2015;27(1):45–53.

49. Cuzzolin L, Atzei A, Fanos V. Off-label and unlicensed prescribing for newborns and children in different settings: a review of the literature and a consideration about drug safety. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2006 Sep;5(5):703–18.

50. Lajoinie A, Henin E, Kassai B. [Oral formulation of choice for children]. Arch Pediatr. 2015 Aug;22(8):877–85.

51. Nahata MC. Lack of pediatric drug formulations. Pediatrics. 1999 Sep;104(3 Pt 2):607–9.

52. Cram A, Breitkreutz J, Desset-Brèthes S, Nunn T, Tuleu C, European Paediatric Formulation Initiative (EuPFI). Challenges of developing palatable oral paediatric formulations. Int J Pharm. 2009 Jan 5;365(1–2):1–3.

53. Salunke S, Liu F, Batchelor H, Walsh J, Turner R, Ju TR, et al. European Paediatric Formulation Initiative (EuPFI)-Formulating Ideas for Better Medicines for Children. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2017 Feb;18(2):257–62.

54. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Reflection paper: formulations of choice for the paediatric population. 2006 Sep.

55. Walsh J, Mills S. Conference report: formulating better medicines for children: 4th European Paediatric Formulation Initiative conference. Ther Deliv. 2013 Jan;4(1):21–5.

56. Tan E, Cranswick NE, Rayner CR, Chapman CB. Dosing information for paediatric patients: are they really "therapeutic orphans"? Med J Aust. 2003 Aug 18;179(4):195–8.

57. Richey RH, Shah UU, Peak M, Craig JV, Ford JL, Barker CE, et al. Manipulation of drugs to achieve the required dose is intrinsic to paediatric practice but is not supported by guidelines or evidence. BMC Pediatr. 2013 May 21;13:81.

58. Tuleu C, Breitkreutz J. Educational paper: formulation-related issues in pediatric clinical pharmacology. Eur J Pediatr. 2013 Jun;172(6):717–20.

59. Pokharkar V, Sajith M, Vallet T, Akshantal S, Shah R, Ruiz F, et al. Acceptability of different oral dosage forms in paediatric patients in hospital setting. Arch Dis Child. 2021 Nov 19;archdischild-2021-322604.

60. Klingmann V, Vallet T, Münch J, Stegemann R, Wolters L, Bosse HM, et al. Dosage Forms Suitability in Pediatrics: Acceptability of Analgesics and Antipyretics in a German Hospital. Pharmaceutics. 2022 Feb;14(2):337.

61. Wong ICK, Wong LYL, Cranswick NE. Minimising medication errors in children. Arch Dis Child. 2009 Feb;94(2):161–4.

62. Batchelor HK, Marriott JF. Formulations for children: problems and solutions. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2015 Mar;79(3):405–18.

63. Fontan JE, Mille F, Brion F, Aubin F, Ballereau F, Benoît G, et al. [Drug administration to paediatric inpatient]. Arch Pediatr. 2004 Oct;11(10):1173–84.

64. Mi X, Zeng L, Zhang L. Systematic review of the prevalence and nature of drugrelated problems in paediatric patients. Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics [Internet]. [cited 2022 Feb 22];n/a(n/a). Available from:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jcpt.13606

65. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use. 2013.

66. Ruiz F, Vallet T, Dufaÿ Wojcicki A, Belissa É, Fontan JE, de Pontual L, et al. Dosage form suitability in vulnerable populations: A focus on paracetamol acceptability from infants to centenarians. PLoS One. 2019;14(8):e0221261.

67. Ranmal SR, Cram A, Tuleu C. Age-appropriate and acceptable paediatric dosage forms: Insights into end-user perceptions, preferences and practices from the Children's Acceptability of Oral Formulations (CALF) Study. Int J Pharm. 2016 Nov 30;514(1):296–307.

68. Raja P, Duffett M, Mazer-Amirshahi M, Patel A, Gilpin A, Litalien C, et al. Pediatric drug data in Canadian drug monographs: a descriptive analysis. Canadian Medical Association Open Access Journal. 2020 Jul 1;8(3):E522–9.

69. Wimmer S, Rascher W, Neubert A. [How often do SmPCs Contain Contraindications and Special Warnings that are Specific for the Paediatric Population]. Klin Padiatr. 2019 Jul;231(4):191–8.

70. Taenzer AH, Herrick M, Hoyt M, Ramamurthi RJ, Walker B, Flack SH, et al. Variation in pediatric local anesthetic dosing for peripheral nerve blocks: an analysis from the Pediatric Regional Anesthesia Network (PRAN). Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2020 Dec;45(12):964–9.

71. Tyler A, Bryan MA, Zhou C, Mangione-Smith R, Williams D, Johnson DP, et al. Variation in Dexamethasone Dosing and Use Outcomes for Inpatient Croup. Hosp Pediatr. 2022 Jan 1;12(1):22–9.

72. Pandolfini C, Kaguelidou F, Sequi M, Jacqz-Aigrain E, Choonara I, Turner MA, et al. Wide intra- and inter-country variability in drug use and dosage in very-low-birth-weight newborns with severe infections. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013 Apr;69(4):1031–6.

73. Metsvaht T, Nellis G, Varendi H, Nunn AJ, Graham S, Rieutord A, et al. High variability in the dosing of commonly used antibiotics revealed by a Europe-wide point prevalence study: implications for research and dissemination. BMC Pediatr. 2015 Apr 16;15:41.

74. Liem TBY, Slob EMA, Termote JUM, Wolfs TFW, Egberts ACG, Rademaker CMA. Comparison of antibiotic dosing recommendations for neonatal sepsis from established reference sources. Int J Clin Pharm. 2018 Apr;40(2):436–43.

75. Leroux S, Zhao W, Bétrémieux P, Pladys P, Saliba E, Jacqz-Aigrain E, et al. Therapeutic guidelines for prescribing antibiotics in neonates should be evidence-based: a French national survey. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2015 Apr 1;100(4):394–8.

76. van der Veen A, Somers A, Vanhaesebrouck S, ter Heine R, Brüggemann R, Allegaert K, et al. Variation in vancomycin dosing and therapeutic drug monitoring practices in neonatal intensive care units. Int J Clin Pharm [Internet]. 2021 Nov 2 [cited 2022 Feb 22]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-021-01345-9

77. Kadambari S, Heath PT, Sharland M, Lewis S, Nichols A, Turner MA. Variation in gentamicin and vancomycin dosage and monitoring in UK neonatal units. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2011 Nov;66(11):2647–50.

78. Gwee A, Cranswick N, Metz D, Coghlan B, Daley AJ, Bryant PA, et al. Neonatal vancomycin continuous infusion: still a confusion? Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2014 Jun;33(6):600–5.

79. van Mil JWF, Westerlund LOT, Hersberger KE, Schaefer MA. Drug-related problem classification systems. Ann Pharmacother. 2004 May;38(5):859–67.

80. Griffin F, Resar R. IHI Global Trigger Tool for Measuring Adverse Events (Second Edition) | IHI - Institute for Healthcare Improvement [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Apr 1]. Available from:

http://www.ihi.org:80/resources/Pages/IHIWhitePapers/IHIGlobalTriggerToolWhitePaper.asp x

81. Aronson JK, Ferner RE. Clarification of terminology in drug safety. Drug Saf. 2005;28(10):851–70.

82. Michel P, Quenon JL, de Sarasqueta AM, Scemama O. Comparison of three methods for estimating rates of adverse events and rates of preventable adverse events in acute care hospitals. BMJ. 2004 Jan 24;328(7433):199.

83. Handler SM, Wright RM, Ruby CM, Hanlon JT. Epidemiology of medication-related adverse events in nursing homes. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother. 2006 Sep;4(3):264–72.

84. Nydert P, Unbeck M, Pukk Härenstam K, Norman M, Lindemalm S. Drug Use and Type of Adverse Drug Events-Identified by a Trigger Tool in Different Units in a Swedish Pediatric Hospital. Drug Healthc Patient Saf. 2020;12:31–40.

85. Committee of experts on management of safety and quality in health care (SPSQS). Glossary of terms related to patient and medication safety [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/patientsafety/highlights/COE\_patient\_and\_medication\_safety\_gl.pdf 86. Laurence. A Dictionary of Pharmacology and Allied Topics - 2nd Edition [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2021 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.elsevier.com/books/a-dictionary-of-

pharmacology-and-allied-topics/laurence/978-0-444-82591-9

87. Ferner RE, Aronson JK. Clarification of terminology in medication errors: definitions and classification. Drug Saf. 2006;29(11):1011–22.

88. Sutherland A, Phipps DL, Tomlin S, Ashcroft DM. Mapping the prevalence and nature of drug related problems among hospitalised children in the United Kingdom: a systematic review. BMC Pediatrics. 2019 Dec 11;19(1):486.

89. Impicciatore P, Choonara I, Clarkson A, Provasi D, Pandolfini C, Bonati M. Incidence of adverse drug reactions in paediatric in/out-patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2001 Jul;52(1):77–83.

90. Haffner S, von Laue N, Wirth S, Thürmann PA. Detecting adverse drug reactions on paediatric wards: intensified surveillance versus computerised screening of laboratory values. Drug Saf. 2005;28(5):453–64.

91. Clarkson A, Choonara I. Surveillance for fatal suspected adverse drug reactions in the UK. Arch Dis Child. 2002 Dec;87(6):462–6.

92. Cliff-Eribo KO, Sammons H, Choonara I. Systematic review of paediatric studies of adverse drug reactions from pharmacovigilance databases. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2016 Oct;15(10):1321–8.

93. Lo Giudice I, Mocciaro E, Giardina C, Barbieri MA, Cicala G, Gioffrè-Florio M, et al. Characterization and preventability of adverse drug events as cause of emergency department visits: a prospective 1-year observational study. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol. 2019 Apr 27;20:21.

94. Khan LM. Comparative epidemiology of hospital-acquired adverse drug reactions in adults and children and their impact on cost and hospital stay--a systematic review. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013 Dec;69(12):1985–96.

95. Barry A, Olsson S, Khaemba C, Kabatende J, Dires T, Fimbo A, et al. Comparative Assessment of the Pharmacovigilance Systems within the Neglected Tropical Diseases Programs in East Africa—Ethiopia, Kenya, Rwanda, and Tanzania. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2021 Jan;18(4):1941.

96. Gates PJ, Baysari MT, Gazarian M, Raban MZ, Meyerson S, Westbrook JI. Prevalence of Medication Errors Among Paediatric Inpatients: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Drug Saf. 2019 Nov 1;42(11):1329–42.

97. Chedoe I, Molendijk HA, Dittrich STAM, Jansman FGA, Harting JW, Brouwers JRBJ, et al. Incidence and nature of medication errors in neonatal intensive care with strategies to improve safety: a review of the current literature. Drug Saf. 2007;30(6):503–13.
98. Stratton KM, Blegen MA, Pepper G, Vaughn T. Reporting of medication errors by pediatric nurses. J Pediatr Nurs. 2004 Dec;19(6):385–92.

99. Kozer E, Scolnik D, Macpherson A, Keays T, Shi K, Luk T, et al. Variables associated with medication errors in pediatric emergency medicine. Pediatrics. 2002 Oct;110(4):737–42.
100. Institute of Medicine (US) Forum on Microbial Threats. Global Infectious Disease

Surveillance and Detection: Assessing the Challenges—Finding Solutions, Workshop Summary [Internet]. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2007 [cited 2022 Mar 17]. (The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK52867/

101. World Health Organization P. MODULE 10: PHARMACOVIGILANCE.

102. Richesson RL, Smith SB, Malloy J, Krischer JP. Achieving standardized medication data in clinical research studies: two approaches and applications for implementing RxNorm. J Med Syst. 2010 Aug;34(4):651–7.

103. Dunne J, Rodriguez WJ, Murphy MD, Beasley BN, Burckart GJ, Filie JD, et al. Extrapolation of adult data and other data in pediatric drug-development programs. Pediatrics. 2011 Nov;128(5):e1242-1249.

104. Koizumi A, Ohta Y, Sakuma M, Okamoto R, Matsumoto C, Bates DW, et al. Differences in Adverse Drug Events Among Pediatric Patients With and Without Cancer: Sub-Analysis of a Retrospective Cohort Study. Drugs Real World Outcomes. 2017 Aug 4;4(3):167–73.

105. Gershanik J, Boecler B, Ensley H, McCloskey S, George W. The gasping syndrome and benzyl alcohol poisoning. N Engl J Med. 1982 Nov 25;307(22):1384–8.

106. Diagnostic Tests for Infants and Children. Pediatrics. 1949 Oct 1;4(4):541.

107. Matlow AG, Cronin CMG, Flintoft V, Nijssen-Jordan C, Fleming M, Brady-Fryer B, et al. Description of the development and validation of the Canadian Paediatric Trigger Tool. BMJ Qual Saf. 2011 May;20(5):416–23.

108. Gentili M, Pozzi M, Peeters G, Radice S, Carnovale C. Review of the Methods to Obtain Paediatric Drug Safety Information: Spontaneous Reporting and Healthcare Databases, Active Surveillance Programmes, Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses. Curr Clin Pharmacol. 2018;13(1):28–39.

109. Cohen SN. The Pediatric Pharmacology Research Unit (PPRU) Network and its role in meeting pediatric labeling needs. Pediatrics. 1999 Sep;104(3 Pt 2):644–5.

110. European Medicines Agency. Post Approval Safety Data Management. 2006 p. 12.

111. Morimoto T. Adverse drug events and medication errors: detection and classification methods. Quality and Safety in Health Care. 2004 Aug 1;13(4):306–14.

112. Murff HJ, Patel VL, Hripcsak G, Bates DW. Detecting adverse events for patient safety research: a review of current methodologies. Journal of Biomedical Informatics. 2003 Feb 1;36(1):131–43.

113. Vázquez-Alvarez AO, Brennan-Bourdon LM, Rincón-Sánchez AR, Islas-Carbajal MC, Huerta-Olvera SG. Improved drug safety through intensive pharmacovigilance in hospitalized pediatric patients. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol. 2017 Dec 8;18(1):79.

114. Allan EL, Barker KN. Fundamentals of medication error research. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1990 Mar;47(3):555–71.

115. Barker KN. Data collection techniques: observation. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1980 Sep;37(9):1235–43.

116. Bates DW, Boyle DL, Vander Vliet MB, Schneider J, Leape L. Relationship between medication errors and adverse drug events. J Gen Intern Med. 1995 Apr;10(4):199–205.
117. Kelly WN. Prescribed medications and the public health: laying the foundation for risk

reduction. New York: Pharmaceutical Products Press; 2006. 355 p.

118. Meyer-Massetti C, Cheng CM, Schwappach DLB, Paulsen L, Ide B, Meier CR, et al. Systematic review of medication safety assessment methods. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2011 Feb 1;68(3):227–40.

119. Burckart GJ, Kim C. The Revolution in Pediatric Drug Development and Drug Use: Therapeutic Orphans No More. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2020;25(7):565–73.

120. Lehmann B. Regulation (EC) No 1901/2006 on medicinal products for paediatric use & clinical research in vulnerable populations. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health. 2008 Dec 8;2:37.

121. Government U.S. BEST PHARMACEUTICALS FOR CHILDREN ACT [Internet].
Available from: https://www.congress.gov/107/plaws/publ109/PLAW-107publ109.pdf
122. Government U.S. PEDIATRIC RESEARCH EQUITY ACT OF 2003. In. Available

from: https://www.congress.gov/108/plaws/publ155/PLAW-108publ155.pdf

123. Frattarelli DA, Galinkin JL, Green TP, Johnson TD, Neville KA, Paul IM, et al. Offlabel use of drugs in children. Pediatrics. 2014 Mar;133(3):563–7.

124. Corny J, Lebel D, Bailey B, Bussières JF. Unlicensed and Off-Label Drug Use in Children Before and After Pediatric Governmental Initiatives. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2015;20(4):316–28.

125. Zed PJ. Adverse Drug Events in Children: How Big is the Problem? Drug Metab Lett. 2015;9(2):109–10.

126. Ramos SF, Santos Júnior GA dos, Pereira AM, Dosea AS, Rocha KSS, Pimentel DMM, et al. Facilitators and strategies to implement clinical pharmacy services in a

metropolis in Northeast Brazil: a qualitative approach. BMC Health Services Research. 2018 Aug 13;18(1):632.

127. Ramos SF, Alvarez NR, Dos Santos Alcântara T, Sanchez JM, da Costa Lima E, de Lyra Júnior DP. Methods for the detection of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized children: a systematic review. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2021 Oct;20(10):1225–36.

128. Alessandrini E, Brako F, Scarpa M, Lupo M, Bonifazi D, Pignataro V, et al. Children's Preferences for Oral Dosage Forms and Their Involvement in Formulation Research via EPTRI (European Paediatric Translational Research Infrastructure). Pharmaceutics. 2021 May 15;13(5):730.

129. Alyami H, Dahmash E, Alyami F, Dahmash D, Huynh C, Terry D, et al. Dosage form preference consultation study in children and young adults: paving the way for patient-centred and patient-informed dosage form development. Eur J Hosp Pharm. 2017 Nov;24(6):332–7.

130. Lajoinie A, Henin E, Nguyen KA, Malik S, Mimouni Y, Sapori JM, et al. Oral drug dosage forms administered to hospitalized children: Analysis of 117,665 oral administrations in a French paediatric hospital over a 1-year period. Int J Pharm. 2016 Mar 16;500(1–2):336–44.

131. Davari M, Khorasani E, Tigabu BM. Factors Influencing Prescribing Decisions of Physicians: A Review. Ethiop J Health Sci. 2018 Nov;28(6):795–804.

132. Tilen R, Panis D, Aeschbacher S, Sabine T, Meyer Zu Schwabedissen HE, Berger C. Development of the Swiss Database for dosing medicinal products in pediatrics. Eur J Pediatr. 2022 Mar;181(3):1221–31.

*The overall objective* of the thesis is to present data supporting the progression toward safe prescribing and safety monitoring of medicines in hospitalised children.

This thesis has three independent sub-objectives, each of them addresses a specific problem related to the safety of medicine in paediatric inpatients and has been the subject of a scientific article.

*The first sub-objective* is to review all trigger tools proposed to detect ADRs in paediatric inpatients, describe their performances and propose approaches aiming to optimise their use in daily practice.

*The second sub-objective* is to identify the best relevant practical circumstances for the substitution from liquid to solid dosage forms in hospitalised children based on hospital database analysis and to assess the expected economic impact of this potential substitution.

*The third sub-objective* to provide updated literature data on the efficacy and the safety of amikacin using different dosage regimes in neonates, as a drug concerned by the need of a unique recommended dosage regimen for neonates, in the purpose to select the most appropriate dosage regimen for use.

This chapter includes the three axes of my thesis work. This work meets the three subobjectives. It is presented in a form of scientific articles. The first two articles are already published. The third is in the process of submission.

Article I meets the first sub-objective. It presents a description of available paediatric triggers and provides suggestions aiming to optimise the performance of this tool in the detection of ADRs in hospitalised children.

Article II meets the second sub-objective. It identifies 10 drugs frequently administered to children in liquid dosage forms and eligible for replacement with suitable authorized solid dosage forms. Applying these replacements could contribute in reducing the rate of MEs in hospitalised children.

Article III meets the third sub-objective. It provides a description of the efficacy and safety of amikacin using the different dosage regimens in neonates. These data are currently used to select the dosage regimen with the best risk-benefit balance in neonates. The adoption of the selected dosage regimen could help reduce the rate of ADRs related to the administration of amikacin in neonates.



# CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY

# (Article I) Trigger tools to identify adverse drug events in hospitalised children: A systematic review

Rama Arab<sup>a,\*</sup>, Catherine Cornu<sup>a,b</sup>, Roubi Kilo<sup>a,c</sup>, Aurélie Portefaix<sup>a,b</sup>, Beatriz Fretes-Bonett<sup>a</sup>,

Fanny Hergibo<sup>d</sup>, Behrouz Kassai<sup>a, e</sup>, Kim An Nguyen<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Laboratoire de biométrie et biologie évolutive, CNRS, UMR 5558, université de Claude-Bernard Lyon 1, 8, rue Guillaume-Paradin, Bât B 69008, 69008 Lyon, France<sup>b</sup> Centre d'investigation clinique, Inserm CIC1407, EPICIME department of clinical epdiemiology, Hospices civils de Lyon, 69500 Bron, France

° Pôle de santé publique, Hospices civils de Lyon, 69008 Lyon, France

<sup>d</sup> Département médical, Teva Pharma Belgique NV, 1000 Bruxelles, Belgique

<sup>e</sup> Département d'épidémiologie clinique, Hospices civils de Lyon, 69008 Lyon, France

Received 20 December 2021; accepted 25 January 2022 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.therap.2022.01.015

#### **KEYWORDS**

Adverse drug event; Trigger tool; Hospitalized children; Detection; Pharmacovigilance; monitoring

# Summary

*Aims.* — To identify all available trigger tools applicable to the pediatric population in hospital settings to detect adverse drug events (ADEs) and to describe their performances by positive predictive value (PPV).

*Methods.* — PubMed<sup>®</sup> was searched until December 2021. The reference sections were also consulted for new articles. Studies were selected when they used one or more triggers to identify AEs and used data on pediatric inpatient settings. Studies mentioning triggers related to AEs that were only caused by care procedures were excluded. Only triggers related to ADEs were included. PPVs of triggers were reported. Mean PPVs were calculated for multi-study triggers. The interest of each trigger in a real-time detection system was assessed.

*Results.* — Thirty studies were included. A total of 271 unique triggers were identified, 179 of which were related to drug-induced harms. Among them, 68 could be used for prevention of ADEs, 80 for verification and 31 for reporting. Nineteen triggers (11%) had a mean PPV between 50% and 100%, including 5 that had a 100% PPV.

*Conclusion.* — The performances of individual triggers need to be more adequately studied. The detection of ADEs through computerized triggers and/or real-time detection systems remains an emerging field, very much needed in children especially, due to frequent off-label use.

© 2022 Société française de pharmacologie et de thérapeutique. Published by Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Despite their numerous therapeutic benefits, the use of medications may cause adverse drug events (ADEs) and morbidity <sup>[1]</sup>. These aspects have to be considered by clinicians in order to optimize drugs' benefits and minimize or better prevent ADEs.

An ADE is an injury resulting from clinical intervention related to a drug <sup>[2]</sup>. This includes adverse drug reactions (ADRs) and medication errors (MEs). An ADR is defined as any response to a drug that is noxious and unintended which occurs at doses normally used in man for prophylaxis, diagnosis, or therapy of disease or for the modifications of physiological function <sup>[3]</sup>. An ME is defined as any preventable event that may cause or lead to inappropriate medication use or patient harm while the medication is in the control of the health care professional, patient, or consumer <sup>[4]</sup>.

Traditionally, clinical trials and spontaneous reporting systems are the main sources of reported ADEs in post-marketing phases. However, due to a lack of time and motivation, ADEs are underreported by healthcare professionals in their day-to-day practice which results in underestimating the actual rate of ADEs, especially in children <sup>[5],[6]</sup>. Three other proactive medication safety assessment techniques have been proposed: direct observation, chart review and trigger tools <sup>[7–9]</sup>. A systematic review of the literature comparing these methods showed that the trigger tool method is the most effective and labor-efficient method to detect ADEs <sup>[9]</sup>, even though it is time-consuming, especially the thorough review of the electronic records <sup>[10]</sup>. When computerized, triggers are able to identify 45% of ADEs, chart review and twice as many as voluntary report <sup>[11]</sup>.

A trigger is defined as a data element within a health record that identifies the presence of an ADE that has occurred or is about to occur <sup>[12]</sup>. A trigger is called positive when it has been

identified in a patient's health records <sup>[7]</sup>. Typically, these triggers are derived from clinical, medication or laboratory tests <sup>[6,14]</sup>.

A trigger tool is a targeted medical record review that is carried out either manually or automatically <sup>[7]</sup>. The manual review of triggers is a sampling method based on the evaluation of a limited number of health records. The medical team decides which trigger tool they will use for chart analysis and defines the procedure by which the charts will be analyzed, which ideally are selected randomly. Each selected chart is screened, only through triggers. By contrast, the automated detection is based on the identification of specific triggers in all electronic health records (EHRs) for any given period and is considered as a more time-efficient approach. Once a trigger is detected using any of the methods, a more in-depth review is undertaken to examine the potential for an ADE <sup>[5,7–9,14,15]</sup>. Trigger performance is usually have an ADE (true positive [TP]), whereas negative predictive value (NPV) is the percentage of patients with a negative trigger who do not have an ADE (true negative [TN]) <sup>[16,17]</sup>. The risk analyses through trigger tools can be computerized and systematized through algorithms. These charts have to be further manually analyzed by an experienced professional.

In 1999, the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) developed the Trigger Tool for Measuring Adverse Drug Events, which was improved in 2009 with a second edition called Global Trigger Tool for Measuring Adverse Events (GTT)<sup>[7]</sup>. Classen et al. demonstrated that the GTT may identify ten times more serious ADEs than voluntary reports and other tested indicators <sup>[18]</sup>. The IHI has successfully advocated the use of this approach in adult hospitals <sup>[7]</sup>. Research on trigger tools applied to children started in Canada in 2005 based on the IHI's methodology <sup>[19]</sup>. Kirkendall et al. tried to apply the GTT to the pediatric population and found that 25.8% of children had at least one ADE during their hospital stay <sup>[20]</sup>. To date, this innovative ADE detection tool has been proved to be efficient in the detection of ADEs in adults

but its use is still limited in hospitalized children <sup>[17,20–25]</sup>. The method could be more effective in detecting ADEs when relevant and adapted triggers for daily practice are selected <sup>[23]</sup>. To select the most clinically relevant triggers to detect ADEs in children, a review of the literature is necessary to identify the possible triggers and describe their properties.

# Objective

The aim of this systematic review is to identify all available trigger tools applicable to the pediatric population in inpatient settings to detect ADEs and to describe their performances by PPV, if available.

#### 2. Methods

#### Search Strategy and Study Selection

This systematic review was conducted by following the Preferred Reporting for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Guidelines. The research was carried out on PubMed on June 16<sup>th</sup>, 2019 and updated on February 27<sup>th</sup>, 2020 and on December 07<sup>th</sup>, 2021 using 3 search strategies to identify relevant studies. Main keywords were combined as follows: trigger tool AND (pediatric OR pediatrics OR paediatric OR paediatrics OR child OR children OR infant OR infants) AND (adverse drug event OR adverse drug events OR adverse drug reaction OR adverse drug reactions OR harm OR harms).

To identify other relevant articles, the reference sections of all included articles were consulted. After screening and removing duplicates, all article titles, abstracts and full texts were independently reviewed for inclusion by two authors of this article. In case of discordance, another author was consulted in order to confirm or reject the inclusion. Articles meeting all of the following criteria were eligible for inclusion: research using one or more triggers to identify AEs and research using data on pediatric inpatient settings. Exclusion criteria were pieces of research using data from only non-hospital or outpatient settings, mentioning triggers related to AEs caused only by care procedures, research with unavailable or unpublished full texts and research with triggers not provided.

# **Data Extraction**

Extracted data contained information on: first author, country, year of publication, number of triggers used, overall PPV, the PPV of the set of triggers used in the study (%), total positive triggers in the study, total positive AEs in the study, manual or automated triggers, range of individual PPVs [min, max] (an individual PPV is a PPV of one trigger in one study), list of all triggers used, and for each trigger: type, PPV, positive trigger alerts and positive AEs. Data were independently extracted by two authors of this study. When the PPV was not provided, it was calculated by dividing the number of validated AEs by the number of positive triggers.

After extraction, similar or repeated triggers were standardized using one term: types of triggers were also reviewed and standardized using a classification mode based on the potential source of information. Classifications were: medication, laboratory, clinical intervention, clinical sign, administration or combination (when two triggers of two types were combined) (e.g. the trigger "drug level out of range" is classified as a laboratory type trigger because this piece of information would be found in laboratory data). The new terms and classifications of triggers were verified by another author of this article. We also classified triggers if they identify an AE potentially related to a medication (ADE) or only to care procedures. Only triggers that could identify ADEs were considered.

#### Synthesis of Results

A narrative synthesis of the data was completed by reporting the findings related to the study characteristics, trigger tools and individual triggers (qualitative methods). The PPV was chosen as the main parameter to describe the performances of the individual triggers, because it was the most commonly available in articles reviewed while designing this work. For each trigger,

all available PPVs were reported and the mean PPV was calculated. Due to the heterogeneity of triggers between the different trigger tools and the unavailability of adequate performance data on individual triggers, no further statistical analysis or meta-analysis was performed.

# **Trigger Assessment**

The included triggers were assessed according to their potential clinical use in a real-time detection system by two pediatricians. They were then classified into three categories: Warning triggers, Validation triggers and Reporting triggers. Warning triggers include triggers that are potentially usable for early-detection such as the administration of a high-risk medication, a risk factor or an early abnormal laboratory value. Validation triggers include triggers that are detectable after the occurrence of the ADE but enable the validation of a relationship with a drug. Reporting triggers include late-detection triggers of which the ADE has occurred and has been managed and the suspected medication was identified.

The interest of using warning triggers in a real-time detection system is to warn for a potential ADE in order to prevent it. Using validation triggers allows detecting ADEs and optimizing their management by identifying a potential relationship between the drug and the condition. The interest of using reporting triggers is to report and notify ADEs in a more efficient way than spontaneous reporting. So, all triggers would help improve the quality of care and hospital organization.

# **Quality Assessment**

Two reviewers independently conducted the quality assessment of each of the included studies using the method of the Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies (QUADAS-2) tool <sup>[26]</sup>. The time interval between the index test and the reference standard was not considered for the evaluation. The risk of bias was judged "high" when one or more signalling questions were answered negatively.

#### 3. Results

#### Description of the included studies

We identified 83 articles. After a review of titles and abstracts, we assessed 34 full-text articles of which 24 fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria and were included in the review. A review of the reference sections of the included articles identified six additional articles. In total, 30 articles were included <sup>[14,17,20–25,27–48]</sup> (Figure 1 - Table 1). The studies were published between 2006 and 2020.

The most commonly used method to detect triggers was chart review with 20 studies using it while10 used automated trigger tools.

In 23 studies, triggers were applied on a general pediatric population, 2 on acutely ill inpatients, 2 in pediatric intensive care units (PICUs), 1 in a neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), 1 in a pediatric otolaryngology service (ORL) and 1 in a psychiatric ward.

The number of triggers used in the studies varied between 3 and 88. Twenty-four studies provided information about the overall PPV of trigger tools. Overall PPVs varied from 2% to 49%. Twenty-one included studies provided information regarding individual PPVs. Studies were undertaken in 10 countries. Twenty studies were located in North America, four in Europe, two in South America, three in Asia and one in Africa. Fifteen studies focused on AEs in general, thirteen on ADEs, one on MEs and one on any type of harm (Table 1).

# Description of the included triggers

Nine hundred and sixty-six non-unique triggers were extracted. After the standardization process, 271 unique triggers were identified and 179 were included. The most common type of included triggers was laboratory abnormalities (51 triggers), 45 were related to medications, 42 to clinical signs, 18 to clinical interventions, 14 were combinations of triggers of 2 different types, and 9 were administrative data.

Two triggers were tested in more than 20 studies, 17 triggers were tested in 10 to 20 studies and 160 in fewer than 10 studies, of which 93 triggers were tested in one single study. Elevated anti-epileptic drug level, naloxone administration, early readmission and romazicon administration were the most frequently triggers studied (in 27, 23, 19 and 19 studies, respectively).

For 61 triggers (34%), no PPV was available in the included studies. The mean PPV for 26 triggers (14%) was 0. The mean PPV for 73 triggers (41%) was between 0 and 50. Only 19 triggers (11%) had a mean PPV of 50% or more, 5 of which had a PPV of 100% (i.e., anesthesia-related harm, medication reaction, hallucinations/delirium/ICU syndrome, phentolamine administration and urinary retention).

Sixty-eight triggers were classified as warning triggers. Eighty triggers were classified as verification triggers and 31 triggers were classified as reporting triggers. Figures 2,3 and 4 respectively show the warning triggers, the verification triggers and the reporting triggers for which a PPV is available and > 0 (a complete list of the triggers is presented in appendix A). Forty-six of the included triggers were created to detect an undefined ADE (e.g. anesthesia-related harm and medication reaction), while 133 triggers were designed to detect one or more defined ADEs (e.g. the 10 triggers related to bleeding that are presented in Figure 5: 8 of them are classed for warning and 2 are classed for verification).

# Quality assessment

Table 2 presents the methodological quality assessment (risk of bias) of the included studies. Two types of risk of bias were commonly found across the included studies. The first one concerned the reference standard (in 28 studies). The reference standard was usually a physician review, which was only performed when the index test (trigger test) was positive by reviewers aware of this positivity. The second risk of bias concerned patients' flow and timing (in 27 studies). Records with a negative trigger test did not receive a reference standard and were not considered for the performance analysis of triggers. The quality results regarding patient selection and index test as well as the applicability results were generally satisfactory (three or fewer high risks for each).

# 4. Discussion

About 38% of the identified triggers (i.e., warning triggers) could be used in the prevention of ADEs, although the studies do not particularly specify this utilisation. Some of the included triggers, which were well-studied and had a high mean PPV, were undefined (e.g., occurrence of a complication and abrupt medication stop).

The use of trigger tools in pediatrics is limited. Laboratory data provide the richest information source of triggers. The majority of identified triggers were employed in more than one study.

The performance indicated by the PPVs of the majority of included trigger was quite poor (PPV < 50). Generally, reporting triggers tend to perform better than verification triggers and verification triggers better than warning triggers. However, there are no specifically defined thresholds for the interpretation of a PPV. The seriousness and the severity of the related ADE have to be considered when selecting clinically relevant triggers. To be selected, a trigger for serious ADEs (e.g., death) may have a low PPV, whereas, for ADEs with a non-significant level of harm, the probability of affirming the presence of the ADE must be high. In order to refine triggers in some of the included studies, various limits were defined: Landrigan et al. chose triggers with a PPV  $\geq$  10% with a frequency  $\geq$ 10 occurrences <sup>[41]</sup> while Matlow, A. G. et al. eliminated triggers with a low PPV and a ratio of false-positive to true positive predictors > 0.7 <sup>[22]</sup>.

Bleeding, hypoglycemia, allergic reactions and drug intoxications were the most frequent ADEs identified when using triggers.

All mean PPVs of 100% reported in this study were related to 1 single study <sup>[31,34]</sup>. Selection of the best performing triggers needs to integrate the number of studies where the trigger was used and their sample sizes.

PPVs depend on the trigger, the type of population, and how the study was designed and conducted. The use of triggers in specific pediatric population looks promising; the overall PPVs of 4 specific-population studies (PICU, NICU, ORL, acutely ill patients) <sup>[24,29,45,47]</sup> were higher than the overall PPVs of 18 general population studies. Furthermore, Stockwell et al. showed that a notable increase of PPV is observed when triggers are well combined. The hypoglycemia trigger defined as "all serum glucose values less than 50 mg/dL" has a PPV between 0% and 38% <sup>[20,22,25,27,28]</sup> while the combined trigger "serum glucose values less than 50 mg/dL and insulin administration" has a PPV of 61% and 100% <sup>[29,30]</sup>. The adoption of a lower threshold of glucose level of 40mg/dL for the definition of hypoglycemia did not significantly improve the PPVs, which were of 28% and 56% <sup>[14,27]</sup>.

The combination of certain triggers enables to consider time and clinical context. For instance, the administration of an antihistamine as prophylaxis treatment to the hypersensitivity effect of certain drugs would not be associated with any ADE whereas the administration of an antihistamine in the existence of a drug-induced allergic reaction generates a valid ADE.

Lemon et al. assessed a trigger for anticoagulation-related ADEs through a combination of an International Normalized Ratio (INR) >4, an activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT)>100 seconds, Anti–Factor Xa Activity (anti-Xa)>1.5 IU/mL or administration of protamine. It has led to the restructuring and standardization of anticoagulation therapy protocols as well as the modification of thresholds <sup>[14]</sup>.

Some trigger PPVs differed largely across studies. The PPVs of 8 triggers ranged from 0 to 100%. This could be explained by the type of hospital units involved, whether a manual or automated tool was used, the duration of the study and the type of patients. For example,

naloxone administration had a PPV ranging from 0% to 78% <sup>[14,20–22,27,29,31–34]</sup> and flumazenil administration a PPV ranging from 0% to 100%<sup>[14,17,20,29,31–33]</sup>. It seems that in these situations PPVs were higher when using an automated trigger tool. These findings suggest that the triggers need to be tested more in pediatrics in order to get better estimations of their performances in this context.

A complete examination of patient records is an essential step to validate the existence of an ADE when a positive trigger is identified. It also allows us to determine the nature of the ADE (ADR or ME), the severity, the drug causality and the preventability using specific evaluation methods. For example, reviewing data on drug administrations, calculations, prescriptions and patient characteristics is necessary to determine whether the bleeding event associated with a vitamin K administration trigger resulted from a dose calculation error, an administration error, a preparation error, a drug interaction or happened during a standard anticoagulant dosing adjustment. Since medication errors are common in pediatric patients <sup>[49,50]</sup>, triggers could be used in order to detect harmful medication errors and take corrective actions. However, the examination of ADEs through trigger tools has a tendency to concentrate on patient harm rather than errors <sup>[33]</sup>.

In this paper, in addition to identifying triggers, they were also classified considering the clinical relevance for their use in daily practice. However, selecting clinically relevant triggers for internal use and defining each trigger is recommended before implementing the method in daily practice detection. After selecting triggers, an internal feasibility evaluation considering detectability of selected triggers from the internal electronic data records, expected number of positive triggers, estimated time needed per trigger, available human resources and the possibility of an automated transmission could be necessary. Proper training of in-depth reviewing of patient's records would be probably needed.

Our study has several limitations. The interpretation of the mean PPVs of triggers could be biased since it does not consider the sample sizes of the studies. However, the recommended meta-analysis methods for such diagnostic test should combine either specificity and sensitivity parameters or PPV and NPV. The information provided on individual triggers by the included studies does not allow performing any of these methods. Indeed, the sensitivity and specificity provided in some studies concerned only the entire trigger tool used.

Another potential limitation is that we grouped biological triggers that were employed with various definitions across the studies as part of the standardization of term process. This point may have influenced the mean PPV since a trigger with narrower limits is expected to have a higher PPV. For example, the category "high serum partial thromboplastin time (PTT) trigger" gathered 13 PTT >100 seconds, 1 PTT >140 seconds and 1 PTT with no threshold mentioned. However, the integration of the PTT >140 seconds trigger did not appear to highly influence the total PPV in this example (from 24% to 28%).

The included studies were mainly performed in the United States of America where the population and settings differ from other countries, which limits the applicability of these studies' findings in other countries. We suggest considering the clinical relevance of triggers in the first place in any selection of triggers to be tested or applied in a hospital.

The search for studies was carried out on one single database (Medline), which could restrict the number of publications. However, Halladay et al. suggested that it may have little impact <sup>[51]</sup>.

The physician's judgment is considered as a reference standard for the determination of the causative relation of an adverse event <sup>[52]</sup>. The quality of determination varied between studies. For example: Mouton et al. used a multidisciplinary experienced team <sup>[36]</sup>, Stockwell et al. used a multi-phase assessment by physician-reviewers <sup>[27]</sup> while Kilbridge et al. used a single-stage assessment performed by pharmacists only <sup>[29]</sup>.

The detection process of triggers with a high PPV has the potential of being fully automated in practice <sup>[52]</sup>. The automation of trigger tools could enable a continuous and more exhaustive detection of ADEs and offers additional advantages like saving time, allowing real-time intervention when facing ADE, better understanding ADEs and improving their outcome <sup>[8,15],[9,14]</sup>. In three of the included studies, a near real-time detection system was established based on automated triggers and daily review of positive triggers by a specialist <sup>[14,32,44]</sup>.

Further research would focus on diagnostic and prognostic models for semi-automatic or automatic detection and prevention of clinically significant ADEs. Diagnostic models using combinations of triggers and considering the clinical context of hospitalized children may increase the performance of ADE detection, help identify new risk factors of ADE, and contribute to early detection and prevention of severe ADE. The prognostic models would be useful for the proactive prevention of ADE.

Our aim for further research is to develop a model combining a selection of triggers relevant to clinical practice to detect related ADEs, and to implement a tool in the hospital information system to screen electronic patient data on a continuous basis. In summary, ADEs would be reported in a time-efficient manner, reducing the burden of filling in voluntary reports. Corrective actions will be implemented to improve the model, in case of false positive results. Care delivery could be performed earlier and ADE impact may be mitigated. Underreporting may also be investigated leading to a better estimate of ADE incidence and to the implementation of preventative actions to reduce their rate. The clinical utility of such models should then be assessed in clinical trials.

# Conclusion

We found articles identifying many triggers, with very varying performances across studies; further studies are needed in children to assess precisely triggers' performances. As diagnostic test performances are measured primarily using their sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV; similarly, the use of these parameters should be generalized to evaluate triggers' performances in future studies. The detection of ADEs through computerized triggers and/or real-time detection systems remains an emerging field, very much needed in children especially, due to frequent off-label use. This study proposes the use of three types of triggers for ADE early-detection and prevention, validation and reporting. We suggest that significant PPV thresholds based on the severity of the ADEs could be defined.

# Acknowledgements:

We thank Dr Muriel Rabilloud for her support and her contribution in editing and reviewing the final manuscript as well as Linh Phuong for her participation in assessing the quality of the included studies. We would like to thank Gaëlle Siméon (LBBE-UMR5558 CNRS) for her suport in English writing and editing.

This study was supported by the Programme PAUSE (Collège de France) and the Open Health Institute. Both sponsors had no role in the study design and conduct.

# **Disclosure of interests:**

The authors declare that they have no competing interest


# Figure 1: Flow diagram for selection of articles

First Author Last Name	No. of Triggers	Overall PPV (%) (AE+/Triggers+)	Individu al PPV (%) [Min- Max]	Country
Automated trigger tool Stockwell et al. [31] Fortenberry et al. [38] Ivashchenko et al. [37] Ferranti et al. [32] Patregnani et al. [42] Kilbridge et al. [29] Long et al. [30] Call et al. [23] Lemon et al. [14] Kirkendall et al. [44]	22 <sup>a</sup> 12 18 57 <sup>d</sup> 4 32 11 6 18 3	34.4 (3,264/9,492) <sup>b</sup> 27.5 (1,055/3,836) 19.5 (51/261) 5.1 (78/1,537) <sup>e</sup> 2 (33/1,664) 49 (60/1,226) 6.2 (14/225) 16.1 (114/706) 26.6 (2,441/9,143) No data	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & -100 \end{bmatrix}^{\circ} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -100 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -100 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -23 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -100 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -61 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -61 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -60 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 2.3 & -92.5 \end{bmatrix} \\ \text{No data}$	USA USA Russia USA USA USA USA USA USA
Manual trigger tool Solevag et al. [43] Landrigan et al. [41] Stockwell et al. [27] Kirkendall et al. [20] Larsen et al. [46] Ji et al. [25] Maaskant et al. [39]	39 <sup>t</sup> 54 <sup>h</sup> 51 <sup>i</sup> 52 29 31 17 <sup>j</sup>	19.8 (48/242) <sup>g</sup> No data 22 (240/1,093) 21.8 (88/404) No data 13.3 (304/2,291) 2.8 (19/688)	[0—100] No data [0-92.3] [0—100] No data [0—100] [0—84]	Norway USA USA USA USA China The Natherlands
Mouton et al. [36] Lander et al. [45] Stroupe et al. [40] Davenport et al. [28] Unbeck et al. [34] Matlow et al. [22] Sharek et al. [47] Nydert et al. [35] Agarwal et al. [24] Takata et al. [21] Chapman et al. [33] Takata et al. [17]	72 42 54 52 88 <sup>k</sup> 47 <sup>1</sup> 17 88 22 11 40 15	No data 39 (92/236) 44.4 (20/45) <sup>e</sup> 18 (52/289) 22.9 (824/3,598) No data <sup>m</sup> 38 (841/2,218) No data 44 (1,250/2,816) 4.7 (79/1,669) 13.9 (1,001/7,199) 3.7 (89/2,388)	No data No data [0—100] [0—100] [0—83] [8—100] No data [20—100] No data [0—80] [0—20]	South Africa USA USA Argentina Sweden Canada USA Sweden USA USA USA UK USA
Liu et al. [48]	33	24.9 (98/394)	[0-100]	China

#### Table 1: Summary of the studies included in the systematic review

PPV: positive predictive value.

PPV: positive predictive value.
a 15 and 7 triggers in both hospitals.
PPV = 23.5 and PPV = 86.2 in both hospitals.
c [0-96.4] and [0-100] in both hospitals.
d 23 triggers identified.
e Overall PPV is calculated.
f Only 20 of 39 triggers were identified in the study.
g PPV (admissions) = 23.2% and PPV (outpatient care) = 10.8%.
h the 54 triggers were refined to 27 used in the study, the entire list of triggers was considered for this review.
g 6 triggers were identified.
J only 2 triggers were identified.

J only 2 triggers were identified.
k 29 triggers selected in the final trigger tool.
l 35 triggers selected in the final trigger tool.

<sup>m</sup> Sensitivity = 0.88 (% of trigger-positive charts that physicians judged to have an ADE) and specificity = 0.44(% trigger-negative chartsthat had no ADE according to physicians' review). AE: adverse event. ADE: adverse drug event.

Study	Risk of bias Applicability					concerns	
	Patient selection	Index test	Reference standard	Flow and timing	Patient selection	Index test	Reference standard
	selection	eese	Stundur u	uning	Selection	cest	Standar a
Stockwell et al. [31]			8	8			
Fortenberry et al. <sup>[38]</sup>	8		8	8	8		
Ivashchenko et al. <sup>[37]</sup>			8	8			
Ferranti et al. <sup>[32]</sup>		$\odot$	8	8		$\odot$	
Patregnani et al. [42]			8	8			
Kilbridge et al. <sup>[29]</sup>			8	8			
Long et al. <sup>[30]</sup>		$\odot$	8	8			
Call et al. <sup>[23]</sup>		$\odot$	8	8			$\odot$
Lemon et al. <sup>[14]</sup>		$\odot$	8	8		0	
Kirkendall et al. <sup>[44]</sup>			8	<mark>?</mark>			
Solevag et al. <sup>[43]</sup>	8		8	8	$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$	8	
Landrigan et al. <sup>[41]</sup>			8	8			
Stockwell et al. [27]			8	8			
Kirkendall et al. <sup>[20]</sup>			8	8			
Larsen et al. <sup>[46]</sup>			8	8			
Ji et al. <sup>[25]</sup>			8	8			
Maaskant et al. [39]			8	8			
Mouton et al. [36]		$\odot$	8	8			$\odot$
Lander et al. <sup>[45]</sup>		$\odot$					
Stroupe et al. <sup>[40]</sup>	8	$\odot$	8	8			
Davenport et al. [28]			8	8			
Unbeck et al. [34]		$\odot$	8	8	$\odot$		
Matlow et al. <sup>[22]</sup>		$\odot$					
Sharek et al. <sup>[47]</sup>			8	8			
Nydert et al. <sup>[35]</sup>			8	8			O
Agarwal et al. [24]			8	8			
Takata et al. <sup>[21]</sup>			8	8			0
Chapman et al. [33]			8	8			
Takata et al. <sup>[17]</sup>		$\odot$	8	8			$\odot$
Liu et al <sup>[48]</sup>			8	8			
⊖Low Risk	<mark>8</mark> High Risk	<mark>?</mark> U	nclear Risk	*Quality As	sessment of	Diagno	stic Accuracy

# Table 4: Risk of bias summary of the included studies according to the QUADAS-2\* tool

Studies





PPV: Positive predictive value. PTT: partial thromboplastin time. INR: international normalized ratio. This figure presents 36 identified triggers classified as Warning triggers in our review, of which 1 PPV at least was available (complete list of the identified triggers is presented in appendix A). Each discontinued line links the different identified PPVs of one trigger:  $\blacklozenge$  is the mean PPV (%) of the trigger calculated by the author and  $\bullet$  is an extracted PPV (%) of the trigger per study





PPV: positive predictive value. ICU: intensive care unit . This figure presents 40 identified triggers classified as Verification triggers in our review, of which one PPV at least was available (complete list of the identified triggers is presented in appendix A). Each discontinued line links the different identified PPVs of one trigger: • is the mean PPV (%) of the trigger calculated by the author and • is an extracted PPV (%) of the trigger per study





PPV: positive predictive value. This figure presents 16 identified triggers classified as Reporting triggers in our review, of which 1 PPV at least was available (complete list of the identified triggers is presented in appendix A). Each discontinued line links the different identified PPVs of one trigger:  $\blacklozenge$  is the mean PPV (%) of the trigger calculated by the author and  $\bullet$  is an extracted PPV (%) of the trigger per study.



Figure 5: Bleeding-related triggers of available PPV, and PPV > 0

PPV: Positive predictive value. PTT: partial thromboplastin time. INR: international normalized ratio.

This figure presents 10 identified triggers used to detect drug-induced bleeding, of which one PPV at least was available (complete list of the identified triggers is presented in appendix A). Eight bleeding related triggers were classified as Warning triggers in this review while two were classified as Verification triggers. Each discontinued line links the different identified PPVs of one trigger:  $\blacklozenge$  is the mean PPV (%) of the trigger calculated by the author and  $\bullet$  is an extracted PPV (%) of the trigger per study.

# References

1. Kongkaew C, Noyce PR, Ashcroft DM. Hospital admissions associated with adverse drug reactions: a systematic review of prospective observational studies. Ann Pharmacother 2008;42(7):1017–25.

2. Aronson JK, Ferner RE. Clarification of terminology in drug safety. Drug Saf 2005;28(10):851–70.

3. WHO Meeting on International Drug Monitoring: the Role of National Centres (1971: Geneva S, Organization WH. International drug monitoring : the role of national centres , report of a WHO meeting [held in Geneva from 20 to 25 September 1971] [Internet]. World Health Organization; 1972 [cited 2021 Mar 9]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/40968

4. Morimoto - 2004 - Adverse drug events and medication errors detecti.pdf [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 1];Available from: https://www.nccmerp.org/sites/default/files/nccmerp fact sheet 2015-02-v91.pdf

5. Nguyen HKA. Estimation du rapport bénéfice-risque du traitement médicamenteux en pédiatrie et en néonatologie à travers des approches pharmacoépidémiologiques, pharmacométriques et méta-analytiques [Internet]. http://www.theses.fr2012 [cited 2020 Apr 1];Available from: http://www.theses.fr/2012LYO10321

6. Autret-Leca E, Marchand M-S, Cissoko H, Beau-Salinas F, Jonville-Béra A-P. Pharmacovigilance en pédiatrie. /data/revues/0929693X/v19i8/S0929693X12002436/ [Internet] 2012 [cited 2020 Mar 31];Available from: https://www.emconsulte.com/en/article/740453

7. Griffin F, Resar R. IHI Global Trigger Tool for Measuring Adverse Events (Second Edition) | IHI - Institute for Healthcare Improvement [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Apr 1];Available from:

http://www.ihi.org:80/resources/Pages/IHIWhitePapers/IHIGlobalTriggerToolWhitePaper.asp x

8. Resar RK, Rozich JD, Classen D. Methodology and rationale for the measurement of harm with trigger tools. Qual Saf Health Care 2003;12 Suppl 2:ii39-45.

9. Meyer-Massetti C, Cheng CM, Schwappach DLB, Paulsen L, Ide B, Meier CR, et al. Systematic review of medication safety assessment methods. Am J Health-Syst Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Health-Syst Pharm 2011;68(3):227–40.

10. Marseau F, Prud'Homm J, Bouzillé G, Polard E, Oger E, Somme D, et al. The Trigger Tool Method for Routine Pharmacovigilance: A Retrospective Cohort Study of the Medical Records of Hospitalized Geriatric Patients. J Patient Saf [Internet] 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 4];Publish Ahead of Print. Available from: https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-03246129

11. Jha AK, Kuperman GJ, Teich JM, Leape L, Shea B, Rittenberg E, et al. Identifying adverse drug events: development of a computer-based monitor and comparison with chart review and stimulated voluntary report. J Am Med Inform Assoc JAMIA 1998;5(3):305–14.

12. Institute for Healthcare Improvement: Introduction to Trigger Tools for Identifying Adverse Events [Internet]. [cited 2014 Oct 8];Available from: http://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/Tools/IntrotoTriggerToolsforIdentifyingAEs.aspx

13. Griffin FA, Resar RK. IHI Global Trigger Tool for Measuring Adverse Events (Second edition). 2009;

14. Lemon V, Stockwell DC. Automated detection of adverse events in children. Pediatr Clin North Am 2012;59(6):1269–78.

15. Recherche d'événements triggersd'analyse de risque [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 1];Available from: http://has-sante.fr/upload/docs/application/pdf/2012-04/fiche15.pdf

16. Parikh R, Mathai A, Parikh S, Chandra Sekhar G, Thomas R. Understanding and using sensitivity, specificity and predictive values. Indian J Ophthalmol 2008;56(1):45–50.

17. Takata GS, Mason W, Taketomo C, Logsdon T, Sharek PJ. Development, testing, and findings of a pediatric-focused trigger tool to identify medication-related harm in US children's hospitals. Pediatrics 2008;121(4):e927-935.

18. Classen DC, Resar R, Griffin F, Federico F, Frankel T, Kimmel N, et al. "Global trigger tool" shows that adverse events in hospitals may be ten times greater than previously measured. Health Aff Proj Hope 2011;30(4):581–9.

19. Matlow A, Flintoft V, Orrbine E, Brady-Fryer B, Cronin CMG, Nijssen-Jordan C, et al. The development of the Canadian paediatric trigger tool for identifying potential adverse events. Healthc Q Tor Ont 2005;8 Spec No:90–3.

20. Kirkendall ES, Kloppenborg E, Papp J, White D, Frese C, Hacker D, et al. Measuring adverse events and levels of harm in pediatric inpatients with the Global Trigger Tool. Pediatrics 2012;130(5):e1206-1214.

21. Takata GS, Taketomo CK, Waite S, California Pediatric Patient Safety Initiative. Characteristics of medication errors and adverse drug events in hospitals participating in the California Pediatric Patient Safety Initiative. Am J Health-Syst Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Health-Syst Pharm 2008;65(21):2036–44.

22. Matlow AG, Cronin CMG, Flintoft V, Nijssen-Jordan C, Fleming M, Brady-Fryer B, et al. Description of the development and validation of the Canadian Paediatric Trigger Tool. BMJ Qual Saf 2011;20(5):416–23.

23. Call RJ, Burlison JD, Robertson JJ, Scott JR, Baker DK, Rossi MG, et al. Adverse drug event detection in pediatric oncology and hematology patients: using medication triggers to identify patient harm in a specialized pediatric patient population. J Pediatr 2014;165(3):447-452.e4.

24. Agarwal S, Classen D, Larsen G, Tofil NM, Hayes LW, Sullivan JE, et al. Prevalence of adverse events in pediatric intensive care units in the United States. Pediatr Crit Care Med J Soc Crit Care Med World Fed Pediatr Intensive Crit Care Soc 2010;11(5):568–78.

25. Ji H-H, Song L, Xiao J-W, Guo Y-X, Wei P, Tang T-T, et al. Adverse drug events in Chinese pediatric inpatients and associated risk factors: a retrospective review using the Global Trigger Tool. Sci Rep 2018;8(1):2573.

26. Whiting PF, Rutjes AWS, Westwood ME, Mallett S, Deeks JJ, Reitsma JB, et al. QUADAS-2: A Revised Tool for the Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies. Ann Intern Med 2011;155(8):529–36.

27. Stockwell DC, Bisarya H, Classen DC, Kirkendall ES, Landrigan CP, Lemon V, et al. A trigger tool to detect harm in pediatric inpatient settings. Pediatrics 2015;135(6):1036–42.

28. Davenport MC, Domínguez PA, Ferreira JP, Kannemann AL, Paganini A, Torres FA. Measuring adverse events in pediatric inpatients with the Global Trigger Tool. Arch Argent Pediatr 2017;115(4):357–63.

29. Kilbridge PM, Noirot LA, Reichley RM, Berchelmann KM, Schneider C, Heard KM, et al. Computerized surveillance for adverse drug events in a pediatric hospital. J Am Med Inform Assoc JAMIA 2009;16(5):607–12.

30. Long AL, Horvath MM, Cozart H, Eckstrand J, Whitehurst J, Ferranti J. Tailoring adverse drug event surveillance to the paediatric inpatient. Qual Saf Health Care 2010;19(5):e40.

31. Stockwell DC, Kirkendall E, Muething SE, Kloppenborg E, Vinodrao H, Jacobs BR. Automated adverse event detection collaborative: electronic adverse event identification,

classification, and corrective actions across academic pediatric institutions. J Patient Saf 2013;9(4):203-10.

32. Ferranti J, Horvath MM, Cozart H, Whitehurst J, Eckstrand J. Reevaluating the safety profile of pediatrics: a comparison of computerized adverse drug event surveillance and voluntary reporting in the pediatric environment. Pediatrics 2008;121(5):e1201-1207.

33. Chapman SM, Fitzsimons J, Davey N, Lachman P. Prevalence and severity of patient harm in a sample of UK-hospitalised children detected by the Paediatric Trigger Tool. BMJ Open 2014;4(7):e005066.

34. Unbeck M, Lindemalm S, Nydert P, Ygge B-M, Nylén U, Berglund C, et al. Validation of triggers and development of a pediatric trigger tool to identify adverse events. BMC Health Serv Res 2014;14:655.

35. Nydert P, Unbeck M, Pukk Härenstam K, Norman M, Lindemalm S. Drug Use and Type of Adverse Drug Events-Identified by a Trigger Tool in Different Units in a Swedish Pediatric Hospital. Drug Healthc Patient Saf 2020;12:31–40.

36. Mouton JP, Fortuin-de Smidt MC, Jobanputra N, Mehta U, Stewart A, de Waal R, et al. Serious adverse drug reactions at two children's hospitals in South Africa. BMC Pediatr 2020;20(1):3.

37. Ivashchenko D, Buromskaya N, Savchenko L, Shevchenko Y, Sychev D. Global trigger tool in child psychiatry: Treatment safety evaluation in adolescents with an acute psychotic episode. Int J Risk Saf Med 2020;31(1):25–35.

38. Fortenberry M, Odinet J, Shah P, McKinzie C, Murphy K, Faircloth CB, et al. Development of an electronic trigger tool at a children's hospital within an academic medical center. Am J Health-Syst Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Health-Syst Pharm 2019;76(Supplement\_4):S107–13.

39. Maaskant JM, Smeulers M, Bosman D, Busink A, van Rijn-Bikker P, van Aalderen W, et al. The Trigger Tool as a Method to Measure Harmful Medication Errors in Children. J Patient Saf 2018;14(2):95–100.

40. Stroupe LM, Patra KP, Dai Z, Lancaster J, Ahmed A, Merti E, et al. Measuring Harm in Hospitalized Children via a Trigger Tool. J Pediatr Nurs 2017;

41. Landrigan CP, Stockwell D, Toomey SL, Loren S, Tracy M, Jang J, et al. Performance of the Global Assessment of Pediatric Patient Safety (GAPPS) Tool. Pediatrics 2016;137(6).

42. Patregnani JT, Spaeder MC, Lemon V, Diab Y, Klugman D, Stockwell DC. Monitoring the harm associated with use of anticoagulants in pediatric populations through trigger-based automated adverse-event detection. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2015;41(3):108–14.

43. Solevåg AL, Nakstad B. Utility of a Paediatric Trigger Tool in a Norwegian department of paediatric and adolescent medicine. BMJ Open 2014;4(5):e005011.

44. Kirkendall ES, Spires WL, Mottes TA, Schaffzin JK, Barclay C, Goldstein SL. Development and Performance of Electronic Acute Kidney Injury Triggers to Identify Pediatric Patients at Risk for Nephrotoxic Medication-Associated Harm. Appl Clin Inform 2014;5(2):313–33.

45. Lander L, Roberson DW, Plummer KM, Forbes PW, Healy GB, Shah RK. A trigger tool fails to identify serious errors and adverse events in pediatric otolaryngology. Otolaryngol--Head Neck Surg Off J Am Acad Otolaryngol-Head Neck Surg 2010;143(4):480–6.

46. Larsen GY, Donaldson AE, Parker HB, Grant MJC. Preventable harm occurring to critically ill children. Pediatr Crit Care Med J Soc Crit Care Med World Fed Pediatr Intensive Crit Care Soc 2007;8(4):331–6.

47. Sharek PJ, Horbar JD, Mason W, Bisarya H, Thurm CW, Suresh G, et al. Adverse events in the neonatal intensive care unit: development, testing, and findings of an NICU-focused trigger tool to identify harm in North American NICUs. Pediatrics 2006;118(4):1332–40.

48. Liu Y, Yan J, Xie Y, Bian Y. Establishment of a pediatric trigger tool based on Global Trigger Tool to identify adverse drug events of children: experience in a Chinese hospital. BMC Pediatr 2020;20(1):454.

49. Feyissa D, Kebede B, Zewudie A, Mamo Y. Medication Error and Its Contributing Factors Among Pediatric Patients Diagnosed with Infectious Diseases Admitted to Jimma University Medical Center, Southwest Ethiopia: Prospective Observational Study. Integr Pharm Res Pract 2020;9:147–53.

50. Izadpanah F, Nikfar S, Bakhshi Imcheh F, Amini M, Zargaran M. Assessment of Frequency and Causes of Medication Errors in Pediatrics and Emergency Wards of Teaching Hospitals Affiliated to Tehran University of Medical Sciences (24 Hospitals). J Med Life 2018;11(4):299–305.

51. Halladay CW, Trikalinos TA, Schmid IT, Schmid CH, Dahabreh IJ. Using data sources beyond PubMed has a modest impact on the results of systematic reviews of therapeutic interventions. J Clin Epidemiol 2015;68(9):1076–84.

52. Murff HJ, Patel VL, Hripcsak G, Bates DW. Detecting adverse events for patient safety research: a review of current methodologies. J Biomed Inform 2003;36(1):131–43.

53. Matlow AG, Cronin CMG, Flintoft V, Nijssen-Jordan C, Fleming M, Brady-Fryer B, et al. Description of the development and validation of the Canadian Paediatric Trigger Tool. BMJ Qual Saf 2011;20(5):416–23.



# CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY

# (Article II) Replacing liquid with solid dosage forms in pediatric practice: Feasibility and economic impact from a hospital-based study

# Rama Arab<sup>a,\*</sup>, Behrouz Kassai<sup>a,b</sup>, Roubi Kilo<sup>a</sup>, Catherine Cornu<sup>b</sup>, Elisabete Gomes<sup>c</sup>, Tristan Dagonneau<sup>d</sup>, EREMI group

 <sup>a</sup> Laboratoire de biométrie et biologie évolutive, CNRS, UMR 5558, Équipe EME, université deClaude Bernard Lyon 1, 8, rue Guillaume Paradin, Bât B, 69008 Lyon, France
 <sup>b</sup> Department of Clinical Epdiemiology, Clinical Investigation Centre CIC-Inserm 1407,

EPICIME, Hospices Civils de Lyon, 69500 Bron, France

<sup>c</sup> Toxicovigilance and Poison Center Control Est, Centre Hospitalier Régional Universitaire deNancy, 54100 Nancy, France

<sup>d</sup> Department of Medical Information, Hospices Civils de Lyon, 69003 Lyon, France Received 25 May 2021; accepted 17 December 2021

#### **KEYWORDS**

Drug formulation; Paediatric; Swallowing; Substitution to solidform

# Summary

*Aim of the study.* — To identify the 10 drugs most frequently administered to children in liquid dosage forms which are eligible for replacement with suitable authorized solid dosage forms and to assess the expected economic impact of this substitution.

*Methods.* — The health record data from 312,152 oral drug administrations were analyzed. Ten drugs were selected according to their frequency of administration in liquid dosage forms, the availability of solid form alternatives, and the suitability of these alternatives for the children receiving the corresponding liquid forms. Potential hospital cost savings of the suggested substitutions were calculated.

*Results.* — The 10 drugs identified as most frequently administered and for which suitable solid forms were available were: paracetamol, cyamemazine, valproic acid, clonazepam, furosemide, prazepam, hydroxyzine, alfacalcidol, amitriptyline, and levetiracetam. Thirty-four point six of the administrations of these drugs in liquid dosage forms could be delivered using suitable solid dosage forms without additional cost.

*Conclusion.* — Opportunities exist for substituting liquid dosage forms with market-available solid dosage forms suitable in size and dosage for the pediatric population.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$  2022 Société française de pharmacologie et de thérapeutique. Published by Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserve

## 1. Introduction

The need for age-appropriate dosage forms in pediatric patients has been a major concern for the pediatric community since the Paediatric Regulation (EC) No. 1901/2006<sup>[1]</sup> was adopted. The development of age-appropriate formulations has constituted a challenge for pharmaceutical scientists <sup>[2,3]</sup>, since such forms must be easily produced, cost-effective, and commercially viable<sup>[1]</sup>.

The ideal dosage form for pediatric use should permit accurate dose administration, minimize dosing frequency, limit impact on lifestyle, reduce the risk of medication errors, and contain only safe excipients <sup>[1,2,4]</sup>. Dosage forms available in pediatric doses are scant, and many formulations are therefore used off-label in children <sup>[5]</sup>.

Due to their dosing flexibility and high swallowability, liquid dosage forms (i.e. solutions, syrups, suspensions, and emulsions) are usually recommended for young children unable to swallow <sup>[6]</sup>. However, liquid dosage forms exhibit some major disadvantages in comparison to solid dosage forms, such as poor stability, taste masking difficulties, low transportability, and excipients inappropriate for children <sup>[1,2,7,8]</sup>. Dosing errors are more likely when using liquid dosage forms (i.e., inhomogeneous distribution in suspensions, errors in counting drops, incorrect calculation or measurement of liquid volume) <sup>[9]</sup>.

Oral solid dosage forms are considered more suitable for children's everyday life (i.e., easy to transport and store), do not usually require using a dosing tool, and allow low dosing frequency, which can enhance drug compliance <sup>[9,10]</sup>.

Liquid dosage forms remain the most frequently administered oral forms in children, even for ages 6 years and older <sup>[11]</sup>. The inadaptability of solid dosage forms for pediatric use <sup>[3,12]</sup> and the inability of some children to swallow a tablet or a capsule are presented by healthcare professionals as the main limitations to the use of solid dosage forms in children under 6

years<sup>[5,13]</sup>, and even under 7.3 years according to nurses <sup>[10]</sup>. Many studies, however, have reported good acceptability of mini-tablets for these age ranges <sup>[14]</sup>. Single-unit dosage forms for reconstitution (i.e., dispersible tablets, powders, granules, pellets, or sprinkles) are effective delivery strategies, as they maximize the advantages of the conventional solid dosage forms while providing better swallowability and greater dosing flexibility <sup>[1,9]</sup>.

A recent study, using prescription data over a one-week period in a hospital in England, showed that two-thirds of the liquid dosage forms administered in children over 2 years old could have been substituted with suitable solid dosage forms<sup>[15]</sup>.

In a previous study, we reported a low use of solid dosage forms in our hospital and a need for more research on the acceptability of oral solid dosage forms in children <sup>[11]</sup>.

The first objective of this study was to identify the 10 drugs most frequently administered to children in liquid dosage forms eligible for replacement with suitable authorized solid dosage forms (i.e., easy to swallow and available in the proper dosage). The second objective was to assess the expected economic impact of this potential substitution.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Data sources

This study was conducted on data collected over a 3-year period (February 6, 2013 – February 5, 2016) within the pediatric unit of the teaching hospitals in Lyon, France (*Hôpital Femme Mère Enfant*, HFME). Information on oral drugs administered to hospitalized children was provided by the EREMI study database. EREMI is a prospective cohort of children staying at the hospital for more than 3 days, which assesses the relationship between adverse drug reactions and unlicensed or off-label drug use in hospitalized children. The EREMI database automatically and prospectively collects data on drugs administered to children between the ages of 0 and 15 years and receiving at least one drug during their hospital stay. For all children

included, our Hospital Information System (HIS) provides data on every drug and on the children's characteristics (i.e., age, weight, height) at every administration. Labile blood products, investigational drugs, and electrolyte solutions are not included in the EREMI study. All study data are coded using untraceable anonymized numbers to respect the confidentiality of children's information. Approval for this observational study was obtained from the National Data Protection Agency (*Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés*, CNIL, Ref. MMS/MTE/AR1411279) and the Advisory Committee for Data Processing in Health Research (*Comité Consultatif sur le Traitement de l'Information en matière de Recherche dans le domaine de la Santé*, CCTIRS, Ref. 13.546).

All information about available dosage forms and their prices was retrieved from the institution's drug formulary.

Solid form sizes were retrieved from the information file for drug identification maintained by the Poison Control Center (*Centre Antipoison et de Toxicovigilance*) in Nancy, France.

The EREMI database contains information on drugs, administration circumstances, and patients. The drug information extracted was (i) trade name, (ii) International Nonproprietary Name (INN), (iii) drug Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Class (ATC), (iv) drug dosage form, (v) total number of administrations, and (vi) code of Common Unit of Dispensation (CUD). The information on administration extracted concerned (i) quantity administered, (ii) measurement unit, (iii) time of administration, and (iv) route of administration. The patient information collected was sex, age, height, and weight at each administration.

#### 2.2 Data analysis

The data recorded over 3 years were analyzed in terms of route of administration, dosage form (i.e., solid, liquid, dispersible solid form, and others), number of active ingredients, and type of preparation (i.e., industrial manufacture and extemporaneous preparation). Liquid dosage forms

included solutions, syrups, suspensions, and emulsions. The general stages of data processing are presented in figure 1A.

## **2.3 Drug selection**

The criteria for identifying oral liquid dosage drugs which could be potentially substituted with solid forms were: containing a single active ingredient, industrially manufactured, available in at least one solid dosage form in the hospital pharmacy.

Data concerning children who could not even receive the minimal dosage of a given solid form (i.e. younger than the authorized age, lighter than the authorized weight, unable to swallow the smallest tablet) were discarded from the drug selection analysis. We then selected the 10 most frequently administered drugs which were eligible for a thorough substitution assessment.

The Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) was used to identify authorized age groups and the Clinical Investigation of Medicinal Products in the Pediatric Population guidance was used to identify the age range for each category (newborns, infants, etc.) <sup>[16]</sup>. The Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) guideline was used to identify at what age children could swallow the minimum dose tablets <sup>[9]</sup>. Of note, when the minimum dose was achieved by tablet division, half of the diameter was considered.

## 2.4 Substitution assessment

In order to determine the age/weight categories of eligible patients for each drug and administration substitution, the dosage acceptability and then the size suitability of the available solid dosage forms for the patients receiving the liquid dosage forms were assessed (figure 1B). The substitution analysis aimed to determine, for each of the 10 drugs identified as most frequently administered to children and eligible for substitution with authorized suitable alternative solid forms, the number of administrations for which a suitable solid form was possible referred to herein as substitution frequency.

#### 2.4.1 Dosage acceptability

First, all daily doses achievable using the available solid dosage form(s) were identified. During this step, the recommended dosing frequency was followed, the division of breakable tablets (when accepted in the SmPC) was allowed, but the combination of two different solid dosage forms was not. The weight and age ranges of patients who could receive these daily doses were then determined according to the recommended posology provided by the SmPC.

Secondly, the number of administrations using liquid dosage forms performed in these weight/age ranges was determined.

When more than one daily dose was possible for a patient, the minimum dose was considered for the substitution analysis. It was decided that all solid dosage forms should be taken without further manipulation (e.g., no tablet crushing or capsule opening). Missing data concerning body weight were replaced using the Last Observation Carried Forward technique during the same hospital stay for a given patient. When age or weight could not be replaced, administrations were not assessed.

## 2.4.2 Size suitability

For every substitution that was possible in terms of dosage, the size suitability of the alternative solid form or, in other words, the children's ability to swallow it, was assessed. The age of the children at the time of administration was confronted with the size of the suggested solid dosage form. The standards from the Pharmaceutical Development of Medicines for Paediatric Use <sup>[9]</sup> guidelines were then used to determine if the solid dosage form was suitable (i.e., 3–5 mm diameter tablets are acceptable above 2 years , 5–10 mm diameter tablets are acceptable above 6 years, 10–15 mm diameter tablets are acceptable for the entire pediatric population under 18 years of age).

#### **2.5 Economic impact**

For each drug, the cost of every suggested daily dose using the solid dosage form was compared with the cost of the same daily dose using the liquid dosage form. The cost difference of the substitution was then calculated. Potential cost savings for the hospital were also calculated, assuming that this substitution was performed at every opportunity of substitution identified. This calculation was done by multiplying the cost difference of every daily dose by the number of real treatment days of the concerned patients. The sum of these values represents the potential cost difference for the hospital over the 3-year analysis period.

It was assumed that no medication waste occurred (all tablet sections were administered when a tablet division was needed and that the total amount of liquid in the bottles was administered in liquid dosage forms).

#### 3. Results

Data on 488,762 administrations were recorded between February 6, 2013 and February 5, 2016. As shown in figure 2, a total of 121,274 oral administrations using liquid dosage forms (female: 58,737 and male: 62,538) from 129 different industrially manufactured drugs were identified over 3 years. They were given to 3,402 inpatients during 4,769 hospital stays. The mean age of children at admission was 3.9 years (SD 4.6 years). The mean duration of stay was 132 days (appendix A).

#### **3.1 Drugs selected for substitution**

Among the 129 drugs, 90 drugs were available in solid dosage forms, corresponding to 98,741 administrations in liquid dosage forms given to 3,127 inpatients. Of the 90 drugs, the 10 drugs identified as most frequently administered to children and eligible for substitution with authorized suitable alternative solid form were, in decreasing order of substitution frequency: paracetamol, cyamemazine, valproic acid, clonazepam, furosemide, prazepam, hydroxyzine,

alfacalcidol, amitriptyline, and levetiracetam. Table 1 shows the categories of patients eligible for the substitution, the alternative solid form, and the number of liquid form administrations for each drug that could be performed using suitable solid dosage forms. The 10 most frequently administered drugs represent 58% (56,924/98,741) of the total drug administrations in liquid dosage forms available in solid dosage forms. Among these, 34.6% (19,671/56, 924) could be delivered using suitable solid dosage forms (the summary of the substitution assessment of the 10 drugs is presented in appendix B). There were 6 alternative solid dosage forms suitable for children aged at least 6 years old, 1 for children aged 10 to 12 years, and only 2 for younger children aged 28 days or more.

(Table 1)

# **3.2 Economic impact**

Overall, 74.5 % (14,657/19,671) of the substitutions could be achieved with a less expensive suitable solid form. For 7 of the 10 drugs (i.e., cyamemazine, clonazepam, furosemide, prazepam, hydroxyzine, amitriptyline, and levetiracetam), all the substitutions were associated with potential savings for the hospital. Regarding paracetamol, the suggested substitutions were associated with a positive economic impact for 72% (5,066/7,045) of the administrations. The computed potential cost savings for the hospital over 3 years was  $\in$ 145.6 for paracetamol,  $\in$ 10,537.80 for cyamemazine,  $\in$ 2.20 for clonazepam,  $\in$ 247.54 for furosemide,  $\in$ 18.59 for prazepam,  $\in$ 31.69 for hydroxyzine,  $\in$ 19.88 for amitriptyline, and  $\in$ 18.56 for levetiracetam. For valproic acid and alfacalcidol, all suggested substitutions were associated with a negative economic impact. The potential loss for the hospital over 3 years would be  $\in$ 173.19 for valproic

acid and €79.89 for alfacalcidol.

The cost differences of daily doses and the potential cost savings for the hospital for each of the 10 drugs are detailed in appendix C.

#### 4. Discussion

This study found that about one third of the administrations of 10 drugs, frequently administered using liquid dosage forms in a pediatric population, could be substituted with at least one active, safe, and easy-to-swallow suitable solid dosage form. Notably, almost all liquid dosage forms of prazepam and cyamemazine used could be replaced with solid dosage forms (>97%).

The suggested substitutions were not found to be associated with substantial economic savings for the hospital. A large difference in costs between liquid and solid forms was observed only for cyamemazine but not for the other drugs (mean cost difference per daily dose:  $\in 6.90$  for cyamemazine versus  $\in 0.2$  for all the other drugs). These findings differ from those of a study in a British pediatric hospital <sup>[15]</sup> which found significant savings from drug substitution. The disparities in drug prices between various European countries and the difference in sets of studied drugs between both studies may explain this inconsistency. However, the calculation made herein did not account for the potential cost savings in terms of transportation and storage of solid dosage forms which present with decreased weights and volumes.

Unexpectedly, some highly used drugs in pediatric settings that are generally available in solid dosage forms, such as antibiotics, were not identified as appropriate for direct substitution with solid dosage forms in the present study. For example, during the 3-year period, 4,295 administrations of amoxicillin in liquid dosage forms were performed, 1,624 for rifampicin, and 1,049 for ciprofloxacin. The lack of possible substitution observed for these drugs can be explained by the fact that: the alternative solid form for amoxicillin was authorized only for children weighing 40 kg or more and no administration of amoxicillin was recorded for this category of patients; the available capsule of rifampicin was authorized only for children aged 6 years and older and only 38 administrations of rifampicin were recorded for this category of patients; ciprofloxacin was only available in large tablets (18 mm diameter for a 500 g tablet) and was not considered acceptable for the pediatric population <sup>[9]</sup>. This underlines that

alternative solid forms available for very young children are still scarce, confirming the need to develop formulations specific to this group <sup>[17]</sup>.

In the present study, tablet division was considered acceptable as long as it remained in accordance with the instructions of the SmPC. Division increases the dosing flexibility of tablets. Additionally, scored tablets could provide ease in swallowing and may reduce costs. However, they could cause inaccurate dosing depending on the manufacturing quality <sup>[18]</sup>.

The main limitation of this study is that all drug prescriptions were considered as compliant with the SmPC, as no information about the indication was available in the database, despite the frequency of off-label drug prescriptions in pediatrics. The use of a theoretical daily dose instead of the observed administered dosages of oral liquid dosage forms potentially overlooked administrations of hard-to-substitute low dosages to very young children and may have provided overestimated substitution rates. Inversely, liquid dosage forms can demonstrate different pharmacokinetic properties compared to solid dosage forms and necessitate more frequent administrations of lower dosages, which could yield artificially lower substitution rate findings. Interestingly, the substitution findings herein were lower than the 41% reported in a study based on the observed dosages in a pediatric hospital<sup>[15]</sup>. Although the criteria used were comparable to those of the present study, the sample was smaller with only 440 administrations analyzed. The use of real health data in the present study had the benefit of providing meaningful substitution assessments in an inpatient setting. It should be noted that other solid dosage forms not available in the hospital's pharmacy could be available on the market, meaning additional substitutions could be possible for outpatients or inpatients in other hospitals.

A major strength of this study lies in the fact that all suggested substitutions were completely in accordance with the drug marketing authorizations. Converting current inpatients from liquid to solid dosage forms according to the suggestions described herein is encouraged in our

91

hospital as well as in other hospitals. Pediatricians should be informed and sensitized to the benefits of using solid forms when possible <sup>[19]</sup>. However, improvement is needed regarding the availability of mini-tablets and other flexible solid oral dosage forms of the most commonly prescribed drugs in pediatrics. Producing more tablets and capsules available in different dosages is also encouraged. This study could guide all parties involved in the development and manufacture of medicinal products to improve the availability of suitable pediatric forms by defining the real and important needs in pediatric practice. In future research, we intend to develop an algorithm which could help practitioners chose a suitable alternative solid form when possible.

# Conclusion

Despite the current limited use of oral solid dosage forms in pediatric practice in the HFME in Lyon, substitution from liquid to solid forms appears feasible. The 10 drugs identified as most appropriate for substitution were: paracetamol, cyamemazine, valproic acid, clonazepam, furosemide, prazepam, hydroxyzine, alfacalcidol, amitriptyline, and levetiracetam. Solid dosage forms for these drugs could have been used in about 35% of the total administrations that occurred using liquid dosage forms. Suitable alternative solid forms are generally available for children aged 6 years and older, while more flexible oral dosage forms are still needed for younger children. We intend to develop an intelligent algorithm that could suggest the prescription of a suitable alternative solid form to practitioners, when appropriate.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Data on drug administration in hospitalized children were provided by the EREMI study database. The EREMI study was funded by the ANSM (2012 ANSM Call for Proposal Grant – Analysis of unlicensed drug use).

We would like to thank the EREMI research group for their collaborative support: Corinne Alberti (Clinical Epidemiology, Inserm-U1123, APHP), Kim An Nguyen (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Alexis Arzimanoglou (Epilepsy, Sleep, Pediatric Neurophysiology, Inserm-U1028, CNRS-UMR5292, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Yannick Aujard (Neonatology, APHP), Odile Boespflug-Tanguy (Pediatric Neurology and Metabolic Diseases, Inserm-U931, CNRS-UMR6247, APHP), Nadine Bossard (Biostatistics, CNRS UMR5558, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Valentine Bréant (Pharmacy Department, HCL), Corrine Carcel (Lyon Pharmacovigilance Center, HCL), Jean-Claude Carel (Pediatric Endocrinology, Inserm-U1141, APHP), Charlotte Castellan (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Olivier Claris (Neonatology, EAM4128, HCL/UCBL-Lyon1), Pierre Cochat (Pediatric Nephrology/Rheumatology, IBCP-UMR 5305 CNRS, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Georges Deschênes (Pediatric Nephrology, CNRS-UMR7134, APHP), Vincent Des Portes (Pediatric Neurology, CNRS-UMR5230, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Sylvie Di Filippo (Cardiology, EA4173, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Xavier Dode (Pharmacy Department, HCL) and the CNIHM (Drug Information National Hospital Centre, Thériaque<sup>®</sup>), Lamia El Amrani (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Pierre Fourneret (Child Psychiatry, CNRS-UMR5304, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Laure Guittard (Clinical Investigation Centre, Medical Informatics, Evaluation, Research EPICIME, HCL) Emilie Henin (CNRS UMR5558, UCBL-Lyon1), Evelyne Jacqz-Aigrain (Pediatric Pharmacology and Pharmacogenetics, Clinical Investigation Center, Inserm-U1426, APHP), Etienne Javouhey (Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, UMRESTTE, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Behrouz Kassai (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Alain Lachaux (Pediatric Hepatogastroenterology, Inserm-U1111, CNRS UMR5308, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Salma Malik (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Catherine Michel (Computer and Information System Management, HCL), Yanis Minouni (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Marie-Christine Mouren-Siméoni (Child Psychiatry, APHP), Marc Nicolino (Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Inserm-U1060, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Nathalie Paret (Lyon Pharmacovigilance Center, HCL), Benjamin Riche (CNRS UMR5558, HCL/UCBL-Lyon 1), Aurélie Portefaix (Clinical Investigation Center, HCL), Corinne Pulce (Toxicovigilance and Poison Control Center, HCL), Jean-Marc Sapori (Toxicovigilance and Poison Control Center, HCL), Anne-Marie Schott (Medical Informatics, Evaluation, Research EPICIME, Inserm-U1033, HCL/UCBL-Lyon1), Thierry Vial (Lyon Pharmacovigilance Center, HCL). We would also like to thank Gaëlle Siméon, Jane Corwin (LBBE-UMR5558 CNRS), and Véréna Landel (Direction de la Recherche en Santé, HCL) for their proofreading assistance.

Disclosure of interests:

The authors declare that they have no competing interest

Figure 1. A. The general stages of data processing. B. Stages of data processing in the substitution assessment and the economic impactassessment for every identified drug.







# Table 1: The 10 drugs in liquid dosage forms most frequently administered to children eligible for

Drug (NNT)	Eligible patients for the substitution		Alternative solid dosage form	Number of drug administration using liquid dosage forms <sup>a</sup>	Administrations in liquid dosage forms which could be performed using suitable solid dosage forms	
	Appropriate age range for substitution (kg	Appropriate weight range for substitution g)			(n)	(% of total drug administration using liquid dosage forms)
Paracetamol	>=28 days	>=6	Powder for reconstitution and effervescent tablet.	12,452	7045	56.6
Cyamemazine	>=6 years	>=6.25	Tablet	3784	3672	97
Valproic acid	>=28 days	(>=3.33 and <=5) or >=6.67	Granule in sachets	2792	2460	88.1
Clonazepam	>=6 years	>= 10	Tablet	4318	1798	41.6
Furosemide	>=6 years	>= 10	Tablet	21,106	1303	6.2
Prazepam	>=6 years	_	Tablet	1276	1276	100
Hydroxyzine	>=6 years $>=12.5$ kg and $<25$ kg >=12 years and $>25$ kg		Tablet	3003	1019	34
Alfacalcidol	>=6 years	>20	Tablet	3742	575	15.4
Amitriptyline	>=10 years		Tablet	1367	437	32
Levetiracetam	>=12 years	>=25 and <50	Tablet	3084	86	2.8
Total				56,924	19,671	35

#### substitution withauthorized suitable alternative solid dosage forms.

A number of administrations that could not be performed with an available solid dosage form was discarded from the drug selectionanalysis and the remaining was determined after a detailed substitution assessment.

 $^{a}$  The total drug administrations using liquid dosage forms = administrations that could be performed using suitable solid dosage forms + administrations that could not be performed with an available solid dosage form because of unappropriate age or weight.

# References

1. Salunke S, Liu F, Batchelor H, Walsh J, Turner R, Ju TR, et al. European Paediatric Formulation Initiative (EuPFI)-Formulating Ideas for Better Medicines for Children. AAPS PharmSciTech 2017;18(2):257–62.

2. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Reflection paper: formulations of choice for the paediatric population. 2006.

3. Nunn T, Williams J. Formulation of medicines for children. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2005;59(6):674–6.

4. Cram A, Breitkreutz J, Desset-Brèthes S, Nunn T, Tuleu C, European Paediatric Formulation Initiative (EuPFI). Challenges of developing palatable oral paediatric formulations. Int J Pharm 2009;365(1–2):1–3.

5. Rehn C, Odouard E, Poncet F, Cochat P, Breant V, Dode X. [Factors influencing the acceptability of pediatric galenic formulations]. Ann Pharm Fr 2018;76(3):163–71.

6. Schirm E, Tobi H, de Vries TW, Choonara I, De Jong-van den Berg LTW. Lack of appropriate formulations of medicines for children in the community. Acta Paediatr 2003;92(12):1486–9.

7. World Health Organization. Report of the Informal Expert Meeting on Dosage Forms of Medicines for Children. 2008.

8. Fabiano V, Mameli C, Zuccotti GV. Paediatric pharmacology: Remember the excipients. Pharmacological Research 2011;63(5):362–5.

9. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use. 2013.

10. Walsh J, Mills S. Conference report: formulating better medicines for children: 4th European Paediatric Formulation Initiative conference. Ther Deliv 2013;4(1):21–5.

11. Lajoinie A, Henin E, Nguyen KA, Malik S, Mimouni Y, Sapori JM, et al. Oral drug dosage forms administered to hospitalized children: Analysis of 117,665 oral administrations in a French paediatric hospital over a 1-year period. Int J Pharm 2016;500(1–2):336–44.

12. Standing JF, Tuleu C. Paediatric formulations--getting to the heart of the problem. Int J Pharm 2005;300(1–2):56–66.

13. Batchelor HK, Marriott JF. Formulations for children: problems and solutions. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2015;79(3):405–18.

14. van Riet-Nales DA, de Neef BJ, Schobben AFAM, Ferreira JA, Egberts TCG, Rademaker CMA. Acceptability of different oral formulations in infants and preschool children. Arch Dis Child 2013;98(9):725–31.

15. Lajoinie A, Henin E, Kassai B, Terry D. Solid oral forms availability in children: a cost saving investigation. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2014;78(5):1080–9.

16. European Medicines Agency. Note for guidance on clinical investigation of medicinal products in the paediatric. 2001.

17. Wening K, Breitkreutz J. Oral drug delivery in personalized medicine: unmet needs and novel approaches. Int J Pharm 2011;404(1–2):1–9.

18. van Santen E, Barends DM, Frijlink HW. Breaking of scored tablets: a review. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2002;53(2):139–45.

19. Buusman A, Andersen M, Merrild C, Elverdam B. Factors influencing GPs' choice between drugs in a therapeutic drug group. A qualitative study. Scand J Prim Health Care 2007;25(4):208–13.

# (Article III) Efficacy and safety outcomes of dosage regimens of amikacin in neonates: a systematic review

Rama Arab<sup>1</sup>, Laurent Lafarge<sup>2</sup>, Lilia Chiheb<sup>1</sup>, Catherine Cornu<sup>1,3</sup>, Franck Plaisant<sup>4</sup>, Michel Tod<sup>1</sup>, Behrouz Kassai<sup>5,6</sup>, Xavier Dode<sup>7</sup>, Kim-An Nguyen<sup>1</sup>

*Evolutive biometry and biology laboratory, CNRS, UMR 5558, Claude Bernard Lyon 1 University, 69008 Lyon, France.* 

<sup>2</sup> Pharmacy Department, Condrieu Hospital, 69420 Condrieu, France 3

Clinical investigation centre, INSERM CIC1407, EPICIME, Department of Clinical Epidemiology Hospices Civils de Lyon, 69500 Bron, France.

\* Hôpital Femme Mère Enfant, Hospices Civils de Lyon, NICU, F-69677, Bron, France.

<sup>5</sup> Public Health Pole, Hospices Civils de Lyon, 69008 Lyon, France.

6 Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Hospices Civils de Lyon, 69008 Lyon, France.

<sup>7</sup>Pharmacy Department, Groupement Hospitalier Est, Hospices Civils de Lyon, 69500 Bron, France.

## Summary

*Aim of the study.* —To identify amikacin dosage regimens evaluated in neonates and to describe their efficacy and safety results.

*Methods.* — a systematic review carried out following PRISMA guidelines. A bibliographic search was conducted until March 2021 on PubMed and until April 2021 on Cochrane. All studies evaluating efficacy and safety of amikacin in neonates were considered for inclusion.

*Results.* — This review included 59 studies involving 7,681 neonates. Among these studies, 12 were randomized controlled trials. One included data on clinical efficacy, eight on nephrotoxicity and six on ototoxicity. Thirty-seven studies provided data on amikacin serum concentrations and nineteen provided data on achievement of target serum concentrations. Serum concentration targets were variable between studies; 15 different target ranges of peak concentrations and 13 of trough concentrations were identified. From these publications, 37 different amikacin dosage regimens were proposed, most frequently based on post-natal age and/or on body weight. Rates of reported renal function impairment varied between 0 and 70%. Rates of reported renal between 9.5 and 46.7 mg/L. Mean trough concentrations ranged between 1.2 and 14.4 mg/L. Rates of target achievement ranged between 14% and 100%.

*Conclusion.* — Numerous dosage regimens of amikacin were proposed for use in neonates. The next stage of our work will be to select the most appropriate dosage regimen based on the reported data in this systematic review.

# **KEYWORDS**

Drug safety, Amikacin, Neonates, Optimal dosage regimen, Pharmacokinetic

## **Introduction:**

neonates' organ functions<sup>6</sup>.

Unlicensed or off-label drug prescriptions concern almost every infant in neonatology and can be more frequently observed as the gestational age (GA) decreases <sup>1,2</sup>. This is due to the lack of clinical studies in neonatology, which are difficult to conduct in new-borns for a variety of reasons, including ethics, parental permission, recruitment and lack of industrial investment <sup>3</sup>. Identifying the optimal dosage regimen of a drug for a new-born is complicated in the absence of clinical evidence-based data. This should not result from a simple adjustment of adult dosing according to the new-born weight or body surface area <sup>4,5</sup>.

At birth, some body organs are not yet mature, especially in preterm infants. High interindividual variability in drug pharmacokinetics is observed, due to ongoing changes in

The lack of evidence-based data on drug dosage regimens in neonates results in significant discrepancies between existing guidelines and recommendations. These discrepancies have been observed in practice at both national <sup>7</sup> and international levels <sup>8</sup>. Leroux et al. observed 1 to 32 different dosage regimens per antibiotic in a survey conducted in 44-French neonatal intensive care units. For every drug used in new-borns, the optimal dosage regimen is ideally established by means of pharmacokinetic studies (PK) in neonates and validated in clinical safety and efficacy studies. A pragmatic approach to obtain acceptable data was proposed by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1994 <sup>9,10</sup>. This approach was based on the extrapolation of efficacy findings from adults to the paediatric population in order to maximise the use of adult data.

Amikacin is an aminoglycoside bactericidal antibiotic. It was identified as the most commonly off-label antibiotic used in the neonatal intensive care units of our hospital <sup>2</sup>/<sub>2</sub> and as 1 of the 20 drugs most frequently related to neonatal serious Adverse Drug Reactions (ADRs) reported

over 26 years in the French Pharmacovigilance Database <sup>11</sup>. Ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity are the two major adverse events associated with amikacin therapy. These events are more likely to occur in premature new-borns.<sup>12,13</sup>

Despite the frequent use of amikacin in neonatology to treat suspected neonatal sepsis and its serious side effects, numerous different dosage regimens are used for neonates in practice. Since amikacin has a narrow therapeutic window <sup>14</sup>, inaccurate dosage regimens can cause a lack of efficacy or conversely, reach toxic ranges <sup>15</sup>. Both efficacy and safety of amikacin depend directly on its plasma concentrations <sup>16–19</sup>. These concentrations depend on physiological factors in neonates, mainly on body water volume and renal function since amikacin diffuses in the extracellular space and is eliminated by glomerular filtration<sup>14,8</sup>. These factors are continuously changing in new-borns according to age and weight. The percentage of extracellular water to total body weight in neonates is high at birth, it then decreases then with age, influencing the amikacin volume of distribution <sup>20–22</sup>. The renal function development occurs in the gestational period and continues after birth. It is observed day-to-day in neonates and impacts amikacin clearance <sup>23,24</sup>. Therefore, there is a need to consider these maturational changes when establishing a dosage regime of amikacin.

The aim of this study was to identify all dosage regimens of amikacin that have been proposed for administration in neonates in the literature and to report the relationship between the different dosage regimens and their clinical or pharmacokinetic outcomes.

# Methods:

# Study identification

This systematic review was conducted following the Preferred Reporting for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Guidelines. PubMed was searched until March 2021 and Cochrane was searched until April 2021. The search formulas used to define studies on PubMed were: (aminoglycos\*[title/abstract] OR amika\*[Title/Abstract] OR

("Amikacin"[Mesh] AND "Drug Administration Schedule"[Mesh]) OR "Amikacin/administration and dosage"[Mesh] OR "Amikacin/pharmacokinetics"[Mesh]) AND ("Neonatology"[Mesh] OR "Infant, Newborn"[Mesh] OR newborn\*[Title/Abstract] OR neonat\*[Title/Abstract]). The formula was simplified for Cochrane as follow: Amikacin AND (infant OR neonate OR newborn).

Study selection

Inclusion criteria were defined according to the Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome and Study (PICOS) design process, as follows:

Participants: neonatal infants (from birth to 28 days of age), term or preterm.

Interventions: studies focusing on amikacin alone or associated with other drugs.

Comparison: with or without comparator.

Outcomes: mean serum concentrations, or mean extravascular concentrations, or target achievement, or other outcomes on safety and efficacy of amikacin defined by the study.

Study design: interventional studies, observational studies, prospective, retrospective, or crosssectional.

Case reports, review articles, comments or letters to editors were excluded. Meta-analyses were consulted to identify relevant included studies. We excluded bacteriological and epidemiological studies, fundamental studies, biochemical studies, infectious disease or clinical pathophysiological studies, studies focused on medication errors, quality, good clinical practices or cost-effectiveness analyses, articles that did not provide any data on dosage regimens of amikacin, non-human studies, articles written in languages other than English or French, and registered trials with no published articles.

After screening and removing duplicates, all article titles and abstracts, and full texts were independently reviewed for inclusion by two authors of this article. In case of discordance, one other author was consulted to confirm or reject the inclusion.

101

#### Data extraction and synthesis

Data were extracted independently by two authors. The following information was collected for each eligible article: first author's name, year of publication, route of administration, number of patients, main characteristics of studied population (weight, age), study design, therapeutic target if defined in the study, amikacin dosage regimen and variables considered for efficacy and toxicity results: mean peak concentrations, mean trough concentrations, rate of patients in and out of therapeutic range and other relevant findings.

#### Results

#### **Bibliographic search:**

A total of 1658 records were identified, of which 1551 were obtained from PubMed and 107 from Cochrane databases. After eliminating duplicates as well as checking titles and abstracts, 180 records were kept for a full text review. A total of 59 articles fulfilled the inclusion criteria and were included in our review (Figure 1).

### Characteristic and findings of the included studies

Objectives, designs and population

A total of 7,681 neonates received amikacin in the 59 included studies. Eighteen studies included only preterm infants, 7 included term infants and 34 included both term and preterm infants. There were 28 studies that evaluated efficacy and/or toxicity of a given dosage regimen, 22 that focused on investigating the covariables affecting amikacin serum concentrations, 10 that evaluated amikacin toxicity, 6 that investigated amikacin concentrations in extravascular compartments and 1 that evaluated treatment duration. Twenty-five studies were prospective studies <sup>23,25–48</sup>, 25 were retrospective studies<sup>13,15,49–72</sup>, 4 used a mixed methodology<sup>73–76</sup>, 1 was a cross–sectional study<sup>77</sup> and 4 had unclear designs <sup>69,78–80</sup>. Among the prospective studies, 12 were randomised controlled trials (RCTs) <sup>28–31,33–39,81</sup>. Among the RCTs, 6 studies compared once-daily doses with multiple-daily doses, 4 compared amikacin with another antibiotic agent,

1 compared 2 durations of treatment and 1 compared the intravenous (IV) administration route with the intramuscular (IM) administration route.

Amikacin was administered intravenously in 44 studies, intramuscularly in 6 studies, intracerebroventricularly in 1 study and using different parenteral routes in 6 studies and there was no information provided regarding the route of administration in 2 studies. In 41 studies used IV route, the duration of administration was provided, 20 studies used IV infusion (>30min) and 31 studies used IV bolus (<30min), 4 of them used rapid IV bolus (< 5min) (Table 1).

#### Target serum concentrations

As shown in Table 2, 25 studies predefined target serum concentrations of amikacin, 23 predefined both target peak concentrations and target trough concentrations, and 2 predefined only target peak concentrations. We identified 15 target ranges for peak concentration and 13 for trough concentration. Target peak concentrations ranged from 15 to 40 mg/L, measured typically 30 min after the end of administration. Target trough concentrations ranged from 0 to 10 mg/L measured typically 30 min before the next administration.

#### Dosage regimen used

As shown in Table 2, 37 different dosage regimens (including 2 dosing charts) were identified from the included studies. The dosing schedule used in most cases was 7.5 mg/kg/12h (15 studies), while most of the remaining dosage regimens were mentioned in single studies. Twelve dosage regimens involved 1 covariable, 14 involved two covariables or more and 11 did not involve any covariables. The covariables identified were patient age (GA, postnatal age [PNA], post-conceptional age [PCA] and post-menstrual age [PMA]) patient weight and creatinine clearance levels. Patient weight and PNA were the most frequent covariables considered since PNA was involved in 17 dosage regimens and patient weight in 16 dosage

regimens (alone or with other factors). Patient weight and PNA were involved together in 9 dosage regimens.

#### Outcomes

Twelve studies, including four RCTs <sup>31,35,37,81</sup>, provided results on clinical outcomes regarding safety and efficacy, one study evaluated clinical efficacy<sup>35</sup>, eight reported data on renal toxicity of amikacin (measured by biological parameters) <sup>13,28,29,31,36,37,42,68,80</sup>, six reported data on ototoxicity<sup>13,31,40,47,68,81</sup> and three provided information on overall mortality <sup>25,78,80</sup>.

Most of the included studies analysed serum concentrations: 31 studies, involving 23 different dosage regimens measured both peak and trough concentrations of patients, 3 studies involving 4 dosage regimens measured peak concentrations alone and 3 studies involving 2 dosage regimens measured trough concentrations alone. Mean peak concentrations ranged between 9.5 and 46.7 mg/L. Mean trough concentrations ranged between 1.2 and 14.4 mg/L.

Concerning achievement of target serum concentrations, 15 studies, involving 19 different dosage regimens, revealed rates of patients who achieved target serum concentrations, 4 studies, involving 3 different dosage regimens, showed rate of patients who did not achieve target serum concentrations. Rates of neonates who reached the target serum concentrations, defined by the authors, ranged between 14% and 100%.

Other pharmaceutical outcomes were also provided by the studies: 12 studies provided results on covariables influencing amikacin pharmacokinetics, 3 studies measured amikacin concentrations in the cerebrospinal fluid and 1 in the epithelial lining fluid (Table 2).

#### Discussion

This systematic review confirms that limited high-quality evidence data are available regarding the efficacy and safety of amikacin dosage regimens in neonates. This explains the absence of a unique recommended dosage regimen for neonates. Only one study dealt with the clinical efficacy of amikacin to evaluate the treatment duration of a given dosage regimen. The study carried out by Pasha et al. used the treatment failure, defined as the reappearance of symptoms confirmed by laboratory findings as a primary outcome. It concluded that there is no evidence to support a duration of a five-day treatment instead of three <sup>35</sup>. However, since this RCT allowed excluded patients with treatment failure at the 3th day of treatment before randomization and associated amikacin with other antibiotics, it does not provide information on the efficacy of the specific dosage regimen that was used.

Rates of ototoxicity varied between 0 and 20% for 7 different dosage regimens <sup>27,31,40,47,68,81</sup>. Both highest and smallest rates were reported for the same dosage regimen (15 mg/kg/24h) indicating the need for studies including larger sample sizes. Because of the small sample sizes of the studies investigating ototoxicity, it is neither possible to conclude on any relation between a dosage and ototoxicity, nor to establish a frequency level of this adverse drug reaction. The low number of studies investigating this side effect could be attributed to the fact that ototoxicity takes long time to be diagnosed, is difficult to demonstrate in neonates and is reversible in around one out of two cases <sup>79,82</sup>. Demonstrating ototoxicity prospectively requires patients to be followed-up for several years and a high number of participants <sup>83</sup>. The unique RCT investigating ototoxicity followed-up patients only until the 10<sup>th</sup> day of treatment<sup>81</sup>. However, available data seem to point that hearing alterations could be induced by a long duration of treatment and serum trough concentrations  $\geq 10 \text{ mg/mL}^{13 \text{ 77}}$ . These high levels of trough concentrations are more likely to be reached with short dosage intervals <sup>37</sup>.

Rates of renal function impairment caused by amikacin varied between 0 and 70% <sup>13,31,37,80</sup>. The dosage regimen of 7.5 mg/kg/12h was the most frequently associated with reported cases of renal toxicity. <sup>29,31,36,68,80</sup>. The RCTs conducted by Kotze, Abdel Hady and Vasquez-Mendoza compared one-daily doses to twice-daily doses, and failed to demonstrate a significant difference in renal toxicity between both treatment groups because of their small sample sizes <sup>28,31,37</sup>. The frequency of the nephrotoxicity cases was associated with high levels of serum

trough concentrations (>8 mg/L) in two RCTs <sup>29,37</sup>. Different markers were employed to detect renal toxicity of amikacin across studies, such as levels of serum creatinine and Nacetylglucosaminidase (NAG). The sensitivities of these markers were different: NAG was a sensitive marker of tubular injury, but it was not sufficient alone to predict clinical impact <sup>31</sup>. On the contrary, the use of serum creatinine could underestimate the nephrotoxicity of amikacin in neonates because the increase in creatinine clearance by maturation could affect the results<sup>84</sup>. Multiple cofactors could interfere with the evaluation of amikacin tolerance. Assessing nephrotoxicity could be biased by hypoxia, septic status and the specificity of markers. Assessing ototoxicity could be difficult to highlight because of the rarity of cases, sensitivity of the tests, and time to onset. Assessing both ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity caused by the different dosage regimens of amikacin could also be biased since amikacin was also associated with other antibiotics, suggesting that trough concentrations of amikacin should always be considered.

Regarding the pharmacokinetic results, 6 dosage regimens employed in 6 studies succeeded to reach target serum concentrations established by the authors in 70% of patients for both Cpeak and Ctrough <sup>31,45,50,73–75</sup> while 16 dosage regimens used in 13 studies <sup>26,28,30,31,45,46,48,50,51,57,73–76</sup> succeeded to reach target serum concentrations in 50% of patients. The majority of these 16 dosage regimens considered one or more covariables (8 dosage regimens considered 2 covariables, 6 others considered 1 covariable). This is supported by the fact that preterm infants were expected to reach toxic concentrations more frequently compared to term infants when using the same dosage <sup>53</sup>. Two other dosage regimens were used in three studies <sup>38,80,85</sup> and achieved mean serum concentrations in the therapeutic targets defined by the authors.

Serum concentration targets were widely different across studies. The target peak concentrations of amikacin progressed over time: it was defined between 15–30 mg/L in the 80s  $^{70,76,80}$ , then between 20–30 mg/L for several years  $^{25,38,45,74}$  and between 24–35 mg/L in
more recent studies<sup>15,49,51,85</sup>. Labaune et al. proposed an adaptation of the target  $C_{max}$  with GA<sup>75</sup>. The adoptions of these targets were not justified in the studies. It is agreed that peak concentrations of amikacin should ideally reach eight to ten times the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). The MIC depends on the pathogen and local bacterial resistance <sup>86</sup>. Safe trough concentrations less than 5 or 10 mg/L were the most frequently used for years. Target trough concentrations between 3-8 mg/L were clearly defined for the first time by Cookson et al. in 1980. Deramoudt-Dutrus et al. defined a stricter target from 2 to 5 mg/L in 1989 as an optimal target with a target less than 10 mg/L being considered to be safe<sup>30</sup>. Later, another author considered a target between 4 and 10 mg/L in 1991<sup>45</sup>. Target trough concentrations were also adapted with GA in 2001<sup>75</sup>. Vucicevic et al. defined different targets according to the number of administrations per day<sup>81</sup>. Two strict targets less than 3 mg/L were proposed in 3 recent studies<sup>15,46,49</sup>.

Many covariates were found to correlate with the serum concentrations of amikacin in neonates. These covariates reflect the changes in amikacin distribution and elimination during maturation and explain interindividual variability. The anthropometric covariates identified were weight <sup>15,27,56,63,64,69,87</sup>, GA<sup>27,39,63,66,69,72</sup>, PNA<sup>15,66,70</sup>, PMA and PCA<sup>45,54,57,65,73,76</sup>. Although PMA and PCA indirectly reflect both PNA and GA, their use could be less accurate in reflecting maturation changes before and after birth compared to the use of GA and PNA separately. Other medical conditions were also found to influence pharmacokinetic values of amikacin in neonates such as hypoxemia<sup>27,69</sup>, respiratory distress syndrome<sup>67</sup>, clinical state of the patient <sup>88</sup>, renal function <sup>51,54</sup> and the coadministration of ibuprofen, indomethacin or acetylsalicylic acid <sup>44,58,60,62,89</sup>. These medical conditions associated with amikacin prescriptions were considered for adjusting the dosage regimen in very few studies. De Cock et al. mentioned that the time interval between doses should be extended from 6 to 10 hours in case of asphyxia or co-

administration of ibuprofen <sup>15,46</sup>. Illamola et al. proposed an adapted dosage regimen for neonates with renal failure <sup>51</sup>.

Our systematic review showed the wide range of dosage regimens of amikacin in neonates. The results could be used to select the dosage regimen of interest for clinical evaluation.

This review has several limitations. The majority of studies had a small number of participants as only 12 of the 59 studies included more than 200 patients. The small sample sizes are an obstacle to detect the impact of amikacin on organic functions. Many studies therefore did not detect toxicity. Others did but could not conclude on the onset frequency of the adverse effects for the same raison. There were only 12 RCTs included in this review, 7 of which were published before 2000, and their randomization method was not clearly reported. A total of 28 included studies were published before 2000, which means that they may not reflect the current practice. Reported duration of administration, sampling time and assay methods of serum concentrations differed between studies.

In a further step, we intend to select the most appropriate dosage regimen for term and preterm infants through a critical reading of the available data and propose to use it in our neonatal services. This selection is challenging due to the variability of their level of evidence, target ranges and types of outcomes. We did not identify a selection method that considers all these variabilities. Furthermore, no acceptable thresholds were identified for both clinical and pharmacokinetic outcomes. The definition of these thresholds by experts appears to be essential for the selection. The Delphi technique could be used for this step. Once done, we will select the most appropriate dosage regimen based on three main items: the level of evidence of the study, the consideration of specific covariables for dosing in neonates (i.e., age, weight) and the results of efficacy and safety of the drug. This proposition could be done as follows: first, by classifying the included studies according to their level of evidence as presented in Figure 2, then, by critically examining the data from the studies with the highest level of evidence to

determine if it is possible to recommend a dosage regimen. This examination could be performed by a panel of two persons or with the help of the three following questions: does the dosage regimen consider specific covariable(s) for dosing in neonates? Are the results on the efficacy and safety of the drug satisfying? Is the number of patients sufficient? Each examination of a set of studies should finish either by recommending a dosage regimen or considering that it is not possible to recommend a dosage regimen from the available data. As a second option, some dosage regimens could be eliminated and other considered for further examination: the studies classified in the next lower level of quality of evidence could be included in this case. This strategy allows us to select dosage regimens with different level of evidence from published data. An assessment of the quality of the included studies will be carried out to facilitate this selection. Given the different types of included studies, the use of different assessment tools will be necessary.

#### Conclusion

Numerous dosage regimens of amikacin for neonates were identified. The designs, dose regimens, therapeutic targets, and types of outcomes were highly variable between studies. Most of the studies evaluated amikacin in both term and preterm neonates. Clinical efficacy and safety of amikacin in neonates are not well studied. Our knowledge regarding the majority of dosage regimens is based on their pharmacokinetics results. High variability in target serum concentration ranges of amikacin was detected. In the next step, we intend to select the most appropriate dosage regimen among available ones based on a pre-established selection method considering the level of evidence of the study, the consideration of covariables in the dosage regimen, and the efficacy and safety results. Defining acceptable safety results of different types of outcomes by experts is recommended. Future studies would be needed to investigate the

clinical safety or/and safety of one or more selected dosage regimens. A large number of participants would be required for these studies.





	veight (kg) Mea (min-max)	$2.203 \pm 0.538$	11: 3.098±0.6 Gr 2.984±0.5	1: 3.44±0.66 Gi 3.37±0.52	$\frac{2.9\pm0.4(2.4-3.5)}{3.1\pm0.5(2.3-4.2)}$	1: 3.144±0.4 Gr 3.099±0.5	1: 3.086 (2.710– 51: 3.194 (2.5–3	oup1: 2.91±0.79 oup2: 3.413±0.6	V:1.648 GroupIN	$1.509 \pm 0.240$	N.D	1.457±0.74	11 < 2.5 9 > 2.5
	Birth v	Group1	Group	Group	Group1:	Group	Group Grou	5 5	GroupI				
Target Population	Observed Age: GA (w) PNA (d) PMA (w) Mean ± SD (min−max)	Group1: GA: 33.1±2.1 Group2:GA: 32.1±2.1	Group1: GA:37±1.66 PNA: 8.3±10.9 Group2: GA:37.2±2.09 PNA: 17.5±19.5	N.D	Group1: GA: 37.8±1.6(35–40) Group2: GA: 38.1±1.4(36–41)	Group1: PNA: 2.3±4.8 GA: 38.8±1.1 Group2: PNA: 1.4±2.5 GA: 38.7±1.1	Group1: PNA: 0.67(0-4.3) GA: 39.9(37-41) Group1: PNA: 0.64(0-2.8) GA: 39.9(37-41)	Group1: PNA: 1.4±1.2 GA: 37.6±2.32 Group2: PNA: 1.54±1.2 GA: 39.1±1.8	Group IV: PNA: 3.6 GA: 31.4 Group IM: PNA: 6.5 GA: 31.5	GA: 30.8±1.8	PNA:19±18	PNA: 10.6±1.3 GA: 30.7±0.5	PNA: 2.1 (0 – 5)
	Nb. of Subjects and Characteristics	40 preterm infants (group1 multiple dose: 20. group 2 single dose:20)	60 near term infants (group1 3day: 30 group2 5day: 30)	31 term infants (group1 OD: 15 group2 TD: 16)	30 term infants <sup>b</sup> (group1 OD: 15. group2 TD: 15)	120 term infants (group1OD: 60 group2TD: 60)	40 term infants (group1 OD: 20. group2 TD: 20)	22 preterm infants (group1 OD:10. group2 TD: 13)	26 preterm and term infants (group IV: 26 group IM: 18)	Preterm infants (Amikacin:56 mezlocillin: 56)	Amikacin <sup>a</sup> : 11 preterm and 13 term infants Moxalactam <sup>a</sup> :12 preterm and 10 term infants	Preterm infants (amikacin: 47gentamicin: 60 chloramphenicol: 26)	Term and preterm infants (amikacin: 20 pentamicin:20 tohramvcin:20)
Route and Duration of Admini- stration		IV (30-60 min)	IV (N.D)	IV (60min)	IV (60min)	IV (30min)	IV (30sec)	IV (30min)	IM, IV (30min)	IV (30min)	IM, IV (N.D)	N.D	IV (60 min)
Main objective		TE	TDE	DRE	DRE	DRE, TE	DRE. CE	DRE	DRE	TE	EXV	TE	DRE, EXV
Year		2018	2014	2014	2011	2007	1999	1993	1989	1987	1984	1984	1978
Articles		Bordbar et al <sup>38</sup>	Pasha et al <sup>35</sup>	Vucicevic et al <sup>48</sup>	Abdel Hady et al <sup>28</sup>	Vasquez– Mendoza et al <sup>37</sup>	Kotze et al <sup>31</sup>	Langhendries et al <sup>32</sup>	Deramoudt– Dutrus et al	Adelman et al <sup>29</sup>	McCracken et al <sup>34</sup>	Rajchgot et al <sup>36</sup>	Marks et al <sup>33</sup>
Design		(OD x (OD x	(duration x duration)		(	T.	)) КС		MI) (VI		(Surb x	zurb)	
						etive	adsor	I					

Table 1: Design and target population of each of the identified studies.

Design		Articles	Year	Main objective	Route and Duration of Admini- stration		Target Population	
						Nb. of Subjects and Characteristics	Observed Age: GA (w) PNA (d) PMA (w) Mean ± SD (min-max)	Birth weight (kg) Mean ± SD (min–max)
	אי (Sub ג קרופל	Finitzo– Hieber et al <sup>40</sup>	1985	TE	IM, IV (N.D)	Term and preterm infants: 50 with amikacin 49 netilmicin 51 non-treated	GA: 35.5 (28–41)	U.N
	ttno) v gub)	Alinejad et al <sup>42</sup>	2018	TE	IV (30 min)	80 term infants (amikacin:40, gentamicin:40)	GA: 35.4±5.39 PNA: 3.22±2.50.	$2.470 \pm 0.78$
		Amponsah . et al. <sup>25</sup>	2017	DRE, CE	IV (2-3 min)	247 (term: 116 preterm: 131)	GA: 35(25–44) PNA: 1.23(0.16–21.75)	2.3 (0.9 – 5.2)
		Smits et al	2015	DRE	IV (20 min)	579 term and preterm infants	GA: 34(24-41) PNA: 2(1-30) PMA: 34(24- 45)	CW: 2.1 (0.42–5.04)
		Tayman et al <sup>23</sup>	2011	EXV	IV (20 min)	17 term and preterm infants	PNA: 3.5(2–37) PMA: 31.9(25.1–41)	1.715 (0.55–3.54)
θVİ		Ruggieri– Marone et al <sup>47</sup>	2007	TE	IV (N.D)	67 infants (control term :33, term +amikacin: 19 preterm+amikacin:15)	N.D	N.D
tooqee	(;	Berger et al <sup>26</sup>	2004	DRE	IV (30 min)	25 preterm low weight infants	PNA: 18(6–97) GA: 25(23–30)	0.739 (0.5–1.345)
Pro	S-N 'S	Langhendr ies et al <sup>44</sup>	1998	DRE	IV (30 min)	177 term and preterm infants	GA: 33.6±4.1	N.D
	I-N)	Langhendr ies et al <sup>39</sup>	1993	DRE	IV (30 min)	114 near-term (3 age groups: group1 GA< 31:14 group2 GA 31–34: 24 group3 GA 34 – 37: 38 group4 37 – 41: 38)	Group1: GA: 27.7±1.12 Group2: GA: 32.0±0.69 Group3: GA: 35.5±0.32 Group4: GA: 38.7±1.32	Group1: 1.052±0.287 Group2: 1.733±0.22 Group3: 2.311 ±0.42 Group4: 3.157 ±0.585
		Petersen et al <sup>45</sup>	1991	DRE	IV (30 min)	38 term and preterm infants	PNA: 4.1±6.8(1.0–21.0) GA: 33.1±4.4(25.0– 40.0)	2.1±1 (0.6–5.4)
		Wright et al <sup>41</sup>	1981	EXV	ICV	8 <sup>a</sup> Term and preterm infants with meningitis	PNA: 30.6(7–70)	N.D
		Want et al	1979	DRE	IM	22 preterm infants	GA: 30(26–34)	1.32 (0.76–2.43)
		Sardeman n et al. <sup>27</sup>	1976	DRE	IM	5 term and preterm infants	PNA: 3.8 (1-7)	3.058 (1.500-4.080)

(contir	
studies	
dentified	
of the i	
f each	
ulation o	
arget popu	
and t	
Design	
$\overline{\cdot}$	

	Birth weight (kg) Mean ± SD (min−max)	1.409±0.509	Group 1: 1.9 ±1 (0.57–3.75) Group 2: 2.03±0.920 (0.53– 3.95)	(0.5-4.6)	Group1: 1.31±0.5 Group2: 1.730±1.01	Group1: 2.180±0.815 Group2: 2.210±0.834	1.92 (0.5–4.65)	Database1: 1.052 (0.475–1.91) Database2: 1.99 (0.385–4.65)	1.795(0.385 - 4.770)	Group1: 2.2 (1.48 – 3.04) Group 2: 2.68 (1.67 – 3.4)	Group1: 1.047±0.346 Group2: 1.11±0.341
Target Population	Observed Age: GA (w) PNA (d) PMA (w) Mean ± SD (min-max)	GA: 31.49±2.98 PMA: 40.31±6.72	Group 1: GA: 32.9±5(24.1–41.4) PNA: 24.8±21.9(2–112) PMA: 36.3± 4.9 (25.1–46.7) Group 2: GA: 33.3±5.3(24.7–41.0) PNA: 23.9±22.5(3–108) PMA: 36.7±5.2(26.3–49.9)	PNA <2 GA: (24-41)	Group1: PMA: 30.57±3.46 Group2: PMA: 31.45±5.32	Group1: PNA: 13.3±17.92 GA: 34.7±4 PMA: 36.7±4.1 Group2: PNA: 9.8±16.1 GA: 34.6±4.3 PMA: 36.12±4.5	GA: 31.8(24.3–41) PNA:28(1–86) PMA: 35.4(24.3–41)	Database1: PNA: 2(1–3) GA: 28(24–30) 1 database1: PNA: 2(1–30) GA: 33(24–43)	GA: 32(24-41) PNA: 2(1-30).	Group1: GA: 34.3(30-37.9) PNA:1(0-2) PMA: 35(30-38) Group 2: GA: 36.9 (30.1-38.9) PNA: 1(0- 2) PMA: 37.0(33-39)	Group1,2: GA: 28 (24-30)
	Nb. of Subjects and Characteristics	35 term and preterm infants (mostly preterm)	181 : 127 preterm infant, 54 term infants (group1 analysis : 107 group2 validation: 74)	term and preterm infants (modeling:63 validation:57) validation GA < 30 weeks, n = 8; 30< GA< 34weeks,n=18; term infant=31)	88 preterm, low weight infants (group1- modeling:59 group2-validation: 29)	127 term and preterm infants (gruop1-modeling: 64. Group2-validation: 63)	202 term and preterm infants (modeling: 149 external test: 53)	874 term and preterm infants (modeling database1: 162 external database2: 712)	930 near term neonates with Perinatal Asphyxia Treated with Hypothermia	278 term and preterm infants (group1dose1: 144 group2 dose2: 134)	205 preterm infants (group1-dose1:129 group2- dose 2: 76)
Route and Duration of Admini- stration		U.N	IV (30 min)	IV (1 min)	IV (45 min)	IV ( N.D)	IV (30- 60min)	IV (20- 30min)	IV (20- 60min)	IV (N.D)	IV (20min)
Main objective		CE	DRE	DRE CE	DRE	DRE	CE DRE	CE	DRE	DRE	CE
Year		2003	2014	2001	1990	1989	2016	2012	2017	2017	2006
Articles		Poblano et al 77	An et al <sup>74</sup>	Labaune et al <sup>75</sup>	Kenyon al 73	Roze et al <sup>76</sup>	Illamola et al <sup>90</sup>	De Cock et al <sup>15</sup>	Cristea et al. <sup>49</sup>	Hughes. et al. <sup>50</sup>	Allegaert et al <sup>57</sup> (Br J Clin Pharmacol)
			noit	abilav larna	otul	1	ng Ial	iləbon extern oitsbi	PK n PK n	arative lysis regimen x regimen)	qmoJ ans 1 92a2ob) 1 92a2ob
Design		sectional Cross–	deling and lation	om PK mo otive valio	prospec	Reti			əvita	Retrospec	

Table 1: Design and target population of each of the identified studies (continued)

Nb. of Subjects and Charae         1 preterm infants (Group1+dopamine: 125)         -2 preterm infants (group1+ibuprocontrol: 59 group3+acetylsalicylapticylapter         44 preterm infants (group1+ibupro-placebo: 111)         5 preterm infants (group1+ibupro-placebo: 39)         23 preterm infants (group1+ibupro-placebo: 39)         20 protectm infants (group1+ibupro-placebo: 39)         211 term and preterm infants         313 preterm infants (group1+ibupro-placebo: 39)         32 preterm infants (group1+ibupro-placebo: 39)         33 preterm infants         34 term and preterm infants         35 term and preterm infants         36 term and preterm infants         37 term and preterm infants         380 term and preterm infants         80 term and preterm infants         104 (group1 preterm: 52. group	<ul> <li>Preterm infants (Group1+dopamine: 125)</li> <li>2 preterm infants (group1+ibuprocontrol: 59 group3+acetylasticyl apreterm infants (group1+ibuprotp1</li></ul>
stration           IV (15min)         240           IV (15min)         142           IV (15min)         73           IV (20min)         73           IV (20min)         17           IV (15min)         17           IV (15min)         17           IV (15min)         17           IV (30min)         17           IV (80min)         17           IV (30min)         17	IV (15min) 240 IV (15min) 142 IV (15min) 204 IV (15min) 73 IV (15min) 73 IV (N.D) 73 IV (30-60 min) IV (20min) 73 IV (20min) 1V (20min) IV (20min) 1V (20min) IV (20min) 1V (20min) 1V (20min) IV (20min) 1V (20m
CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE C	CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE CE C
2006 2005 2005 2005 2004 1986 1982 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 1983 1983 1983 1983 1983 1983 1983 2009 2009 2009	
Allegaert et al <sup>59</sup> (Pediatr Crit Care) Allegaert et al <sup>60</sup> (Pediatr Care) Allegaert et al <sup>60</sup> (Pediatr Nephrol) Allegaert et al <sup>66</sup> Philips et al <sup>71</sup> Philips et al <sup>71</sup> Endo et al <sup>13</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>66</sup> Philips et al <sup>71</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>66</sup> Philips et al <sup>71</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>66</sup> Allegaert et al <sup>70</sup> Belyzae et al <sup>66</sup> Padovani et al <sup>67</sup> Padovani et al <sup>67</sup> Prober et al <sup>70</sup> Sherwin et al <sup>85</sup> Sherwin et al <sup>85</sup>	2006 2005 2005 2004 1986 1982 2008 2008 2008 2008 1982 1999 1999 1983 1983 1983 1983 1983 1983
PK modeling Descriptive analysis Comparative analysis	Allegaert et al $^{50}$ (Pediatr Crit2006Care)Care)Allegaert et al $^{60}$ (Pediatr2005Nephrol)Allegaert et al $^{61}$ 2004Allegaert et al $^{60}$ (Biol2004Allegaert et al $^{66}$ 1986Palix et al $^{66}$ 1986Philips et al $^{11}$ 1982Allegaert et al $^{56}$ 2007Allegaert et al $^{56}$ 2008Allegaert et al $^{56}$ 2007Allegaert et al $^{58}$ (Methods2006Find Exp Clin Pharmacol)1999Padovani et al $^{66}$ 1983Padovani et al $^{66}$ 1983Parini et al $^{66}$ 1999Padovani et al $^{67}$ 1993Patrivi et al $^{67}$ 1983Patrivi et al $^{67}$ 1983Prober et al $^{70}$ 1981Sherwin et al $^{67}$ 2009Sherwin et al $^{83}$ 2009Siddiqi et al $^{53}$ 2009
	PK modeling     Comparative analysis       PK modeling     Comparative analysis       Allegaert et al <sup>59</sup> (Pediatr Crit 2005 Nephrol)     2005       Allegaert et al <sup>60</sup> Palis       Allegaert et al <sup>61</sup> 2004       Palix et al <sup>66</sup> 1986       Philips et al <sup>131</sup> 2019       Allegaert et al <sup>85</sup> 2007       Palix et al <sup>66</sup> 1986       Pointips et al <sup>131</sup> 2019       Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup> 2007       Pointips et al <sup>131</sup> 2019       Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup> 2007       Probert et al <sup>56</sup> 2007       Probert et al <sup>56</sup> 2007       Prober et al <sup>66</sup> 1982       Prober et al <sup>66</sup> 1993       Prober et al <sup>67</sup> 1993       Prober et al <sup>67</sup> 1993       Prober et al <sup>67</sup> 1982       Sherwin et al <sup>65</sup> 1982       Sherwin et al <sup>85</sup> 2009       Sherwin et al <sup>85</sup> 2009
Descriptive analysis         Comparative analysis	Allegaert et al $^{59}$ (Pediatr Crit2006Care)Care)Allegaert et al $^{60}$ (Pediatr2005Nephrol)Allegaert et al $^{61}$ 2004Allegaert et al $^{66}$ 1986Palix et al $^{66}$ 1986Philips et al $^{71}$ 1982Allegaert et al $^{56}$ 1986Palix et al $^{66}$ 1986Palix et al $^{56}$ 2007Allegaert et al $^{58}$ (Methods2006Allegaert et al $^{58}$ 2007Allegaert et al $^{58}$ 2007Allegaert et al $^{56}$ 1989Paleyaert et al $^{66}$ 1989Paleyaert et al $^{66}$ 1999Padovani et al $^{66}$ 1983Parini et al $^{66}$ 1983Parini et al $^{66}$ 1983Parini et al $^{67}$ 1993Parini et al $^{67}$ 1983Prober et al $^{70}$ 1983Parini et al $^{67}$ 1983Prober et al $^{70}$ 1983

Table 1: Design and target population of each of the identified studies (continued)

<b>F</b>
nec
ntir
<u>0</u> )
udies
lst
ified
lent
e ic
th
of
each
of (
pulation o
t pc
targe
and
<b>Design</b>
<u> </u>
Ξ
le
1

	Birth weight (kg) Mean ± SD (min-max)	1.393 (0.77–2.9)	2.499 (0.780-4.495)	Q.N	N.D
urget Population	Observed Age: GA (w) PNA (d) PMA (w) Mean ± SD (min-max)	GA: 28.5(24–37)	PNA: 2.2 GA: 36 (30-42)	N.D	N.D
Ta	Nb. of Subjects and Characteristics	35 preterm low weight newborns (3 groups)	36 preterm low weight infants (Normoxemic:11 Hypoxemic:25) (IV:15. IM:16)	Term and preterm infants (pharmaceutical evaluation: 11 clinical evaluation: 45)	32 Term and preterm infants
Route and Duration of Admini- stration		MI	IM, IV (30min)	IV (20min) IM, ICV	IV (20min), IM
Main objective		DRE	DRE, CE	DRE, EXV	CE
Year		1980	1977	1976	1975
Articles		Cookson et al <sup>80</sup>	Myers et al 69	Howard et al 78	Howard et al
Flyesign			sar (	alonU	

Main objective abbreviations: TE: toxicity evaluation ; DRE: dosage regimen evaluation ; CE: Covariate exploration ; TDE: treatment duration evaluation ; EXV: extravascular compartment study Design abbreviations: RCT: randomized controlled trial; N-R: not randomized; N-C: not controlled models of administration abbreviations: IV: intravenous; IM: intramuscular; ICV: Intracerebroventricular Target population abbreviations: IV: intravenous; IM: intramuscular; ICV: Intracerebroventricular age; PNA : postnatal age; PMA: Post-menstrual age; GA :gestational age; CW: current weight <sup>a</sup> Including infants with PNA > 30d <sup>b</sup> Ne (GA) ≥ 36. weight ≥ 2500 g When two drug groups are studies, only the ages and weights of amikacin group patients were retrieved.

	ıdings			nent failure 1:1 2: 0 5)	il the10 <sup>th</sup> day nent)	difference oups in xicity	group : 20% %. P>0.05	impairment 6 (14/20) 6 (11/20) 05) 05 in both 15.
	Other fir			Clinical treatm Group Group' (P=0.	No cases of ou both groups (unt of treatn	No significant between gr nephroto	Renal toxicity: Group2: 31.6	Renal function Group 1: 70% Group 2: 55% (P<0.) Ototoxicity: (
	Infra /Supratherapeutic		C.N.	Q.N	Group1: Ctrough:7% Group2: Ctrough: 69% < 5 . Cpeak:12.5%		Q.N	Group1: Ctrough: 0 % Cpeak:0 % Group2: Ctrough: 0% Cpeak: 60%
Main Finding	Levels in Therapeutic Range		Ũ	Q'N	Group1: Ctrough: 100% < 10 33% < 5 Cpeak: 86% < 30 Group1: 100% < 10 31.25% < 5 Cpeak: 87.5% > 30	Group1: Ctrough:100% Group2: Ctrough: 87%	Q.N	Group1: Ctrough: 100 % Cpeak:100 % Group2: Ctrough: 100 % Cpeak:40 %
	mean Crough	(min-max) (mg/l)	Group 1: 7.04±5.03 Group 2: 4.31±2.96 (P <0.05)	Q'N	Group 1: 3.99 ± 1.97 Group 2: 5.67 ± 2.20	Group1: 2.3±1.47 (0.5-6.6) Group2: 4.6±2.5 (2.8-11.3)	Group 1: 4.2±3.4 Group 2: 8.2±3.6 P<0.05	Group1: 1.74±0.84 (0.14-3.95) Group2: 3.57±2.40 (0.13-9.37)
	mean C <sub>peak</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	Group 1: 16.92±8.08 Croup 2: 24.38±10.08 (P <0.05)	ŊŊ	Group 1: 36.39 ± 9.75. Group2: 21.79 ± 6.22	Group1: 27.7±6.6 (13.6-43.3) Group2: 16.3±5.8 (11.7-33.1)	Group 1: 24.2±12.5 Group 2: 22.6±8.2 P>0.05	Group1: 30.57±2.81 (25.81-35.12) Group2: 18.49±4.02 (13.08-26.82)
Regimen Used	Dosage Regimen		Group1: 1) 7.5 mg/kg/12 2) 10 mg/kg/12h 3) 7.5 mg/kg/2h 3) 7.5 mg/kg/8h Group2: 1) 16 mg/kg/36h 2) 15 mg/kg/24h 4) 15 mg/kg/24h	<ol> <li>7.5mg/kg/12h</li> <li>10mg/kg/12h</li> <li>Group1: 3d. Group2: 5d</li> </ol>	Group1: 1) 15 mg/kg/24h 2) 20 mg/kg/24h Group2: 1) 7.5 mg/kg/12h 2) 10 mg/kg/12h	Group1:15 mg/kg/24h Group2:7.5mg/kg/12h	Group1 OD: 20mg/kg/24h Group 2 TD: 10mg/kg/12h	Group1: 15mg/kg/24h Group2: 7.5mg/kg/12h
Dosage I	Variables Involved		Age (PNA) and weight 1) $\leq 7d+1200-2000g$ 2) $\leq 7d+2000g$ 3) $>7d+1200-2000g$	Weight 1) 1500 to 2000g 2) >2000g	Age (PNA) 1) ≤ 7 d 2) > 7 d	Non	Non	Non
t Serum	tions (mg/L) Ctrough		2 - 2	Non	0D: < 5 TD: < 10	<10	Non	<10
Targei	Concentral Cpeak		20-30	Non	TD: 30 (unclear)	Non	Non	> 20
Year			2018	2014	2014	2011	2007	6661
First author			Bordbar et al <sup>38</sup>	Pasha et al <sup>35</sup>	Vucicevic et al <sup>48</sup>	Abdel Hady et al $\frac{28}{28}$	Vasquez- Mendoza et al <sup>37</sup>	Kotze et al <sup>31</sup>

Table 2: Dosage regimens and main findings of the included studies

	Other findings			Q.N	12% raise in creatinine clearance. 40 % decline in creatinine clearance and NAG increased.	C <sub>(SF)</sub> = 3.9 (0.8.11.2) Mortality: 5 cases (15.2%)	Ctrough increases significantly with respiratory detresse and PNA < 72 h	ECC < 1.25 mg/l	Possible ototoxicity cases in 2 patients with amikacin (4%)	No difference between amikacin and gentamicin in nephrotoxicity.
	Infra /Supratherapeutic		U.N	Group IV: Ctrough: 50% (13/26) Cpeak:34.6% (9/26) Group IM: Ctrough: 22.2% (4/18) Cpeak:33.3% (6/18)	Q.N	Q. X.	N.D	Q.X	Ū.N	C Z
Main Finding	Levels in Therapeutic Range		N.D	N.D	N.D	Ũ.	N.D	ŪŽ	Ū.Ŋ	N.D
	mean Ctrough	(min-max) (mg/l)	Group1: 2.75±1.19	uroupz: 3.:2±1.:30 Group IV: 14.8 day3. 13.9 day8 Group IM: 4.8 day3. 7.2 day8	10.2±3.9	Q	9.6 ±4 (2.5-18.1) second day of life	Day 3: 6.6 (< 1.25 - 16.0)	Ū.X	Ū.Ż
	mean C <sub>peak</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	Group1: 23.06±3.3	Group 2: 13.6=2.2 Group IV: 2.8.4 day3. 26.6 day8 Group IM: 21.3 day3. 25.8 day8	26.3±9.4	Q.X.	N.D	Dose 1: 7.0 (< 1.25 - 12.0) Day 7: 14.0 (2.3 - 27.0)	21.3 (4.6-110)	Q.Z.
Regimen Used	Dosage Regimen		Group1: 15 mg/kg/24h Group2: 7.5 mg/kg/12h	7.5 mg/kg/12h then adjusted	7.5 mg/kg/12h or 7.5 mg/kg/8h	<ol> <li>7.5 mg/kg/12h</li> <li>2) 10 mg/kg/12h</li> <li>3) 10 mg/kg/12h</li> <li>4) 10 mg/kg/8h</li> <li>5) 10 mg/kg/8h</li> </ol>	Mean dose: 7.2±0.5 mg/kg/12h for 13 ±3 doses	1) 7.5 mg/kg/12h 2) 5 mg/kg/8h	1) 7.5 mg/kg/12h 2) 7.5 mg/kg/8h	<ol> <li>7.5 mg/kg/12 to 18 h</li> <li>2) 10 mg/kg/12 h</li> <li>3) 7.5 mg/kg/8 to 12</li> <li>4) 10 mg/kg/8 h</li> </ol>
Dosage	Variables Involved		Non	Non	Non	Age (PNA) and weight 1) $< 6d + <2000g$ 2) $< 6d + >2000g$ 3) $7-30d + <2000g$ 4) $7-30d + >2000g$ 5) $>30d$	Non	Age (PNA) 1 < 7 $2 \ge 7$	Age (PNA) 1) <7 2) >7	Age (PNA) and weight 1) $\leq 74+1200-2000g$ 2) $\leq 74+>2000g$ 3) $>7d+1200-2000g$ 4) $>7d+>2000g$
erum	Ctrough		Non	Optimal: 2-5 Safe: < 10	Non	e Z	Non	Non	Non	uo Z
Target S	Cpeak		Non	Optimal:15– 25 Safe:<35	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non
Year			1993	1989	1987	1984	1984	1978	1985	2018
First author			Langhendries et al <sup>32</sup>	Deramoudt– Dutrus et al <sup>30</sup>	Adelman et al <sup>29</sup>	McCracken et al	Rajchgot et al <sup>36</sup>	Marks et al <sup>33</sup>	Finitzo-Hieber et al <sup>40</sup>	Alinejad et al <sup>42</sup>

	Other findings		Overall mortality: 8.1%		amikacin concentration in epithelial lining fluid : 6.5 (1.5-23)mg/l	Amikacin did not alter the amplitude of the otoacoustic emissions in all groups	Q.Z.	Recovery rate 99.4%	Q	N.D	$C_{(CSF)} = 81.5 (12-184)$	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D
	Infra /Supratherapeutic		<ol> <li>Ctrough: 80% and Cpeak: 67%</li> <li>Ctrough: 86% and Cpeak: 64%</li> </ol>	Ctrough: 39.8% % and Cpeak: 9.5%	N.D	Ū.N	C, X	C.N	Q. Z	Ctrough: 28.9% Cpeak: 23.7%	U.N	N.D	N.D	N.D	Groupe 1: Ctrough: 14.9%. Cpeak:49.3 % Group 2: Ctrough: 12.5%. Cpeak: 88.7%
Main Finding	Levels in Therapeutic Range		<ol> <li>Ctrough: 20% and Cpeak: 33%</li> <li>Ctrough: 14% and Cpeak: 36%</li> </ol>	Ctrough: 60.2% % and Cpeak: 90.5%	N.D	N.D	**Ctrough: 85% Cpeak: 88%	N.D	QX	Ctrough: 71.1 % Cpeak: 76.3 %	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	Groupe I: Ctrough: 85.1%. Cpeak: 50.7 % Group 2: Ctrough: 87.5%. Cpeak: 81.3%
	mean Crough	(min-max) (mg/l)	1) 6.2±3.4 2) 9.2±5.7 (P=0.02)	N.D	2.1(1.0-7.1)	N.D	3.7 (0.8-13.3)	≈2.9-5.1	Group1: $\approx 6$ Group2: $\approx 5.5$ Group3: $\approx 5.5$ Group3: $\approx 5$	N.D	N.D	8.3±2.7	7.1 (2-13.5)	$5.14 \pm 4.28$	Group1: 3.5±3.3 Group2: 2.7±2.3
	mean C <sub>peak</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	1) 17.5±9.3 2) 19.9±10.5 (P=0.5)	N.D	39.1(24.1-73.2)	N.D	21.5 (10.7-91.6)	≈ 26.4-28.8	Group 1: $\approx$ 19.8 Group 2: $\approx$ 22.2 Group 3: $\approx$ 24.5 Group 4: $\approx$ 26.5	N.D	N.D	18.2±4.6 (13-32)	21.7 (15.0-29.0)	$13.22 \pm 10.91$	Group 1: 26.9±7.8 Group 2: 25.8±4.9
Regimen Used	Dosage Regimen		Loading dose: 15 mg/kg. Maintenance dose 7.5 mg/kg/12h	Appendix A, table A3 (optimized from De Cock 2012)	Dosage regimen of Langhendries JP et al 1998 <sup>44</sup>	Neofax® Appendix A, table A4	<ol> <li>1)10 mg/kg then 7.5 mg/kg/24h</li> <li>2)17 mg/kg then 15 mg/kg/24h</li> </ol>	AppendixA table A11	15 mg/kg/24h	Appendix A, table A12	5 mg/24h ICV Then adjusted to maintain through level 5 to 10 MIC	7.5 mg/kg/12h	Appendix A, table A14	7.5-10 mg/kg/24h	Group1: Neofax® Appendix A, table A4 Group2: developed from group1 results (Appendix A, table A5)
Dosage	Variables Involved		Age (GA) 1) >37 2) <37	Weight and age (PNA)	Age (GA)	Age (PNA, GA and PCA)	Age (PNA) and weight 1 > 7 + < 1500 $2 \ge 7 + < 1500$	Age (GA)	Non	Weight and age (PNA)	Non	Non	Age (PNA)	Non	Group I: age (PNA, GA and PCA) Group 2: age (PNA and PCA)
erum	Ctrough		&	$\heartsuit$	Non	Non	<3.94	Non	Non	4-10	Non	Non	Non	1-8	Ş
Target S Concentratio	Cpeak		20–30	>24	Non	Non	>20.3	Non	Non	20–30	Non	Non	Non	15-30	2030
Year			2017	2015	2011	2007	2004	1998	1993	1991	1981	1979	1976	2003	2014
First author			Amponsah. et al. 25	Smits et al <sup>46</sup>	Tayman et al <sup>23</sup>	Ruggieri-Marone et al <sup>47</sup>	Berger et al <sup>26</sup>	Langhendries et al <sup>44</sup>	Langhendries et al <sup>39</sup>	Petersen et al <sup>45</sup>	Wright et al <sup>41</sup>	Want et al <sup>43</sup>	Sardemann et al.	Poblano et al 77	An et al $74$

	Other findings		Q'X	Ϋ́,D				Birthweight and postnatal predict amikacin clearance	Q.X		DN
	Infra /Supratherapeutic		Q. Z	Group1: Ctrough:33%. Cpeak: 30% Group2: Ctrough: 28%. Cpeak:21%		Group1: Ctrough: 48.7% Cpeak: 27% Group2: Ctrough: 33.7% Croad-14%	U.N.	N.D	<ol> <li>Ctrough: 46% and Cpeak: 57%</li> <li>Ctrough: 48% and Cpeak: 55%</li> <li>Ctrough: 51% and Cpeak: 57%</li> </ol>	Group 1:Ctrough: 1% and Cpeak: 65% Group 2: Ctrough: 2% and Cpeak: 16%	Groupl: Ctrough: 72.1% Cpeak: 6.5% Group2: Ctrough: 38.2% Cpeak:5.7%
Main Finding	Levels in Therapeutic Range		Overal1: Ctrough: 100% Cpeak: first dose:62-80% second dose:80-100% GA<30:62% GA>34 : 63% GA>34 : 63%	Group I: Ctrough:67%. Cpeak: 68% Group2: Ctrough:72%. Cpeak: 79%			Model 1: Ctrough: (50 to 75)%. Cpeak: (36 to 64)% Model 2: Ctrough: (56 to 80)%. (5peak: (36 to 69)%	N.D	<ol> <li>Ctrough: 54% and Cpeak: 43 %</li> <li>Ctrough: 52% and Cpeak: 45%</li> <li>Crough: 49% and Cpeak: 43%</li> </ol>	Group 1: Ctrough: 99% and Cpeak: 34% Group 2: Ctrough: 98% and Cpeak: 84%	Group1: Ctrough: 27.9% Creat: 94.5% Group2: Ctrough: 61.8 Creat: 94.2%
	mean Ctrough	(min-max) (mg/l)	Q.X.	Group1: 9.10±3.77 Group2: 8.26±2.99		Group1: 5.2±3.7 Group2: 5.7±3.1	Q.N	N.D	Ū.X.	Group 1: $2.3\pm 1.6$ Group 2: $2.0\pm 1.7$ (p > 0.01)	Group1: 8.2±4.4 (1.1-21.8) Group2: 4.8±2.4 (0.8-15)
	mean C <sub>peak</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	Ŋ	Group1: 21.88±4.88 Group2: 23.9±425		Group1: 18.5±4.6 Group2: 21.6±5.9	N.D	N.D	C.X	Group 1: $37.7\pm7.3$ Group 2: $28.5\pm5.8$ (p < 0.01)	Group1: 45.7±17.8 (10.4-100) Group2: 38.13±12.4 (14.2-71.2)
Regimen Used	Dosage Regimen		Appendix A table A10	Group1: 1) 7.5 mg/kg/12h 2) 7.5 mg/kg/12h	Group2: Group2: 1) 9 mg/kg/12h 2) 9 mg/kg/12h	Group1: 7.5 mg/kg/12h Group2: Appendix A, table A13	Appendix A, table A2	Appendix A, table A6	<ol> <li>15 mg/kg. 48 h</li> <li>15 mg/kg. 48 h</li> <li>15 mg/kg. 42 h</li> </ol>	Group 1: Neofax® Appendix A, table A4 Group 2: Appendix A, table A1	Group 1: 1)20 mg/kg/36h 2)20 mg/kg/24h Group 2: dosage regimen proposed by Langhendries JP et al 1998
Dosage	Variables Involved		Birth weight and age (GA)	Age: Group1 (PNA): 11 < 7	2) > 7 Group2 (PCA): 1) < 30 21 > 30	Group1: Non Group2: Age (PCA)	Model 1: Weight and CLcr. Model 2: weight and age (PNA)	Age (PNA). weight	Weight 1) 1.200–2.000 g 2) 2.000–2.800 g 3) >2.800 g	Age (PNA and PMA)	Age (GA) in both groups Group1 1) < 30 2)30-35
erum	Ctrough		GA<30: <7 GA>30: <5	<10		3-8	1-5	1.5–3	Q	~	Ś
Target S	Cpeak		)GA<30: 20- 32 2)GA30-34: 24-38 3)GA>34 : 28-42	20–30		15-35	25-35	24–35	24-35	20–35	>20
Year			2001 1	1990		1989	2016	2012	2017	2017	2006
First author			Labaune et al <sup>75</sup>	Kenyon al <sup>73</sup>		Roze et al <sup>76</sup>	Illamola et al <sup>90</sup>	De Cock et al <sup>15</sup>	Cristea et al. 49	Hughes. et al. <sup>50</sup>	Allegaert et al <sup>37</sup> (Br J Clin Pharmacol)

	Other findings		U.N	ibuprofen and ace- tylsalicylic acid reduce the clearance of amikacin	significant decrease in amikacin clearance was documented in preterm infants up to 34 weeks GA when ibuprofen was administered during the 1st day of life.	amikacin was significantly lower in infants who received ibuprofen-lysine	ΩN	C.N	100% success in renal function safety 80% in regrding otoxicity. Ctrough ≥10 mg/mL significantly affects ototoxicity in recontes.	92% of clearance variability was predictable in the first month of life	$C_{(CSF)} = 1.08$ (0.34-2.65)	Renal drug clearance is significantly lower in preterm neonates born small GA
	Infra /Supratherapeutic		Q.N	Q.X	Ū.N	Ctrough: 81% (68/84) >4 mg/l . 26%(24/84) >10 mg/l Cpeak: 8%	Q.N	Group1: Cpeak: 60% (3/5) >40 Group2: Cpeak: 30% (4/13)>40	Q.Z	N.D	N.D	N.D
Main Finding	Levels in Therapeutic Range		Ū.Ŋ	D.X	Q.X	Ctrough: 19% <4 mg/l 34%<10 mg/l Cpeak: 92% (70/76)	C N	N.D	Q.X	N.D	N.D	N.D
	mean C <sub>trough</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	Group1: 6.6±4.3 (0.8-21.8) Group2: 4.4±3.3 (0.8-16.9)	ŪŽ	Ū.X	Group1: 9.9 (3.5-19) Group2: 6.2 (1.0-19) p < 0.01	1) 4.12±0.3 2) 2.94±0.59 3) 2.83±0.36 4) 4.28±0.78	Group1: 16.6±11.9 Group2: 6.4±4.3	7.86 (1.8 -28.4)	N.D	$Ctrough_{(P)} = 3.8 \pm 2.5$	N.D
	mean C <sub>peak</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	Group1: 42.5±16.9 (14.8-100) Group2: 39.6±14.3 (10.4-89)	N.D	U.N	Group1: 46.7(24.5- 89) Group2: 40.9 (10.4-88.1)	1) 11.53±0.61 2) 9.52±0.92 3) 12.26±2.29 4) 15.08±2.62		29.1 (19.4-42.5)	N.D	$Cpeak_{(P)} = 35.7\pm 5.9$	N.D
Regimen Used	Dosage Regimen		The same 2 dosage regimens of Allegaert et al 2006 <sup>57</sup>	1)20 mg/kg/36h 2)20 mg/kg/24h	1)20 mg/kg/36h 2)20 mg/kg/24h	1)20 mg/kg/36h 2)20 mg/kg/24h	Group1: 7.5 mg/kg then 3.75 mg/kg/12h Group2: 7.5 mg/kg then 5 mg/kg/12h	Initial loading dose 10 mg/kg then 7.5 mg/kg/12h	15 mg/kg/24h	Dosage regimen of Langhendries JP et al 1998 44	Dosage regimen of Langhendrics JP et al 1998 <sup>44</sup>	The same 2 dosage regimens of Allegaert et al 2006 <sup>57</sup>
Dosage	Variables Involved		Age (GA)	Age (GA) 1) < 30 2)≥30	Age (GA) 1)< 30 2)30-35	Age (GA) 1)< 30 2)30-31	Weight and Age (PNA) Group1 period 1: 1) < 15d < 32w 2) < 15d ≥ 32w 3) ≥ 15< 32w 3) ≥ 15< 32w Group2 period 2 : ≥ 32	Non	Non	Age (GA)	Age (GA)	Age (GA)
Serum	ons (mg/L) Ctrough		Non	Non	Non	4	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non
Target	Concentrati Cpeak		Non	Non	Non	>20	Non	<40	Non	Non	Non	Non
Year			2006	2005	2005	2004	1986	1982	2019	2008	2008	2007
First author			Allegaert et al <sup>59</sup> (Pediatr Crit Care)	Allegaert et al <sup>60</sup> (Pediatr Nephrol)	Allegaert et al <sup>61</sup>	Allegaert et al 62 (Biol Neonate)	Palix et al <sup>66</sup>	Philips et al <sup>71</sup>	Endo et al <sup>13</sup>	Allegaert et al <sup>54</sup> Covariates	Allegaert K et al	Allegaert et al <sup>56</sup>

	Other findings		Significant and clinically relevant reduction in drug clearance is observed when ibuprofen is coadministered	GA and weight are the most important covariables	Intra-individual variability was 29%. Birth weight is an important covariable	Intraindividual variability co- efficient 28.9%	Ctrough increases significantly with respiratory detresse and PNA < 72 h	2.8% (1/35) mild hearing loss and NAG increases significantly with amikacin	N.D		N.D	ΩŻ	Mortality 5.7%. 3/35 colonized with bacteria 13/35 abnormal renal parameters	Q.Y	Overall mortality: 27%	Ū.N.
Main Finding	Infra /Supratherapeutic		C.N	N.D	Q.N	N.D	N.D	Ctrough: 54 %> 10 mg/L Cpeak: 43 %> 30mg/L	N.D	N.D	Ū.N	C.N	ŪŊ	C.N	Ū.N	Ū.N
	Levels in Therapeutic Range		N.D	N.D	Q.N	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	Q.N	N.D	Q.N	N.D	U.N
	mean Crough	(min-max) (mg/l)	N.D	N.D	Q.N	N.D	9.6 ±4 (2.5-18.1) second day of life	N.D	pprox (1.5-11)	(0.5-13)	N.D	Group1 preterm: 14.4*±9.28 (1.5- 42.6) Group2 term: 9.97*±5.67 (2.81- 31.0)	Group1:1.23±1.69 Group2: (0.4-2.4) Group3 : 3.34±2.05	N.D	IM: 8 (4-16) IV : $\approx 5 \approx (1.5-8.5)$ ICV : no Ctrough data	<b>1</b> ) $\approx$ (3.3-5.3) at 12h 2) $\approx$ 6 $\approx$ (2-11) at 12h
	mean C <sub>peak</sub>	(min-max) (mg/l)	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	N.D	(10.5 - 35.0)	27.7 (17.1-36.8)	Ω.X	Group 1:9.45±3.6 Group 2: (7.8-12) Group 3: 21.5±4.5	Normoxemic: 17.9 ± 5.7 Hypoxemic: 16.6 ± 4.5 IV:17.9 ± 3.7 IN: 18.5 ± 3.3	IM: 21.1 (13.6-40) IV: $\approx 10 \approx (2.8-22.0)$ ICV : no Cpeak data	1) 17 to 20 2) 19 (14-24)
Dosage Regimen Used	Dosage Regimen		The same 2 dosage regimens of Allegaert et al 2006 <sup>57</sup>	Not reported	17.5 mg/kg then 15 mg/kg/24h Or 10 mg/kg then 7.5 mg/kg/12h	Initial dose: 5 mg/kg Individualized dosage 6 to 18.3 mg/kg/24h	Mean dose: $7.2\pm0.5$ mg/kg/12h for 13 $\pm 3$ doses	Mean dose: 7.4±0.5mg/kg/12h	7.5 mg/kg/12h	7.5 mg/kg/12h	Studied and finally proposed DR in Appendix A (tables A7, A8)	Studied DR: 15 mg/kg/24h Proposed DR (Appendix A, table A9)	Group1:7.5mg/kg/12h Group2:1oading dose 10mg/kg 12hGroup3,4:10 7.5mg/kg/12hGroup3,4:10	7.5 mg/kg/12h	IV, IM: 7.5 mg/kg/12h ICV: 1-2mg	7.5 mg/kg (single dose) 10 mg/kg then 7.5 mg/kg/12h
	Variables Involved		Age (GA)	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	Studied: Age (PNA and GA) Proposed: Age (PMA)	Weight for the proposed DR	Non	Non	Non	Non
Target Serum Concentrations (ma/I)	Ctrough		Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	<10	Non	Non	≪s***	Non	3-8	Non	Non	Non
	Cpeak		Non	Non	Non	Non	Non	<30	Non	15 - 30	24-35***	Non	15-30	Non	15-25	15-25
Year			2006	2001	1999	1993	1983	1982	1982	1981	2009	2009	1980	1977	1976	1975
First author			Allegaert et al <sup>58</sup> (Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol)	Bleyzac et al 63	Botha et al <sup>64</sup>	Padovani et al <sup>65</sup>	Rusconi et al 67	Parini et al 68	Assael et al 72	Prober et al 70	Sherwin et al <sup>85</sup>	Siddiqi et al <sup>53</sup>	Cookson et al <sup>80</sup>	Myers et al <sup>69</sup>	Howard et al <sup>78</sup>	Howard et al <sup>79</sup>

N.D : No data; CSF: cerebrospinal fluid; ICV : Intracerebroventricular; NAG : N-acety/glucosaminidase; IV: intravenous; IM: intramuscular; PCA : post conceptional age; PNA : postnatal age; PMA: Post-menstrual age; GA : gestational age; DR: dosage regimen; ECC: Extravascular concentration

## Figure 2: Proposition of a selection method



A Enough to recommend a dosage regimen?

- 1) Does the dosage regimen consider specific covariable(s) for dosing in neonates?
- 2) Are the efficacy and safety results satisfying?
- 3) Is the number of patients is enough?

The classification of the Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic Studies is retrieved from the GAPPS tool (Grading and Assessment of Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic Studies

# **References:**

1. Kieran EA, O'Callaghan N, O'Donnell CPF. Unlicensed and off-label drug use in an Irish neonatal intensive care unit: a prospective cohort study. *Acta Paediatr Oslo Nor 1992*. 2014;103(4):e139-142. doi:10.1111/apa.12541

2. Riou S, Plaisant F, Maucort Boulch D, Kassai B, Claris O, Nguyen KA. Unlicensed and off-label drug use: a prospective study in French NICU. *Acta Paediatr Oslo Nor 1992*. 2015;104(5):e228-231. doi:10.1111/apa.12924

3. Ward RM, Sherwin CMT. Ethics of drug studies in the newborn. *Paediatr Drugs*. 2015;17(1):37-42. doi:10.1007/s40272-014-0099-8

4. Coppini R, Simons SHP, Mugelli A, Allegaert K. Clinical research in neonates and infants: Challenges and perspectives. *Pharmacol Res.* 2016;108:80-87. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.04.025

5. Allegaert K, van den Anker J. Neonatal drug therapy: The first frontier of therapeutics for children. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2015;98(3):288-297. doi:10.1002/cpt.166

6. Schreuder MF, Bueters RRG, Allegaert K. The interplay between drugs and the kidney in premature neonates. *Pediatr Nephrol Berl Ger.* 2014;29(11):2083-2091. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2651-0

7. Leroux S, Zhao W, Bétrémieux P, et al. Therapeutic guidelines for prescribing antibiotics in neonates should be evidence-based: a French national survey. *Arch Dis Child*. 2015;100(4):394-398. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306873

8. Pandolfini C, Kaguelidou F, Sequi M, et al. Wide intra- and inter-country variability in drug use and dosage in very-low-birth-weight newborns with severe infections. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013;69(4):1031-1036. doi:10.1007/s00228-012-1415-2

9. Food and Drug Administration. Specific Requirements on Content and Format of Labeling for Human Prescription Drugs; Revision of ``Pediatric Use'' Subsection in the Labeling; Final Rule. Published online 1994. https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/1994/12/13/94-30238/specific-requirements-on-content-and-format-of-labeling-for-human-prescription-drugs-revision-of

10. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER), Food and Drug Administration Guidance for Industry. The Content and Format for Pediatric Use Supplements. Published online 1996.

11. Kaguelidou F, Beau-Salinas F, Jonville-Bera AP, Jacqz-Aigrain E. Neonatal adverse drug reactions: an analysis of reports to the French pharmacovigilance database. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;82(4):1058-1068. doi:10.1111/bcp.13034

12. Giapros V, Papadimitriou P, Challa A, Andronikou S. The effect of intrauterine growth retardation on renal function in the first two months of life. *Nephrol Dial Transplant Off Publ Eur Dial Transpl Assoc - Eur Ren Assoc*. 2007;22(1):96-103. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfl550

13. Endo A, Nemoto A, Hanawa K, et al. Relationship between amikacin blood concentration and ototoxicity in low birth weight infants. *J Infect Chemother*. 2019;25(1):17-21. doi:10.1016/j.jiac.2018.10.001

14. MacDougall C, Chambers HF. Aminoglycosides. In: Brunton LL, Chabner BA, Knollmann BC, eds. *Goodman & Gilman's: The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*. 12th

ed. McGraw-Hill Education; 2015. Accessed May 11, 2021. accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1127870722

15. De Cock RFW, Allegaert K, Schreuder MF, et al. Maturation of the glomerular filtration rate in neonates, as reflected by amikacin clearance. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2012;51(2):105-117. doi:10.2165/11595640-00000000-00000

16. Beaucaire G, Leroy O, Beuscart C, Karp P, Chidiac C, Caillaux M. Clinical and bacteriological efficacy, and practical aspects of amikacin given once daily for severe infections. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1991;27 Suppl C:91-103. doi:10.1093/jac/27.suppl\_c.91

17. Townsend PL, Fink MP, Stein KL, Murphy SG. Aminoglycoside pharmacokinetics: dosage requirements and nephrotoxicity in trauma patients. *Crit Care Med.* 1989;17(2):154-157.

18. Moore RD, Smith CR, Lietman PS. The association of aminoglycoside plasma levels with mortality in patients with gram-negative bacteremia. *J Infect Dis.* 1984;149(3):443-448. doi:10.1093/infdis/149.3.443

19. Moore RD, Smith CR, Lietman PS. Association of aminoglycoside plasma levels with therapeutic outcome in gram-negative pneumonia. *Am J Med.* 1984;77(4):657-662. doi:10.1016/0002-9343(84)90358-9

20. Friis-Hansen B. Water distribution in the foetus and newborn infant. *Acta Paediatr Scand Suppl.* 1983;305:7-11. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1983.tb09852.x

21. Pacifici GM. Clinical pharmacokinetics of aminoglycosides in the neonate: a review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2009;65(4):419-427. doi:10.1007/s00228-008-0599-y

22. Touw DJ, Westerman EM, Sprij AJ. Therapeutic drug monitoring of aminoglycosides in neonates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2009;48(2):71-88. doi:10.2165/00003088-200948020-00001

23. Tayman C, Rayyan M, Allegaert K. Neonatal pharmacology: extensive interindividual variability despite limited size. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther JPPT Off J PPAG*. 2011;16(3):170-184. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-16.3.170

24. Scott RP, Maezawa Y, Kreidberg J, Quaggin SE. Embryology of the Kidney. *Brenner Rectors Kidney 10th Ed.* Published online 2016. Accessed May 11, 2021. https://www.scholars.northwestern.edu/en/publications/embryology-of-the-kidney-2

25. Amponsah SK, Adjei GO, Enweronu-Laryea C, et al. Population Pharmacokinetic Characteristics of Amikacin in Suspected Cases of Neonatal Sepsis in a Low-Resource African Setting: A Prospective Nonrandomized Single-Site Study. *Curr Ther Res Clin Exp.* 2017;84:e1-e6. doi:10.1016/j.curtheres.2017.01.001

26. Berger A, Kretzer V, Gludovatz P, Heinze G, Haiden N, Pollak A. Evaluation of an amikacin loading dose for nosocomial infections in very low birthweight infants. *Acta Paediatr Oslo Nor 1992*. 2004;93(3):356-360. doi:10.1080/08035250410023809

27. Sardemann H, Colding H, Hendel J, Kampmann JP, Hvidberg EF, Vejlsgaard R. Kinetics and dose calculations of amikacin in the newborn. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 1976;20(1):59-66. doi:10.1002/cpt197620159

28. Abdel-Hady E, El Hamamsy M, Hedaya M, Awad H. The efficacy and toxicity of two dosing-regimens of amikacin in neonates with sepsis. *J Clin Pharm Ther*. 2011;36(1):45-52. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2710.2009.01152.x

29. Adelman RD, Wirth F, Rubio T. A controlled study of the nephrotoxicity of mezlocillin and amikacin in the neonate. *Am J Dis Child 1960.* 1987;141(11):1175-1178.

doi:10.1001/archpedi.1987.04460110045019

30. Deramoudt-Dutrus V, Betremieux P, Lefrançois C, Malledant Y, Avril JL, Le Marec B. [Comparative study of the administration of amikacin by intramuscular and intravenous routes in neonatal resuscitation]. *Pediatrie*. 1989;44(2):125-132.

31. Kotze A, Bartel PR, Sommers DK. Once versus twice daily amikacin in neonates: prospective study on toxicity. *J Paediatr Child Health*. 1999;35(3):283-286. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1754.1999.00352.x

32. Langhendries JP, Battisti O, Bertrand JM, et al. Administration en dose unique journalière de l'amikacine. Adaptation à la néonatologie pour des enfants traités avant le 3ème jour d'âge postnatal. *Médecine Mal Infect*. 1993;23:44-54. doi:10.1016/S0399-077X(05)80984-9

33. Marks S, Marks MI, Dupont C, Hammerberg S. Evaluation of three antibiotic programs in newborn infants. *Can Med Assoc J.* 1978;118(6):659-662.

34. McCracken GH, Threlkeld N, Mize S, et al. Moxalactam therapy for neonatal meningitis due to gram-negative enteric bacilli. A prospective controlled evaluation. *JAMA*. 1984;252(11):1427-1432.

35. Pasha YZ, Ahmadpour-Kacho M, Behmadi R, Jahangir T. 3-Day versus 5-Day Course of Intravenous Antibiotics for Suspected Early Onset Neonatal Sepsis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Iran J Pediatr.* 2014;24(6):673-678.

36. Rajchgot P, Prober CG, Soldin S, et al. Aminoglycoside-related nephrotoxicity in the premature newborn. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1984;35(3):394-401. doi:10.1038/clpt.1984.49

37. Guadalupe Vásquez-Mendoza M, Vargas-Origel A, Del Carmen Ramos-Jiménez A, Aguilar-Orozco G, Romero-Gutiérrez G. Efficacy and renal toxicity of one daily dose of amikacin versus conventional dosage regime. *Am J Perinatol.* 2007;24(2):141-146. doi:10.1055/s-2006-958159

38. Bordbar. Standard multiple and single daily dosing of amikacin in premature infants | Cochrane Library. *IJN*. Published online 2018. doi:10.1002/central/CN-01461256

39. Langhendries JP, Battisti O, Bertrand JM, et al. Once-a-Day Administration of Amikacin in Neonates: Assessment of Nephrotoxicity and Ototoxicity. *Dev Pharmacol Ther*. 1993;20:220-230. doi:10.1159/000457566

40. Finitzo-Hieber T, McCracken GH, Brown KC. Prospective controlled evaluation of auditory function in neonates given netilmicin or amikacin. *J Pediatr*. 1985;106(1):129-136. doi:10.1016/s0022-3476(85)80485-6

41. Wright PF, Kaiser AB, Bowman CM, McKee KT, Trujillo H, McGee ZA. The pharmacokinetics and efficacy of an aminoglycoside administered into the cerebral ventricles in neonates: implications for further evaluation of this route of therapy in meningitis. *J Infect Dis.* 1981;143(2):141-147. doi:10.1093/infdis/143.2.141

42. Alinejad S, Yousefichaijan P, Rezagholizamenjany M, Rafie Y, Kahbazi M, Arjmand A. Nephrotoxic Effect of Gentamicin and Amikacin in Neonates with Infection. *Nephro-Urol Mon.* 2018;10(2). doi:10.5812/numonthly.58580

43. Want SV, Jones AK, Darrell JH. Amikacin dosage in the preterm newborn. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1979;5(5):527-530. doi:10.1093/jac/5.5.527

44. Langhendries JP, Battisti O, Bertrand JM, et al. Adaptation in neonatology of the oncedaily concept of aminoglycoside administration: evaluation of a dosing chart for amikacin in an intensive care unit. Biol Neonate. 1998;74(5):351-362. doi:10.1159/000014053

45. Petersen PO, Wells TG, Kearns GL. Amikacin dosing in neonates: evaluation of a dosing chart based on population pharmacokinetic data. *Dev Pharmacol Ther*. 1991;16(4):203-211.

46. Smits A, De Cock RFW, Allegaert K, Vanhaesebrouck S, Danhof M, Knibbe C a. J. Prospective Evaluation of a Model-Based Dosing Regimen for Amikacin in Preterm and Term Neonates in Clinical Practice. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2015;59(10):6344-6351. doi:10.1128/AAC.01157-15

47. Ruggieri-Marone M, Schochat E. [Distortion product otoacoustic emissions in newborns treated by ototoxic drugs]. *Rev Laryngol - Otol - Rhinol*. 2007;128(1-2):41-46.

48. Vučićević K, Rakonjac Z, Miljković B, Janković B, Prostran M. Pharmacokinetic variability of amikacin after once-daily and twice-daily dosing regimen in full-term neonates. *J Pharmacol Sci.* 2014;124(2):138-143. doi:10.1254/jphs.13126fp

49. Cristea S, Smits A, Kulo A, et al. Amikacin Pharmacokinetics To Optimize Dosing in Neonates with Perinatal Asphyxia Treated with Hypothermia. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2017;61(12). doi:10.1128/AAC.01282-17

50. Hughes KM, Johnson PN, Anderson MP, Sekar KC, Welliver RC, Miller JL. Comparison of Amikacin Pharmacokinetics in Neonates Following Implementation of a New Dosage Protocol. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther JPPT*. 2017;22(1):33-40. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-22.1.33

51. Illamola SM, Colom H, van Hasselt JGC. Evaluating renal function and age as predictors of amikacin clearance in neonates: model-based analysis and optimal dosing strategies. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;82(3):793-805. doi:10.1111/bcp.13016

52. Sherwin CMT, Svahn S, Van der Linden A, Broadbent RS, Medlicott NJ, Reith DM. Individualised dosing of amikacin in neonates: a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic analysis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2009;65(7):705-713. doi:10.1007/s00228-009-0637-4

53. Siddiqi A, Khan D, Khan F, Razzaq A. Therapeutic drug monitoring of amikacin in preterm and term infants. *Singapore Med J*. Published online 2009.

54. Allegaert K, Scheers I, Cossey V, Anderson BJ. Covariates of amikacin clearance in neonates: the impact of postnatal age on predictability. *Drug Metab Lett.* 2008;2(4):286-289. doi:10.2174/187231208786734157

55. Allegaert K, Scheers I, Adams E, Brajanoski G, Cossey V, Anderson BJ. Cerebrospinal fluid compartmental pharmacokinetics of amikacin in neonates. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2008;52(6):1934-1939. doi:10.1128/AAC.01099-07

56. Allegaert K, Anderson BJ, van den Anker JN, Vanhaesebrouck S, de Zegher F. Renal Drug Clearance in Preterm Neonates: Relation to Prenatal Growth. *Ther Drug Monit*. 2007;29(3):284-291. doi:10.1097/FTD.0b013e31806db3f5

57. Allegaert K, Anderson BJ, Cossey V, Holford NHG. Limited predictability of amikacin clearance in extreme premature neonates at birth. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2006;61(1):39-48. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02530.x

58. Allegaert K, Rayyan M, Anderson BJ. Impact of ibuprofen administration on renal drug clearance in the first weeks of life. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol*. 2006;28(8):519-522. doi:10.1358/mf.2006.28.8.1037489

59. Allegaert K, Debeer A, Cossey V, Rayyan M, Devlieger H. Dopamine is not an

independent risk factor for reduced amikacin clearance in extremely low-birth-weight infants. *Pediatr Crit Care Med J Soc Crit Care Med World Fed Pediatr Intensive Crit Care Soc.* 2006;7(2):143-146. doi:10.1097/01.PCC.0000200971.65255.F0

60. Allegaert K, Vanhole C, de Hoon J, et al. Nonselective cyclo-oxygenase inhibitors and glomerular filtration rate in preterm neonates. *Pediatr Nephrol Berl Ger.* 2005;20(11):1557-1561. doi:10.1007/s00467-005-1998-2

61. Allegaert K, Cossey V, Debeer A, et al. The impact of ibuprofen on renal clearance in preterm infants is independent of the gestational age. *Pediatr Nephrol Berl Ger.* 2005;20(6):740-743. doi:10.1007/s00467-005-1842-8

62. Allegaert K, Cossey V, Langhendries JP, et al. Effects of Co-Administration of Ibuprofen-Lysine on the Pharmacokinetics of Amikacin in Preterm Infants during the First Days of Life. *Neonatology*. 2004;86(3):207-211. doi:10.1159/000079618

63. Bleyzac N, Varnier V, Labaune JM, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of amikacin at birth and interindividual variability in renal maturation. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2001;57(6-7):499-504. doi:10.1007/s002280100355

64. Botha JH, du Preez MJ, Miller R, Adhikari M. Determination of population pharmacokinetic parameters for amikacin in neonates using mixed-effect models. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 1998;53(5):337-341. doi:10.1007/s002280050389

65. Padovani EM, Pistolesi C, Fanos V, Messori A, Martini N. Pharmacokinetics of amikacin in neonates. *Dev Pharmacol Ther*. 1993;20(3-4):167-173. doi:10.1159/000457558

66. Palix C, Charbit-Bues M, Coignet J, Cano JP. [Adaptation of amikacin dosages for the premature infant]. *Pediatrie*. 1986;41(2):147-157.

67. Rusconi F, Parini R, Cavanna G, Assael BM. Monitoring of amikacin in the neonate. *Ther Drug Monit.* 1983;5(2):179-183. doi:10.1097/00007691-198306000-00005

68. Parini R, Rusconi F, Cavanna G, Vigliani E, Cornacchia L, Assael BM. Evaluation of the Renal and Auditory Function of Neonates Treated with Amikacin. *Dev Pharmacol Ther*. 1982;5:33-46. doi:10.1159/000481005

69. Myers MG, Roberts RJ, Mirhij NJ. Effects of gestational age, birth weight, and hypoxemia on pharmacokinetics of amikacin in serum of infants. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1977;11(6):1027-1032. doi:10.1128/AAC.11.6.1027

70. Prober CG, Yeager AS, Arvin AM. The effect of chronologic age on the serum concentrations of amikacin in sick term and premature infants. *J Pediatr*. 1981;98(4):636-640. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(81)80783-4

71. Philips JB, Satterwhite C, Dworsky ME, Cassady G. Recommended amikacin doses in newborns often produce excessive serum levels. *Pediatr Pharmacol N Y N*. 1982;2(2):121-125.

72. Assael BM, Parini R, Rusconi F, Cavanna G. Influence of intrauterine maturation on the pharmacokinetics of amikacin in the neonatal period. *Pediatr Res.* 1982;16(10):810-815. doi:10.1203/00006450-198210000-00002

73. Kenyon CF, Knoppert DC, Lee SK, Vandenberghe HM, Chance GW. Amikacin pharmacokinetics and suggested dosage modifications for the preterm infant. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1990;34(2):265-268. doi:10.1128/AAC.34.2.265

74. An SH, Kim JY, Gwak HS. Outcomes of a new dosage regimen of amikacin based on pharmacokinetic parameters of Korean neonates. *Am J Health Syst Pharm*. 2014;71(2):122-127. doi:10.2146/ajhp130308

75. Labaune JM, Bleyzac N, Maire P, et al. Once-a-day individualized amikacin dosing for suspected infection at birth based on population pharmacokinetic models. *Biol Neonate*. 2001;80(2):142-147. doi:10.1159/000047133

76. Rozé JC, Tohier C, Rigal E, Drugeon B, Mouzard A. [Posology of amikacin in newborn infants, adapted to the postconceptional age]. *Arch Fr Pediatr*. 1989;46(5):375-379.

77. Poblano A, Belmont A, Sosa J, et al. Amikacin alters auditory brainstem conduction time in newborns. *J Perinat Med.* 2003;31(3):237-241. doi:10.1515/JPM.2003.032

78. Howard JB, McCraken GH, Trujillo H, Mohs E. Amikacin in newborn infants: comparative pharmacology with kanamycin and clinical efficacy in 45 neonates with bacterial diseases. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1976;10(2):205-210. doi:10.1128/AAC.10.2.205

79. Howard JB, McCracken GH. Pharmacological evaluation of amikacin in neonates. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1975;8(1):86-90. doi:10.1128/AAC.8.1.86

80. Cookson B, Tripp J, Leung T, Williams JD. Evaluation of amikacin dosage regimes in the low and very low birthweight newborn. *Infection*. 1980;8 Suppl 3:S 239-242. doi:10.1007/BF01639588

81. Vucovich MM, Cotton RB, Shelton EL, et al. Aminoglycoside-mediated relaxation of the ductus arteriosus in sepsis-associated PDA. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2014;307(5):H732-740. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00838.2013

82. Matz GJ. Aminoglycoside cochlear ototoxicity. *Otolaryngol Clin North Am.* 1993;26(5):705-712.

83. Samiee-Zafarghandy S, van den Anker JN. Aminoglycosides and ototoxicity in neonates: is there a relation with serum concentrations? *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2013;51(12):993-994. doi:10.5414/CP201990

84. Guignard JP, Drukker A. Why do newborn infants have a high plasma creatinine? *Pediatrics*. 1999;103(4):e49. doi:10.1542/peds.103.4.e49

85. Sherwin CMT, Svahn S, Van der Linden A, Broadbent RS, Medlicott NJ, Reith DM. Individualised dosing of amikacin in neonates: a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic analysis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2009;65(7):705-713. doi:10.1007/s00228-009-0637-4

86. Lutsar I, Metsvaht T. Understanding pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics in managing neonatal sepsis. *Curr Opin Infect Dis.* 2010;23(3):201-207. doi:10.1097/QCO.0b013e328337bb42

87. Schreuder MF, Wilhelm AJ, Bökenkamp A, Timmermans SMH, Waal HAD van de, Wijk JAE van. Impact of Gestational Age and Birth Weight on Amikacin Clearance on Day 1 of Life. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2009;4(11):1774-1778. doi:10.2215/CJN.02230409

88. Olivesi A. [Kinetics of amikacin blood levels in neonates (author's transl)]. *Therapie*. 1979;34(4):495-504.

89. Allegaert K. The impact of ibuprofen or indomethacin on renal drug clearance in neonates. *J Matern-Fetal Neonatal Med Off J Eur Assoc Perinat Med Fed Asia Ocean Perinat Soc Int Soc Perinat Obstet*. 2009;22 Suppl 3:88-91. doi:10.1080/14767050903180965

90. Illamola SM, Colom H, van Hasselt JGC. Evaluating renal function and age as predictors of amikacin clearance in neonates: model-based analysis and optimal dosing strategies. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;82(3):793-805. doi:10.1111/bcp.13016

#### **General discussion**

#### Promoting applicability and effectiveness of trigger tool method in children (article I)

This work promotes the adoption of an electronic trigger tool in paediatric settings, with the emphasis on the importance of selecting appropriate triggers along with a proper organisation before implementation. Additional studies are required to improve the knowledge about the effectiveness of triggers in drug safety surveillance in children. Studies to assess how cost-effective is the implementation of an appropriate trigger tool in different paediatric settings and different age groups could help urge more paediatric hospitals to use it. Adapting certain triggers with paediatric age groups, including creating new triggers for certain age groups and providing adapted definitions and thresholds could also be considered for this method to be more effective. (1).

#### Towards earlier ADR detection (article I)

From a clinical perspective, ADRs may be detected too late with the existing ADE-detection methods. There is great interest to increase the use of earlier and proactive detection methods (including prediction), allowing prevention or faster management of occurring ADRs in present and future patients (2–5). The classification of triggers through their potential clinical use, as presented in this work, supports this orientation. Even though the use of triggers for ADR prevention needs to be validated and depends on the quality of the application of the (near) real-time detection system, numerous triggers are usable for early detection, allowing a better potential management of ADRs. However, the optimal methodology for an effective prediction of ADRs have not been identified yet (6,7). As in their retrospective use (8), the applicability and effectiveness of using triggers for early detection purposes need to be tested and validated. Nevertheless, this real-time mode may require a reviewing of trigger definitions (decision

rules). In this case, potential changes in trigger performance are expected. Focusing on ADRs of interest (e.g., serious ADRs) could be considered for the applicability tests. It may be necessary to allocate a greater number of trained reviewers for a real-time detection use compared to retrospective detection to guaranty the assessment of all alerts (positive generated triggers) within the requested time. Involving clinical practitioners in reviewing and evaluating the generated alerts may help increase their awareness on ADRs and consequently prevent further cases as well as train a higher number of them on ADRs assessment. The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality indicates that the reliability of trigger tools is significantly promoted by a higher level of training and experience of the reviewers and their familiarity with the clinical setting being evaluated (9).

#### **Improve reporting systems**

Even the best detection method becomes ineffective if it is not paired with an effective reporting system. For this reason, measures to increase current reporting rates should accompany the development of the existing pharmacovigilance detection methods. Improving ADR reporting is more important in the paediatric population because of its small population size. Many methods could be used to achieve this, such as using automated report production, continuously encouraging health-care workers to report ADRs, as well as putting in place educational interventions (e.g., training programmes, reminders, meetings, etc.), in parallel with implementing an appropriate trigger tool. These methods were shown to be effective in increasing the quality and quantity of safety reports. Educational interventions were found to be helpful in raising awareness on the necessity of reporting and in acquiring knowledge about ADRs, the reporting techniques, and the assessment methods, resulting in higher reporting rates (10–13) . A study showed that ADR reporting increased 14-fold after putting in place educational interventions including pharmacovigilance talks, pharmacists participating in patient visits, reminders, improvement of ADR-reporting format accessibility, in addition to the

performance of feedback activities (14). It is noteworthy that repeating these kind of interventions is essential to keep improving reporting rates (15). It may be important as well to address all health-care professionals by these interventions. Until now, physicians have accounted for the highest number of reporters in the national pharmacovigilance databases (16). Efforts to improve reporting require the ongoing awareness raising of healthcare professionals about the importance of drug safety monitoring in children. It also requires to take into account the existing fundamental factors influencing reporting decisions, such as the time since the medicine has been launched , the pharmacovigilance-related regulatory activity, the media attention and the indication(s) for use of the medicine (17–19).

#### Include triggers in prognostic and diagnostic models (article I)

The development of a tool to automatically detect ADRs using well-known multivariate diagnostic and prognostic models is a promising strategy to reach more effective detection. The original purpose of the work, which consists in identifying triggers used in children, was to create prognostic and diagnostic models in order to predict and detect ADRs in hospitalised children, involving selected automated triggers, 'preventing' triggers for prognostic models and 'validating and reporting' triggers for diagnostic models. Two possible strategies were proposed for consideration. The first strategy consisted in targeting ADR(s), retrieving related triggers, combining the triggers with factors identified by a panel of experts based on the available knowledge about the disease, drugs, child physiology and ADRs, examining the availability of the triggers and the factors in the EREMI database, developing a model based on these triggers and testing it the EREMI database. The second strategy consisted in targeting ADR(s), identifying new prognostic and diagnostic factors (as new triggers) related to the targeted ADRs (e.g., concomitant treatments) through modelling techniques using the EREMI database, building a model combining the most performant related triggers from the literature

and the new triggers, then testing, developing, and validating the model using an external database.

The EREMI database was considered because it gathers hospital-based computerised data of 5127 children aged below 15 years-old, hospitalised in two hospitals located in Lyon and Paris, totalling 388 ADRs validated by an independent committee. The available dataset for use during the period of this thesis concerned Lyon inpatients only and consisted of 198 validated ADRs. The inadequate number of reported ADRs in this dataset, the heterogeneity of their nature and the non-concordance with the identified triggers did not allow us to develop the predictive and diagnostic models using any of the strategies mentioned above (Appendix A). We found that generating and collecting triggers then examining which of them are useful for a detection model development using already collected data may not be the most efficient way. Moreover, the sufficiency of existing positive training for modelling or validating models should have been investigated from the beginning.

This experience suggests that one local database of collected-ADRs in hospitalised children could never be enough for such a modelling approach. Resorting to the biggest national or international pharmacovigilance databases (e.g., the WHO database [VigiBase] and the FDA Adverse Event Reporting System [FAERS]) could be necessary to identify an adequate number of ADRs of interest (e.g., serious or high-impact ADRs). Given that these big pharmacovigilance databases do not usually contain the types of data regarding patients and hospitalization as local EHRs do, the use of EHRs of patients who presented ADRs and other patients who did not may be more effective. Combining and standardising EHRs could provide a high powerful database for this type of modelling, thus improving drug safety monitoring in children (20,21).

#### Informed choice of oral dosage form in children (article II)

When it comes to oral drug administration in children, most paediatric prescribers choose liquid formulations, almost automatically and without considering the other existing options (22,23). This work encourages paediatric prescribers to switch from a preferred and generalised oral dosage form to the most appropriate dosage form for each patient among the available dosage forms. Most of the previous researches focused (24-26) on the lack of child-friendly dosage forms and the development of new forms while only a few (27) offered practical solutions based on available resources. From our point of view, both approaches are necessary to improve medicine safety in children. Beyond the fact that we encourage to choose solid dosage forms in children whenever it is suitable, feasible, authorised and available, we point out how important is to make better informed choices regarding oral dosage forms in children. Conducting similar studies aiming to optimise dosage form choices in children is encouraged. We admit that making the best dosage form choice for a child could be very complex since there is a lot of information to consider (e.g., the patient characteristics, the patient preferences, the swallowing capacity, the properties of the available dosage forms of the needed drug, the advantages and disadvantages of each one with regards to the patient, the disease, the clinical and psychological state of the patient and the duration of treatment). This choice needs to be made for each drug prescription. Therefore, developing an algorithm and integrating it in a clinical decision support tool to help prescribers make the best dosage form choice appears to be a very promising solution. Such an algorithm facilitates the treatment of the high amount of information. However, establishing decision-making rules needs to be done first. The acceptability of the suggested dosage forms (of our study or those proposed by a developed algorithm) could be validated prospectively in hospitalised children. The effect of the replacement on safety (comparison between the proposed dosage forms and those chosen spontaneously by prescribers), including the probability of dosing errors, could be tested as well. Parallel to all

this, investing in the development of new flexible solid oral dosage forms adapted for children use, especially for younger ones, is needed.

#### Projects to harmonise dosing recommendations (article III)

Despite that there is continuous advancement in understanding medicine dosage in new-borns, the journey to use the most appropriate dosage regimen in practice is slow and complicated. Accepting the value of satisfactory regimens is a key step towards harmonising dosing recommendations and consequently practices when adequate data with high-level of evidence are unavailable. The main purpose of the data collected on the dosage regimens of amikacin was to facilitate recommending a unique dosage regimen in neonates. We continue working to reach this objective. Presently, a strategy was established to select the 'good enough' regimen of amikacin.

Ideally, projects determining the most appropriate dosage regimen in all off-label and unlicensed drugs and aiming to harmonise dosing recommendations and practices should be launched first for neonates and later for older children. Creating more sophisticated selection and harmonization processes to cover numerous drugs is possible.

Based on our ongoing experience, recommending such a dosage regimen could be very challenging. A selection process needs to be well studied and well described to avoid confusion yielded by the variability and the complexity of the available data. Implication of experts is also important when selecting a dosage regimen to recommend. The requirements of the needed experts are ideally predefined. Experiences in clinical pharmacology, methodology, the different specialties of paediatrics (infectious diseases, neonatology for the dosage regimen of amikacin) are often needed (28).

On the ground, some expert-designed harmonisation frameworks have been recently proposed in order to harmonise dosing recommendations and consequently improve safety and efficacy of drugs prescribed to children (29,30). For example, a national database has been recently initiated in Switzerland to provide paediatric healthcare professionals with harmonised dosing recommendations on the most commonly used drugs in children. For that, an advanced standardised process was built considering both the real-life information collected on currently applied dosages and the literature data. In this initiative, recommendation decisions were made by a group of experts based on data with the highest level of evidence and the practical aspects of dosages (e.g. administration modalities and dosage frequencies in order to achieve the best possible compliance) (28). Similar initiatives are needed worldwide for all concerned drugs, ideally at the international level. Including multi-countries collected data and international clinical experiences will raise the level of evidence of recommendations.

Despite the positive impact expected from using a well-selected appropriate dosage regimen, there are clearly more studies needed to find the optimal dosage regimen of these drugs.

#### Adopting a complete electronic medication system (EMS) (articles I, II, III)

The adoption of a complete electronic medication system (EMS) or computerised medication, as part of an electronic health system, in hospitals is important for improving drug safety efforts in hospitalised children (31). This system is required for the use of almost all new developed methods aiming to improve the safety of medicines and the quality of care in general (e.g., implementing the method of trigger tools and implementing clinical decision support tools to select an appropriate dosage form or to recommend a dosage regimen) (32). While this system has become reality in daily practice in many hospitals in developed countries, it is not yet the case in other countries. A systematic review, published in 2018, showed that most studies requiring EHRs were performed in developed countries, referring to large differences in the adoption of the electronic health systems between countries (33). Compared to non-electronic

systems, EMS offers the benefit of allowing different sources of patient data to be easily inserted and analysed, such as administrative data, clinical and laboratory information, prescription delivery, and administration (34,35). The use of EMS has already made significant contributions in promoting drug safety in hospitalised patients, including reducing the rates of prescribing errors by 1.8% (p<0.001) and administration errors by 2.7% (p=0.005) (36,37). However, some usability challenges of such a system could contribute to medication events in hospitalised children (32). Systematic reviews covering published pharmacovigilance studies in children between 1999 and 2010 confirmed the increasing utility of routine electronic healthcare datasets for the application of pharmacovigilance methods in children (31).

## Conclusion

Optimising a safer and more appropriate use of medicines in hospitalised children needs to be based on several strategies, to be implemented concomitantly, including:

- Optimizing the use of the trigger tool method allowing an earlier and proactive detection of ADRs. This could be reached using pertinent, performant and computerised paediatric triggers, and implementing them in a real-time detection system. Certain triggers could be used for early detection of ADRs including prevention.
- Favoring dosage forms that expose to less medication errors; solid dosage forms should be favored whenever they are available and suitable to patients.
- Identifying the most appropriate dosage regimen of drugs using a pragmatic approach, especially for neonates.

#### Bibliography

- 1. Ramos SF, Alvarez NR, Dos Santos Alcântara T, Sanchez JM, da Costa Lima E, de Lyra Júnior DP. Methods for the detection of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized children: a systematic review. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2021 Oct;20(10):1225–36.
- 2. Clothier HJ, Lawrie J, Russell MA, Kelly H, Buttery JP. Early signal detection of adverse events following influenza vaccination using proportional reporting ratio, Victoria, Australia. PLoS One. 2019;14(11):e0224702.
- 3. Liu R, Zhang P. Towards early detection of adverse drug reactions: combining pre-clinical drug structures and post-market safety reports. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making. 2019 Dec 18;19(1):279.
- 4. Nikfarjam A, Ransohoff JD, Callahan A, Jones E, Loew B, Kwong BY, et al. Early Detection of Adverse Drug Reactions in Social Health Networks: A Natural Language Processing Pipeline for Signal Detection. JMIR Public Health Surveill. 2019 Jun 3;5(2):e11264.
- Koutkias V, Kilintzis V, Stalidis G, Lazou K, Collyda C, Chazard E, et al. Constructing Clinical Decision Support Systems for Adverse Drug Event Prevention: A Knowledgebased Approach. AMIA Annu Symp Proc. 2010 Nov 13;2010:402–6.
- 6. Wang CS, Lin PJ, Cheng CL, Tai SH, Kao Yang YH, Chiang JH. Detecting Potential Adverse Drug Reactions Using a Deep Neural Network Model. J Med Internet Res. 2019 Feb 6;21(2):e11016.
- Muñoz E, Novácek V, Vandenbussche PY. Facilitating prediction of adverse drug reactions by using knowledge graphs and multi-label learning models. Brief Bioinform. 2019 Jan 18;20(1):190–202.
- 8. Schildmeijer K, Nilsson L, Perk J, Arestedt K, Nilsson G. Strengths and weaknesses of working with the Global Trigger Tool method for retrospective record review: Focus group interviews with team members. BMJ open. 2013 Sep 2;3:e003131.
- 9. The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Triggers and Trigger Tools [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 16]. Available from: https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primer/triggers-and-triggertools
- Meyer-Massetti C, Cheng CM, Schwappach DLB, Paulsen L, Ide B, Meier CR, et al. Systematic review of medication safety assessment methods. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2011 Feb 1;68(3):227–40.
- 11. Katz RI, Lagasse RS. Factors influencing the reporting of adverse perioperative outcomes to a quality management program. Anesth Analg. 2000 Feb;90(2):344–50.
- 12. Alwhaibi M, Al Aloola NA. Healthcare students' knowledge, attitude and perception of pharmacovigilance: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2020 May 20;15(5):e0233393.
- 13. Kirkendall ES, Spires WL, Mottes TA, Schaffzin JK, Barclay C, Goldstein SL. Development and Performance of Electronic Acute Kidney Injury Triggers to Identify

Pediatric Patients at Risk for Nephrotoxic Medication-Associated Harm. Appl Clin Inform. 2014 Apr 2;5(2):313–33.

- Morales Ríos O, Jasso Gutiérrez L, Talavera JO, Téllez-Rojo MM, Olivar López V, Garduño Espinosa J, et al. A comprehensive intervention for adverse drug reactions identification and reporting in a Pediatric Emergency Department. Int J Clin Pharm. 2016 Feb;38(1):80–7.
- 15. Khalili M, Mesgarpour B, Sharifi H, Daneshvar Dehnavi S, Haghdoost AA. Interventions to improve adverse drug reaction reporting: A scoping review. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2020 Sep;29(9):965–92.
- 16. Cliff-Eribo KO, Sammons H, Choonara I. Systematic review of paediatric studies of adverse drug reactions from pharmacovigilance databases. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2016 Oct;15(10):1321-8.
- 17. Hartmann K, Doser AK, Kuhn M. Postmarketing safety information: how useful are spontaneous reports? Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 1999 Apr;8 Suppl 1:S65-71.
- 18. Goldman SA. Limitations and strengths of spontaneous reports data. Clin Ther. 1998;20 Suppl C:C40-44.
- 19. European Medicines Agency. NOTE FOR GUIDANCE ON PLANNING PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES. 2005.
- 20. Coloma PM, Schuemie MJ, Trifirò G, Gini R, Herings R, Hippisley-Cox J, et al. Combining electronic healthcare databases in Europe to allow for large-scale drug safety monitoring: the EU-ADR Project. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2011 Jan;20(1):1–11.
- 21. Trifirò G, Coloma PM, Rijnbeek PR, Romio S, Mosseveld B, Weibel D, et al. Combining multiple healthcare databases for postmarketing drug and vaccine safety surveillance: why and how? J Intern Med. 2014 Jun;275(6):551–61.
- Lajoinie A, Henin E, Nguyen KA, Malik S, Mimouni Y, Sapori JM, et al. Oral drug dosage forms administered to hospitalized children: Analysis of 117,665 oral administrations in a French paediatric hospital over a 1-year period. Int J Pharm. 2016 Mar 16;500(1–2):336– 44.
- 23. Lajoinie A, Henin E, Kassai B. [Oral formulation of choice for children]. Arch Pediatr. 2015 Aug;22(8):877–85.
- 24. Batchelor HK, Marriott JF. Formulations for children: problems and solutions. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2015 Mar;79(3):405–18.
- 25. Nahata MC. Lack of pediatric drug formulations. Pediatrics. 1999 Sep;104(3 Pt 2):607-9.
- 26. Kaur G, Nagpal D, Nagpal K. Critical Reviews on Pediatric Dosage Form Developments and Medical Devices. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst. 2020;37(6):553–90.
- 27. Lajoinie A, Henin E, Kassai B, Terry D. Solid oral forms availability in children: a cost saving investigation. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014 Nov;78(5):1080–9.

- 28. Tilen R, Panis D, Aeschbacher S, Sabine T, Meyer Zu Schwabedissen HE, Berger C. Development of the Swiss Database for dosing medicinal products in pediatrics. Eur J Pediatr. 2022 Mar;181(3):1221–31.
- 29. van der Zanden TM, de Wildt SN, Liem Y, Offringa M, de Hoog M, Dutch Paediatric Pharmacotherapy Expertise Network NKFK (Nederlands Kenniscentrum voor Farmacotherapie bij Kinderen). Developing a paediatric drug formulary for the Netherlands. Arch Dis Child. 2017 Apr;102(4):357–61.
- 30. Frattarelli DA, Galinkin JL, Green TP, Johnson TD, Neville KA, Paul IM, et al. Off-label use of drugs in children. Pediatrics. 2014 Mar;133(3):563–7.
- 31. Black C, Tagiyeva-Milne N, Helms P, Moir D. Pharmacovigilance in children: detecting adverse drug reactions in routine electronic healthcare records. A systematic review. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2015 Oct;80(4):844–54.
- 32. Ratwani RM, Savage E, Will A, Fong A, Karavite D, Muthu N, et al. Identifying Electronic Health Record Usability And Safety Challenges In Pediatric Settings. Health Aff (Millwood). 2018 Nov;37(11):1752–9.
- 33. Sadoughi F, Khodaveisi T, Ahmadi H. The used theories for the adoption of electronic health record: a systematic literature review. Health and Technology. 2018 Nov 21;9.
- Smith JC, Chen Q, Denny JC, Roden DM, Johnson KB, Miller RA. Evaluation of a Novel System to Enhance Clinicians' Recognition of Preadmission Adverse Drug Reactions. Appl Clin Inform. 2018 Apr;9(2):313–25.
- 35. Forster AJ, Jennings A, Chow C, Leeder C, van Walraven C. A systematic review to evaluate the accuracy of electronic adverse drug event detection. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2012 Feb;19(1):31–8.
- 36. Abramson EL, Barrón Y, Quaresimo J, Kaushal R. Electronic prescribing within an electronic health record reduces ambulatory prescribing errors. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2011 Oct;37(10):470–8.
- 37. Franklin BD, O'Grady K, Donyai P, Jacklin A, Barber N. The impact of a closed-loop electronic prescribing and administration system on prescribing errors, administration errors and staff time: a before-and-after study. Qual Saf Health Care. 2007 Aug;16(4):279–84.

# Appendices

# Appendices of the article (I)

# Appendix A: Complete list of included triggers

# Table A1: Warning triggers

Warning trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
Abnormal heart rate or blood pressure	Clinical sign	No data
Abnormal respiratory rate	Clinical sign	No data
Early warning score	Clinical sign	No data
Hypertension	Clinical sign	No data
Vital sign changes	Clinical sign	No data
Hypotension	Clinical sign	41.2
Нурохіа	Clinical sign	26.6
Meperidine administration and rising serum creatinine	Combination	No data
Nephrotoxin administration and rising serum creatinine	Combination	No data
PTT >100 seconds and heparin administration	Combination	No data
Hyperkalemia and age more than 1 year	Combination	8.0
PTT >100 seconds and warfarin administration	Combination	1.9
Hepatotoxic medications administration and Elevated liver enzymes	Combination	0
Any laboratory abnormalities	Laboratory	No data
Elevated theophylline level	Laboratory	No data
Hyperlactataemia on antiretroviral therapy	Laboratory	No data
Pancytopenia	Laboratory	No data
Paracetamol concentration done (regardless of result)	Laboratory	No data
Positive D-dimer	Laboratory	62.5
Elevated digoxin level	Laboratory	50.0
Anti Xa >1.5 mg/dl	Laboratory	49.6
PTT >100 s or High INR	Laboratory	43.1

Warning trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
Abnormal sodium level	Laboratory	33.0
Drug level out of range	Laboratory	31.3
Decrease in hemoglobin or hematocrit > 25%	Laboratory	29.9
High INR	Laboratory	31.3
High PTT	Laboratory	24.6
Rising serum creatinine or urea	Laboratory	40.9
Elevated anti-epileptics level	Laboratory	25.5
Elevated tacrolimus level	Laboratory	25.0
Hypoglycemia	Laboratory	22.5
Hypokalemia	Laboratory	36.3
Hypomagnesemia	Laboratory	24.0
Rising serum creatinine	Laboratory	20.1
Elevated levels of CK-MB or troponin I	Laboratory	14.3
Abnormal potassium level	Laboratory	14.2
Leucopenia	Laboratory	21.9
Elevated liver enzymes or high total bilirubin level	Laboratory	12.2
Hyperglycemia	Laboratory	23.55
Metabolic acidosis: anion gap $> 11$ with drug cause	Laboratory	11.0
Hyponatremia	Laboratory	19.6
Calcium ionized >1.5 mg/dl	Laboratory	8.5
High total bilirubin level	Laboratory	7.5
Elevated liver enzymes	Laboratory	19.8
Abnormal electrolyte levels	Laboratory	4.0
Hyperkalemia	Laboratory	7.12
Hyperphosphatemia	Laboratory	0.5
Chloride level <80 mq/l	Laboratory	0.0
Ciclosporin A > 400 $\mu$ g/L (treatment) > 500 $\mu$ g/L (treatment) > 500 $\mu$ g/L	Laboratory	0.0
Elevated pancreatic enzymes	Laboratory	0
Warning trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
--	------------	-------------
Hypernatremia	Laboratory	0
Hypocalcemia	Laboratory	0
Magnesium level >3.5 mq/l	Laboratory	0
Elevated anti-epileptics level and low albumin level	Laboratory	0
Triglycerides >500 mg/dl	Laboratory	0
Elevated aminophylline level	Laboratory	0
Elevated lidocaine level	Laboratory	0
High TSH	Laboratory	0
Low TSH	Laboratory	0
High hemoglobin count	Laboratory	0
Low Z-score and clinical fracture history	Laboratory	0
Insulin administration	Medication	No data
Methadone administration	Medication	No data
Narcotic administration or benzodiazepine administration	Medication	No data
Nephrotoxin administration	Medication	No data
Systemic corticosteroid administration	Medication	No data
Administration of 3 or more nephrotoxins (ntmx) on the same calendar day or intravenous (IV) aminoglycoside (AG) for 3 or more days in a row	Medication	89.3
Heparin administration	Medication	26.2
Anticoagulant	Medication	46.0
Digoxin Immune Fab administration	Medication	25.0
Serum Lithium >1.0 mmol/liter	Medication	0.0
Drug combinations not normally recommended	Medication	0.0

# Table A2: Verification Triggers

Verification trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
23-hour observation changed to fulission (upgrade of care)	Administrative	No data
Admission: >3 days	Administrative	No data
Readmission to ICU/ED/HDU within short period	Administrative	No data
Cancelled elective procedure/delayed discharge	Administrative	71.8
Early readmission (upgrade of care)	Administrative	36.9
Transfer to higher level of care (upgrade of care)	Administrative	22.9
Readmission within 30 days	Administrative	21.3
Unplanned admission	Administrative	18.0
Emergency surgery on inpatient	Clinical intervention	No data
Induced delivery	Clinical intervention	No data
Require resuscitation in ward	Clinical intervention	No data
Transfusion. arrest, or death in or	Clinical intervention	No data
Ultrasound of the brain > week 32 - < 3 months	Clinical intervention	No data
Acute dialysis	Clinical intervention	41.7
Emergent C-section delivery (neonate only)	Clinical intervention	40.0
Any urgent code	Clinical intervention	35.3
Unplanned intubation	Clinical intervention	33.0
Long mechanical ventilation postoperatively	Clinical intervention	31.0
Change in planned procedure	Clinical intervention	28.9
Rescue	Clinical intervention	25.9
Unplanned insertion of central line	Clinical intervention	25.0
Transfusion	Clinical intervention	18.7
Ultrasound guided drainage	Clinical intervention	16.7
Restraint use	Clinical intervention	0.0
Constipation	Clinical sign	No data
Decreased level of consciousness or pressure sores	Clinical sign	No data
Delirium/agitation	Clinical sign	No data
Dystonia, ataxia, torticollis, dyskinesia	Clinical sign	No data
Fracture or osteoporosis	Clinical sign	No data

Verification trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
Gastrointestinal symptoms	Clinical sign	No data
Hearing disturbance or hearing loss	Clinical sign	No data
Mechanical ventilation complication	Clinical sign	No data
Mucositis or mucosal ulceration	Clinical sign	No data
New arrhythmia	Clinical sign	No data
New onset of jaundice	Clinical sign	No data
Pruritus	Clinical sign	No data
Pulmonary edema, pleural effusion, or pneumothorax	Clinical sign	No data
Rash or ulceration	Clinical sign	No data
Skin- and blood vessel harm, thrombophlebitis	Clinical sign	No data
Sudden onset wheezing	Clinical sign	No data
Upper gastrointestinal bleed	Clinical sign	No data
Hallucinations/delirium/ICU syndrome	Clinical sign	100.0
Urinary retention	Clinical sign	100.0
Occurrence of a complication	Clinical sign	70.3
Withdrawal	Clinical sign	66.7
Abnormal body temperature	Clinical sign	62.5
All-cause deaths in hospital	Clinical sign	53.3
Necrotizing enterocolitis	Clinical sign	52.3
Nausea. vomiting	Clinical sign	43.0
Pain	Clinical sign	39.1
Seizure	Clinical sign	36.5
Apgar scores < 7	Clinical sign	23.5
Embolus/thrombus	Clinical sign	22.2
In hospital stroke	Clinical sign	16.7
Rash	Clinical sign	19.7
Significant weight gain	Clinical sign	0.0
Hyperkalemia or sodium polystyrene administration	Combination	No data
Prifle criteria	Combination	No data
Vitamin k and high INR	Combination	No data
Hyperkalemia and sodium polystyrene administration	Combination	28.6
Warfarin administration or high INR >6 and vitamin k administration	Combination	0.0

Verification trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
Hemoglobin < 8 g/dl	Laboratory	No data
Thrombocytopenia	Laboratory	16.7
Hypoglycemia or glucose administration	Laboratory	7.8
Calcium gluconate administration	Medication	No data
Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor	Medication	No data
Laxative administration	Medication	No data
Phentolamine administration	Medication	100.0
Protamine administration	Medication	22.5
Prescribing of extrapyramidal symptoms corrector	Medication	25.0
Anti-emetic administration	Medication	19.6
Vitamin k	Medication	12.9
Sodium polystyrene administration	Medication	12.3
Antidiarrheal administration	Medication	9.6
Laxative or stool softener administration	Medication	11.1
Antihistamine administration	Medication	0.0

# Table A3: Reporting Triggers

Reporting Trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
Adverse drug event	Administrative	No data
Activation of dose range checking	Clinical intervention	No data
Biopsy of bone marrow. kidney, or liver	Clinical intervention	No data
Angioedema or lip swelling	Clinical sign	No data
Retinopathy in premature infant on oxygen	Clinical sign	No data
Anesthesia related harm	Clinical sign	100.0
Medication reaction	Clinical sign	100.0
Insulin administration and Hypoglycaemia	Combination	80.4
Dextrose administration and low serum glucose level	Combination	57.1
Negative viral hepatitis screening test results	Laboratory	No data
Activated charcoal	Medication	No data
Dextrose administration	Medication	No data
Dextrose administration and insulin administration	Medication	No data
Interactions	Medication	No data
Glucose administration and no insulin administration	Medication	73.7
Glucose administration and insulin administration	Medication	60.0
Flumazenil (Romazicon) administration	Medication	62.6
Naloxone (Narcan) administration	Medication	40.0
Abrupt medication stop	Medication	49.1
Flumazenil(Romazicon)administration,Inotropicsadministrationoradministrationor	Medication	31.8
Any antidote administration	Medication	21.4
Administration of glucagon or glucose $\geq 10\%$	Medication	14.4
Benadryl (diphenhydramine) administration	Medication	11.2

Reporting Trigger	Туре	Mean PPV
Chlorphenamine administration	Medication	11.0
Glutathione administration	Medication	17.8
Anti-allergic or Adrenaline administration	Medication	3.4
Glucose administration	Medication	0.0
Acetylcysteine administration	Medication	0.0
Chlorphenamine or antihistamine administration	Medication	0.0
Abrupt reduction of dose of medication	Medication	0.0
Terbutaline administration	Medication	0.0

## Appendices of the article (II)

### Appendix A: Description of administration data

Data period: from 06/02/2013 to 05/02/2016

Years (n=4)	Administrations	Administrations	Hospital stays	Patients
	(N)	(%)	(N)	(N)
2014	214095	43.8	3137	2525
2015	186695	38.2	2943	2379
2013	69065	14.13	1106	955
2016	18907	3.87	417	397
[Total]	488762	100	7390	5463

#### Table A.1: Distribution of administrations across years

Table A.2: Distribution of administrations across routes of administrations

Routes	of	Administration	Administration	Hospital stays	Patients
administration		S	S	(N)	(N)
		(N)	%		
ORAL		312152	63.87	6916	5099
Intravenous		83992	17.18	3731	2861
Subcutaneous		28337	5.8	906	708
Inhalable		20107	4.11	1100	824
Respiratory		13200	2.7	957	666
Others		30974	6.34	3602	3047
[Total]		488762	100	7390	5463

Galenic group form	Administrations	Administrations	Hospital stays	Patients
	(N)	%	(N)	(N)
Liquid	195288	62.56	5784	4226
Solid dosage forms	84889	27.19	4293	2945
Dispersible solids	24444	7.83	2057	1489
others	138	0.04	18	18
Unknown	7393	2.37	662	478
[Total]	312152	100	6916	5099

# Table A.3: Distribution of oral drug administrations across galenic form groups

Table A.4:	Distribution	of oral liquid	drug administr	ation's accordin	ig to the number	r of
active ingro	edients					

Number	of	active	Administrations	Administrations	Hospital	Patients
ingredients			(N)	%	residences	(N)
(n=5)					(N)	
1			143169	73.31	4876	3466
4			21210	10.86	2635	2090
2			17369	8.89	1204	940
3			12304	6.30	1003	730
9			1235	0.63	107	85
5			1	0.00	1	1
Total			195288	100	5767	4216

	Administrations	Administrations	Hospital	Patients
	(N)	%	stays	(N)
			(N)	
Manufactured	121274	85.70	4769	3402
industrially				
Extemporaneous	21895	15.29	975	647
preparations				
Total	143169	100	4876	3466

Table A.5: Type of preparation of the oral liquid single active ingredient formulations

# Appendix B

Table B.1: Summary of the substitution	n assessment of the 10 drugs
--	------------------------------

Drugs of weight-based dosing strategy											
Daily dose	Type of solid form	Weight range		Administrations	Administrations						
(in mg		MIN weight	MAX weight	that could be	could be						
unless		(kg)	(kg)	performed with	performed with						
specified				acceptable solid	suitable solid form						
otherwise)				form in terms of	for size and dosage						
				dosage (N)	*						
Paracetamol											
-			6	3850	-						
400	powder for	6	8	1979	1979/1979						
	reconstitution										
600	powder for	8	12	2453	2453/2453						
	reconstitution										
800	powder for	11	16	1329	1329/1329						
	reconstitution										
1000	Effervescent tablet	13	20	634	634/634						
1200	powder for	16	24	329	329/329						
	reconstitution										
1500	Effervescent tablet	21	25	31	31/31						
1800	powder for	25	30	239	239/239						
	reconstitution										
2000	Effervescent tablet	26	40	38	38/38						
3000	Effervescent tablet	40	-	13	13/13						
Cyamemazin	e		I								
-			6,25	0	-						
25	Tablets	6,25	25	81	81/81						
50	Tablets	12,5	50	3328	3328/3328						
75	Tablets	18,75	75	191	191/191						
100	Tablets	25	100	72	72/72						
Valproic acid	l										
-		0	3.33	0	-						
100	granules	3,33	5	183	183/183						
-		5	6.67	281	281/281						
200	granules	6,67	10	747	747/747						
250	granules	8,33	12,5	416	416/416						

Drugs of weight-based dosing strategy											
Daily dose	Type of solid form	Weight range		Administrations	Administrations						
(in mg		MIN weight	MAX weight	that could be	could be						
unless		(kg)	(kg)	performed with	performed with						
specified				acceptable solid	suitable solid form						
otherwise)				form in terms of	for size and dosage						
				dosage (N)	*						
300	granules	10	15	212	212/212						
350	granules	11,67	17,5	153	153/153						
400	granules	13,33	20	67	67/67						
450	granules	15	22,5	135	135/135						
500	granules	16,67	25	31	31/31						
600	granules	20	30	309	309/309						
750	granules	25	37,5	116	116/116						
1000	granules	33,33	50	105	105/105						
1200	granules	40	60	10	10/ 10						
2000	granules	66,67	100	1	1/1						
3000	granules	100	150	2	2/2						
Clonazepam											
-			10	0	-						
1	Tablets	10	20	485	485/485						
1.5	Tablets	15	30	860	860/860						
2	Tablets	20	40	217	217/217						
2.5	Tablets	25	50	236	236/236						
Furosemide											
-			10	0	-						
20	Tablets	10	20	740	740/740						
40	Tablets	20	40	522	522/522						
60	Tablets	30	60	41	41/41						
Hydroxyzine											
-			12.5	5	-						
12.5	Tablets	12.5	25	753	753/753						
25	Tablets	25	50	348	417/266						
37.5	Tablets	37.5	74	59							
50	Tablets	50	100	10							
Alfacalcidol											
-			20	2	-						
0,5 μg	Capsules	20	-	575	575/575						
Levetiracetar	'n										

Drugs of wei	Drugs of weight-based dosing strategy													
Daily dose	Type of solid form	Weight range		Administrations	Administrations									
(in mg		MIN weight	MAX weight	that could be	could be									
unless		(kg)	(kg)	performed with	performed with									
specified				acceptable solid	suitable solid form									
otherwise)				form in terms of	for size and dosage									
				dosage (N)	*									
-		0	25	324	-									
250*2	Tablets	25	50	153	86/153									
500*2	Tablets	>=50		16	0/16									
Prazepam														
-		0	6	0										
10	Tablets	6	18	1276	1276/1276									
Amitriptyline														
-		6	10	333	-									
25	Tablets	10	16	437	437/437									

The suggested daily doses are the minimal acceptable doses reachable using the available solid form dosage(s). Weight ranges are calculated according to the recommended dosage provided in the summaries of product characteristics (SmPC) of the drugs, the recommended administration frequencies are respected. \* proportion of the number of administrations could be performed with suitable solid form for size and dosage on the number of administrations that could be performed with acceptable solid form in terms of dosage.

S
drug
10 0
the
for
ion
itut
ıbst
d sı
este
ngg
he s
th tl
l wi
ated
oci
ass
nces
ere
diff
cost
he (
oft
iion
ulat
Calc
U U
lix (
oenc
App

H
Ξ
-11
5
చ
Ē
- Ľ
- 2
~~~
••
<u>`</u> •
()
-
9
9
3
1 1

	Potential	cost	Savings	for the	hospital	(E)	-96.77625		20.61		91.8375		84.90625				6.36		7.335		7.29		18.29		5.705		145.56
	Durations of	treatments	included (days)				1182		1374		790		418				212		18		162		31		7		
u	Administrations (N)						1979		2453		1329		634				329		31		239		38		13		
Cost compariso	Cost	difference (€)					-0.081875		0.015		0.11625		0.203125				0.03		0.4075		0.045		0.59		0.815		
	Cost of	solid	dosage (€)				0.2		0.16		0.12		60.0				0.32		0.03		0.48		0.04		0.06		
	Dosages	needed*					4		4		4		4				∞		e		12		4		6		
Solid forms	Product	marketed name					DOLIPRANE	100MG	DOLIPRANE	150MG	DOLIPRANE	200MG	DOLIPRANE	150MG+	DOLIPRANE	100MG	DOLIPRANE	150MG	DAFALGAN	500MG	DOLIPRANE	150MG	DOLIPRANE	500MG	DOLIPRANE	500MG	
	Cost of	liquid	dosage	(€)			0.118125		0.175		0.23625		0.293125				0.35		0.4375		0.525		0.63		0.875		
tion	Drops	needed					27		40		54		67				80		100		120		144		200		
Liquid formula	Trade name						DOLIPRANE	2,4%	DOLIPRANE	2,4%	DOLIPRANE	2,4%	DOLIPRANE	2,4%			DOLIPRANE	2,4%	DOLIPRANE	2,4%	DOLIPRANE	2,4%	DOLIPRANE	2,4%			
gory	Maxi	weight	(kg)				8		12		16		20				24		25		30		40				
/weight categ	Min	weight	(kg)				6		8		11		13				16		21		25		26		40		_
Dosage	Daily	dose	(mg)				400		600		800		1000				1200		1500		1800		2000		3000		TOTAL

Contrast Contrast Contrast	Incinazine
č	N N
5	
6	1

id formulation Solid dos. s Cost in Tablets ed liquid (€) needed	Liquid Drops needed
	2.91 1
	5.82 0.5
	8.73 1.5
	11.64 1

	cost the															
	Potential Savings for hospital (€)	-5.196375	-48.16425	-17.2128125	-21.288375	-11.55175	-9.1635	-13.9706875	-1.508125	-22.58675	-9.1634375	-10.29375	-2.244	-0.3375	-0.50625	-173.19
	Durations of treatments included (days)	93	431	247	127	92	41	77	19	167	71	61	8	1	1	
ison	Administrations (N)	156	747	416	212	153	67	135	31	309	116	105	10	1	2	
Cost compari	Cost saving (€)	-0.055875	-0.11175	-0.0696875	-0.167625	-0.1255625	-0.2235	-0.1814375	-0.079375	-0.13525	-0.1290625	-0.16875	-0.2805	-0.3375	-0.50625	
u.	Cost in solid (€)	0.08	0.16	0.13	0.24	0.21	0.32	0.29	0.2	0.28	0.31	0.41	0.57	0.82	1.23	
Solid for	Tablets / sachets needed	1	2		n	2	4	Э	1	2	1	1	Э	2	n	
Liquid forms	Cost in liquid (E)	0.024125	0.04825	0.0603125	0.072375	0.0844375	0.0965	0.1085625	0.120625	0.14475	0.1809375	0.24125	0.2895	0.4825	0.72375	
	Maximum weight (kg)	5	10	12.5	15	17.5	20	22.5	25	30	37.5	50	60	100	150	
age range	Minimum weight (kg)	3.33	6.67	8.33	10	11.67	13.33	15	16.67	20	25	33.33	40	66.67	100	
Dosage/	Daily dose (mg)	100	200	250	300	350	400	450	500	600	750	1000	1200	2000	3000	TOTAL

Table C.3: Valproic acid

Table C.4: Clonazepam

	Potential	cost saving	for the	hospital (E)	0.356	1.014	0.336	0.535	Total: 2.241
	Durations of	treatments	included	(days)	178	338	84	107	Total: 707
parison	Administrations	(N)			485	860	217	236	Total: 1798
Cost com	Cost	savings	(E)		0,002	0,003	0,004	0,005	
Su	Cost	in	solid	<b>(</b> € <b>)</b>	0,02	0,03	0,04	0,05	
Solid forr	Tablets	needed	(N)		0.5	0.75		1.25	
mulations	Cost in	liquid	( <del>〔</del> )		0,022	0,033	0,044	0,055	
Liquid for	Drops	needed			10	15	20	25	
	Maximum	weight (kg)			20	30	40	50	
weight range	Minimum	weight (kg)			10	15	20	25	
Dosage/1	Daily	dose	(mg)		1	1,5	2	2,5	

Table C.5: Furosemide

	otential Ist	avings r the	ospital ()	1.008	50.22	5.317	47.545
	Durations P of co	treatments Salaria included fo	(days) ho (€	332 8.	290 1.	21 10	643 24
ison	Administrations N)			40	22	1	303
Cost compar	Cost A saving(€) (			0.244 7	0.518 5	0.777 4	1
age form	Cost in solid (€)			0.03	0.03	0.045	
Solid dos	Tablets           needed	(N)		1	1	1.5	
Liquid formulation	Cost in liquid (E)			0.274	0.548	0.822	
	Maximum weight	(kg)		20	40	09	
eight range	Minimum weight	(kg)		10	20	30	
Dosage/w	Daily dose	(mg)		20	40	60	TOTAL

Table C.6: Prazepam

(age range Minimum age (years)	Liquid Solid dosage Cost comparison formulation form	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	18 0.052 1 0.02 0.032 1276 581 18.592
(age range Minimum age (years) 6	L fi	Maximum ( age (years) li	18 0
sage. ily ie	sage/age range	ily Minimum ie age (years) g)	9

Table C.7: Hydroxyzine

Dosage	e/age range		Liquid formulation	Solid dos	age form	Cost compa	ırison			
Daily dose (mg)	Minimum age (years)	Maximum age (years)	Cost in liquid (€)	Tablets needed	Cost in solid (€)	Cost saving (€)	Administrations (N)	Durations c treatments included (1 davs)	of Potential Savings N the hospita	cost for
12.5	12.5	25	0.0515625	0.5	0.02	0.0315625	753	428	13.50875	
25	25	50	0.103125		0.04	0.063125	204	199	12.561875	
37.5	37.5	74	0.1546875	1.5	0.06	0.0946875	52	45	4.2609375	
50	50	100	0.20625	2	0.055	0.15125	10	6	1.36125	
TOTAI	.1								31.69	

Alfacalcidol	
Table C.8: /	

		Potential cost	Savings for	the hospital	(£)	-79.8875
		of		S		
		Durations	treatments	included	days)	581
parison		Administrations	(N)			1276
Cost com		Cost	saving	<b>(</b> € <b>)</b>		-0.1375
dosage		Cost	in	solid	<b>(</b> € <b>)</b>	0.3
Solid	form	Tablets	needed			2
	on	in				
Liquid	formulati	Cost	liquid (E)			0.1625
		Maximum	weight (kg)			ı
age range		Minimum	weight (kg)			20
Dosage/		Daily	dose	(bu)		0.5

Table C.9: Amitriptyline

	Potential cost	Savings for	the hospital	( <del>〔</del> )	19.87875
	Durations of	treatments	included	(days)	372
rison	Administrations	(N)			437
Cost compai	Cost	saving (€)			0.0534375
age form	Cost in	V) solid	(€)		0.05
Solid dos	Tablets	needed (N			1
Liquid formulation	Cost in liquid (€)				0.1034375
	Maximum	age (years)			16
age range	Minimum	age (years)			10
Dosage/	Daily	dose	(mg)		25

9
3
÷
<u> </u>
5
- <b>1</b> -
Ξ.
- io
5
6
<u> </u>
0
7 3
$\mathbf{\cup}$
63
Ĭ
p
3
<u> </u>

Dosage/w	veight range		Liquid	Solid dosa	ige form	Cost com	parison			
			formulation							
Daily	Minimum	Maximum	Cost in liquid	Tablets	Cost	Cost	Administrations	Durations of	Potential cos	Ľ.
dose	weight (kg)	weight (kg)	(€)	needed	in	saving	(N)	treatments	Savings for th	e
(mg)					solid			included (days)	hospital (€)	
					<b>(</b> € <b>)</b>					
250*2	25	50	0.4255	2	0.14	0.2855	86	65	18.5575	

Daily doses suggested are the minimal acceptable daily doses available in solids considering recommended dosing frequency.

All administrations and days of treatments are counted in the range of minimal daily dose available as solid.

Potential cost savings for the hospital are calculated by multiplying the cost savings' values of daily dosages by the number of days of treatments.

## Appendices related to the article (III)

# Appendix A

Age (PMA)	PNA	Group 1 Neofax2014	Group 2
≤29	0-7	18 mg/kg every 48 hr	14 mg/kg every 48 hr
	8-28	15 mg/kg every 36 hr	12 mg/kg every 36 hr
	≥29	15 mg/kg every 24 hr	12 mg/kg every 24 hr
30-40	0-7	18 mg/kg every 36 hr	12 mg/kg every 36 hr
	$\geq 8$	15 mg/kg every 24 hr	12 mg/kg every 24 hr
≥35	ALL	15 mg/kg every 24 hr	12 mg/kg every 24 hr

# Table A1: dosage regimen proposed by Hughes. et al. 2017 (not validated prospectively)

Table A2: dosage regimes	proposed by	Illamola S	M et al	2016 (not	validated
prospectively)					

L L V/					
Weight (g)		Clcr	(Schwartz, mL	/min)	
	<15	15-30	30-60	60-90	90-120
1) 5000	80 mg/54h	80 mg/30h	85 mg/18h	80 mg/12h	90 mg/12h
2) 4500	70 mg/54h	75 mg/30h	70 mg/18h	75 mg/12h	90 mg/12h
3) 4000	65 mg/54h	65 mg/30h	70 mg/18h	70 mg/12h	75 mg/12h
4) 3500	50 mg/48h	55 mg/24h	55 mg/18h	65 mg/12h	65 mg/12h
5) 3000	45 mg/48h	45 mg/24h	50 mg/18h	55 mg/12h	60 mg/12h
6) 2500	35 mg/48h	40 mg/24h	45 mg/18h	45 mg/12h	50 mg/12h
7) 2000	30 mg/48h	35 mg/24h	35 mg/18h	35 mg/12h	40 mg/12h
8) 1500	25 mg/48h	25 mg/18h	25 mg/12h	30 mg/12h	30 mg/6h
9) 1000	15 mg/36h	20 mg/18h	20 mg/12h	20 mg/12h	20 mg/6h
10) 500	10 mg/30h	10 mg/18h	10 mg/12h	10 mg/6h	15 mg/6h
Weight (g)			PNA		
	<7	7-14	14-21	21-28	28-80
1) 5000	<7 80 mg/30h	7-14 80 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h	21-28 85 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h
1) 5000 2) 4500	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000           4)         3500	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h 55 mg/30h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h 60 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h 65 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000           4)         3500           5)         3000	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h 55 mg/30h 50 mg/30h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h 60 mg/24h 50 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 55 mg/24h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 50 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 55 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000           4)         3500           5)         3000           6)         2500	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h 55 mg/30h 50 mg/30h 40 mg/30h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h 60 mg/24h 50 mg/24h 40 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 55 mg/24h 45 mg/24h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 50 mg/18h 45 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 55 mg/18h 45 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000           4)         3500           5)         3000           6)         2500           7)         2000	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h 55 mg/30h 50 mg/30h 40 mg/30h 30 mg/36h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h 60 mg/24h 50 mg/24h 40 mg/24h 35 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 55 mg/24h 45 mg/24h 35 mg/24h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 50 mg/18h 45 mg/18h 35 mg/18h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 55 mg/18h 45 mg/18h 35 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000           4)         3500           5)         3000           6)         2500           7)         2000           8)         1500	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h 55 mg/30h 50 mg/30h 40 mg/30h 30 mg/36h 25 mg/38h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h 60 mg/24h 50 mg/24h 35 mg/24h 25 mg/24h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 55 mg/24h 35 mg/24h 30 mg/24h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 50 mg/18h 45 mg/18h 35 mg/18h 30 mg/24h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 55 mg/18h 35 mg/18h 30 mg/18h
1)         5000           2)         4500           3)         4000           4)         3500           5)         3000           6)         2500           7)         2000           8)         1500           9)         1000	<7 80 mg/30h 75 mg/30h 65 mg/30h 55 mg/30h 50 mg/30h 40 mg/30h 30 mg/36h 25 mg/38h 20 mg/36h	7-14 80 mg/24h 75 mg/24h 65 mg/24h 60 mg/24h 50 mg/24h 40 mg/24h 35 mg/24h 25 mg/24h 20 mg/30h	14-21 80 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 55 mg/24h 35 mg/24h 30 mg/24h 20 mg/24h	21-28 85 mg/18h 75 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 60 mg/18h 50 mg/18h 45 mg/18h 35 mg/18h 30 mg/24h 20 mg/24h	28-80 85 mg/18h 80 mg/18h 70 mg/18h 65 mg/18h 55 mg/18h 35 mg/18h 30 mg/18h 20 mg/18h

#### Table A3: dosage regimen proposed by Smits A et al 2015 (validated prospectively on

#### 579 patients)

Weight (g)	Age (PNA) $\leq$ 14 d	Age (PNA) $\ge$ 14 d
0-800	16 mg/kg/48h	20 mg/kg/42h
800-1200	16 mg/kg/42h	20 mg/kg/36h
1200-2000	15 mg/kg/36h	18 mg/kg/30h
2000-2800	15 mg/kg/36h	18 mg/kg/24h
$\geq$ 2800	15 mg/kg/30h	18 mg/kg/20h

+6 to 10h in case of asphyxia or co-administration of ibuprofen. Simplified version of the dosage regimen of De Cock 2012 for the validation.

#### Table A4: dosage regimen of Neofax

Age (PNA)	Variables	Dosage (mg/kg/h)
<u>≤</u> 7	$GA \le 27 \text{ wk}$	18 mg/kg/48h
	GA 28–30 wk	18 mg/kg/36h
	GA 31–33 wk	16 mg/kg/36h
	$GA \ge 34 \text{ wk}$	15 mg/kg/24h
$\geq 8$	$PCA \le 29 \text{ wk}, PNA \ge 8 \text{ days}$	12 mg/kg/24h
	PCA 30–36 wk, PNA 8–14 days	12 mg/kg/24h
	PCA 30–36 wk, PNA $\geq$ 15 days	12 mg/kg/18h
	$PCA \ge 37 \text{ wk}, PNA \ge 8 \text{ days}$	12 mg/kg/12h

#### Table A5 : dosage used by An SH et al 2014 (Validated prospectively on74 patients)

Age (PCA)	Age (PNA) 0-7 d	Age (PNA) $\ge$ 8 d
≤29	13 mg/kg/48h	13 mg/kg/36h
30-33	13 mg/kg/36h	13 mg/kg/24h
34-36	13 mg/kg/24h	13 mg/kg/18h
$\geq$ 37	13 mg/kg/24h	13 mg/kg/12h

#### Table A6 : Model-based dosing regimen proposed by De Cock et al. 2012

Current weight (g)	PNA < 14d	$PNA \ge 14 j$
0-800	16 mg/kg/48h	20 mg/kg/42h
800-1200	16 mg/kg/42h	20 mg/kg/36h
1200-2000	15 mg/kg/36h	19 mg/kg/30h
2000-2800	13 mg/kg/30h	18 mg/kg/24h
≥ 2800	12 mg/kg/24h	17 mg/kg/20h

 $\pm 6\text{-}10$  h prolongation in case of asphyxia or co-administration of ibuprofen.

#### Table A7 : Dosing regimen studied by Sherwin et al. 2009

PNA (day)	GA(week)	Dosage regimen
<7	$\leq$ 27w	18 mg/kg/48h
	27-30w	18 mg/kg/36h
	31-33w	16 mg/kg/36h
	$\geq$ 34w	15 mg/kg/24h
<u>≥</u> 7		15 mg/kg/24h and were then dosed based
		on GA as described above

#### TableA8: Proposed dosing regimen based on achieving optimal AUC24 and Cmax

#### proposed by Sherwin et al. 2009 for neonates of PNA > 72 h (Not validated prospectively)

PMA (week)	Dosage regimen
$\leq 28$	15 mg/kg/36h
29-32	14 mg/kg/24h
33-36	14 mg/kg/24h
≥ 37	15 mg/kg/24h

### Table A9 : Dosage regimen proposed by Siddiqi et al. 2009 (unvalidated prospectively)

Weight (g)	Dosage regimen
< 1200	7,5 mg/kg/24h
1000-2000	10 mg/kg/24h

			24 25 26 26	(24) 28 29 (26) 29 (27) 32 32 32	$ \begin{array}{c} (30) \\ (31) \\ (32) \\ (32) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ (33) \\ ($	(337) (35) (38) (38) (38) (39)
			24 25 25 26 26	(24) (26) (26) (27) (27) (28) (28) (28) (28) (28) (28) (28) (28	$ \begin{array}{c} (30)\\ (31)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)\\ (32)$	37 35) 38 38 38 39 39 39
	36	1 ([16) 1 9 0 1 9	(17) 24 25 25 26	(24) 28 30 32 32 32	(30) (31) (31) (32) (34) (34)	37) 38 38 38 38 39 39
	ŝ	15 16 16 11 17 17 18 18	(16) 24 25 26 26	(24) 28 29 30 31 31	(29) 33 34 35 35 33 33	37) 38 38 38 38 38 39 39
1 < 2D	34	8 8 1 8 1 9 1 9 1 8 1 8 1 8 1 8 1 8 1 8	(12, 23 23 24 22 25 26 26	(24) 27 (25) 28 28 30 (26) 31 31	(29) 33 34 35 35 (31) 35 (32)	36 33 38 38 38 38 38 39 39 39
RNS OF PNA	8	8 8 1 8 2 8 2 8 1 8 1 8 1 8 1 8 1 8 1 8	$\begin{array}{c} 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 $	(24) 27 28 28 30 (25) 30 (27) 31	(29) 32 33 33 33 33 33 32) 32) 32) 32) 32)	36 33 37 33 38 38 38 38
FOR NEWBO	32 8,5	(6,5) 9 (6,5) 1 (10) 1	$\binom{(1)}{23}$	(23) 26 (24) 27 (24) 25 (25) 30 (25) 30 (25) 30 (25) 30 (25) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) 30 (23) (23) 30 (23) (23) (23) (23) (23) (23) (23) (23)	(27) 31 (28) 33 (30) 33 (30)	33 36 36 38 38 36 36 36 37 37 38
AL FIXE : 24H,	31 7,5 8 8	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	(10,5) 21 21 22 23 23 25 25	(22) 26 23 23 30 30 30	(27) 31 32 (28) 32 (30) 33	34 (31) 35 (34) (35) (35)
FIME INTERV	8 0 0 C C 8	$ \begin{array}{c} (6) \\ (7) \\ (6) \\ (7) \\ (8) \\ (8) \\ (8) \\ (8) \\ (8) \\ (1) \\ (1) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) $	(10) 114 114 114 114 114 114 114 11	(17) 21 (18) (18) (23) 24 24	(21) 25 26 (22) 26 (23)	28 (24) 31 32 (27,5) (27,5)
ER) DOSE.	$\begin{array}{ccc} 29 \\ 2,5 \\ 3 \\ 3,5 \\ 3,5 \\ 2,5 \\ 4 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) $	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (5) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) $	(16) 20 21 21 (17) 22 (19) (19)	(20) 23 (20) 25 (21) (22)	26(23)
D (24 H LAT	28 28 2,5 3,5 4,5 5 4,5 5 1,5 5 4,5 5 4,5 5 1,5 5 1,5 5 1,5 5 1,5 5 5 1,5 5 5 5	$ \begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (4) \\ (4) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) $	$ \begin{array}{c} (5) \\ (5) \\ (12) \\ (12) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (13) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15) \\ (15$	(15) 19 (16) 20 (17) 21 (18) 22	(19)	
THE SECON	27 27 2,5 3 3 3 2,5 3 3 2,5 4 4	$ \begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (4) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) \\ (5) $	(5) 14,5 15,5 15,5 16,5 17 17 18 18	(15) 19 (15) 20 (16)		
ESPOND TO	26 2 (1,5) 3 (2) 3 (2) 3 (2) 3 4 4	$ \begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) $	(c) 14 15 15 16 11 16 11 12 11 17,5	(14)		
ESES CORRI	$\begin{array}{c} 25\\ 2\\ 2\\ 1,5\\ 2\\ 5\\ 3\\ 3\\ 3\\ 2\\ 5\\ 5\\ 6\\ 4\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) $	$ \begin{array}{c} 6.5 \\ (6) \\ 7 \\ (6) \\ (6) \end{array} $			
N PARENTH	24 2 (1,5) (1,5) 3 3 (1,5) (1,5) 3 3 5 5 3 3 5 5 2 4 2 4 2 6 2 3 3 5 5 5 2 4 2 6 2 6 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	$\begin{array}{c} (2,5) \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ (3,5) \\ 5 \\ (4,5) \\ (4,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (4,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,5) \\ (5,$	6,5 (6)			
THE FIGURES I BW (G)	500 600 800 900	1000 1100 1200 1300 1400	1600 1700 1800 2000	2100 2200 2300 2400	2500 2600 2700	2800 2900 3100 3200

Table A10 : proposed dosing regimen of Labaune et al. 2001 (validated prospectively on 57 newborns)

		43	(40)	44	(41)	46	(43)	4/	( <del>1</del> 4) 48)	(45)	50	(47)	10	(48) 53	(49)	54	(20)	55	(51)	90	(52) 57	(53)	60	(55)	01 (56)	(36)	(37)
		43	(40)	44	(41)	46	(43)	4 /	44) 48	(45)	50	(47)	10	(48) 53	(49)	54	(50)	55	(51)	90	(52) 57	(53)	60	(55)	01 (56)	(36)	(37)
		43	(40)	45	(42)	46	(43) 47	4/	(44) 48	(45)	50	(47)	10	(48) 53	(49)	54	(20)	55	(51) 2	00	(52) 57	(53)	60	(55)		(36)	(37)
		43	(40)	45	(42)	46	(43) 47	4/5	(44) 48	(45)	50	(47)	10	(48) 52	(49)	54	(51)	55	(52) 2	00	(53) 58	(55)				(35)	(37)
< 2D		43	(40)	4	(41)	46	(42) 77	(4)	(45) 48	; <del>(</del> 4)	50	(46) 51	10	(47) 52	(48)	53	(49)	55	(50)							(35) 20	36) (36)
NS OF PNA		42	(39)	44	(40)	45	(41) 47	4/	(43) 48	(44)	49	(45)	00	(40) 52	(48)											(34)	(36)
FOR NEWBOR		41	(37)	42	(38)	43	(39)	ŧ ŝ	(40) 46	(41)	47	(42)														(32)	37 (33)
L FIXE : 24H,		40	(36)	41	(37)	43	(39)	44	(40)																	(32)	37 (33)
IME INTERVA	AG	33	(28)	34	(29,5)																					(25)	00 (26)
ER) DOSE. T																											
0 (24 H LAT)																											
THE SECONI																											
FOND TO T																											
SES CORRES																											
<b>PARENTHES</b>																											
THE FIGURES IN	BW (G)	3300		3400		3500	0096	0000	3700	2	3800	0000	0066	4000		4100		4200	000	4300	4400	2	4500	1600	000+	0002	0000

### Table A11 : Dosing regimen studied by Langhendries et al. 1998 (validated prospectively

#### on 177 patients)

Gestational age (week)	Dosage
< 28	20 mg/kg/42h
28-31	20 mg/kg/36h
31-34	18,5 mg/kg/30h
34-37	17 mg/kg/24h
37-41	15,5 mg/kg/24h

+6h time interval in case of asphyxia, hypoxic episode and intercourse treatment with indomethacin.

#### Table A12 : Dosing regimen studied by Petersen, Wells, and Kearns 1991 (validated

Weight (g)	PNA (d)	Loading	Maintenance		
< 900	1-7	11 mg/kg	10 mg/kg/24h		
< 800	8-15	13 mg/kg	12 mg/kg/24h		
800 1500	1-7	15 mg/kg	12 mg/kg/18h		
800-1500	8-15	13 mg/kg	9 mg/kg/12h		
	1-4	11 mg/kg	8 mg/kg/12h		
1500 2000	5-7	12 mg/kg	10 mg/kg/12h		
1300-2000	8-15	11 mg/kg	10 mg/kg/12h		
	16-30	12 mg/kg	8 mg/kg/8h		
	1-4	10 mg/kg	8 mg/kg/12h		
2000 2500	5-7	11 mg/kg	10 mg/kg/12h		
2000-2300	8-15	11 mg/kg	11 mg/kg/12h		
	16-30	11 mg/kg	9,5 mg/kg/8h		

### prospectively on 38 patients)

Table A13: Dosing regimen proposed and validated by Rozé et al. 1989 (validatedprospectively on 63 patients)

PCA (week)	Dosage regimen
< 28	10 mg/kg/24h
28	10 mg/kg/21h
30	10 mg/kg/18h
32	10 mg/kg/16h
36	10 mg/kg/14h
40	10 mg/kg/12h
47	10 mg/kg/8h

# Table A14 : Dosage regimen of Sardemann H et al 1976 (Validated prospectively on 5

#### patients)

PNA (D)	Loading dose	maintenance
1	7,2 mg/kg	4 mg/kg/8h
5	9 mg/kg	5 mg/kg/8h
10	10,7 mg/kg	6 mg/kg/8h
15	12,5 mg/kg	7 mg/kg/8h
20	14,3 mg/kg	8 mg/kg/8h
25	16,1 mg/kg	9 mg/kg/8h
30	17,9 mg/kg	10 mg/kg/8h

#### **Appendices related to the discussion**

#### Appendix A:

#### Arguments about the experience of building a model to predict/detect ADRs using

#### EREMI database and pediatric triggers

The work was started by identifying triggers applicable on pediatric population, in order to use them as indicators in our model. The triggers were collected (article submitted on trigger tools in pediatric). The next phase of the work was to select target ADRs to work on, feasibility difficulties have been shown in this step. The main difficulties were:

- 1. There is no concordance between the detected ADRs in the EREMI database and the identified triggers the literature (the indicators). (The high frequent ADRs and corresponding triggers are presented in table A and the list of ADEs presented in the available EREMI database table B)
- 2. The number of reported and validated events in the available EREMI database is limited (only 198 validated events in EREMI-lyon) and the fact that they do not correspond to the triggers identified in the literature increases the difficulty.
- 3. The nature of EIMs is very heterogeneous (in average 2,2 cases/event) (As seen in table B) which leads to insufficient positive training events for identifying new triggers when considering specific ADRs.
- 4. Table A presents the most frequent ADR in EREMI database, the corresponding triggers and the comments of the pediatricians. As seen, the 4 most frequent ADRs are Withdrawal syndrome (n=20), Hypokalaemia (n=18), Hypotension(n=16), and Somnolence (n=15), but we have identified from the literature only 1 trigger/by event for 3 of them, and non for somnolence (low detectability). For these events, the interest would be to predict them but three triggers don't allow to predict the events. In addition, according to the opinion of two pediatricians at the hospital, the events are not the most clinically interesting ADEs to make a diagnostic model (raisons in the table C)

Figure A.1: Number of ADRs detected in EREMI project in Lyon.



Table A.1: most frequent ADRs in EREMI database-Lyon and the corresponding triggers in the literature

Most frequent ADR in (EREMI- Lyon)	N. cases	Correspon ding trigger from the literature	Availability of the trigger (as information) in EREMI database	<b>Comments of pediatricians</b>
Withdrawal syndrome	20	withdrawal syndrome	no	1-Low detectability: undetectable from EREMI using the trigger (information doesn't exist in the database), data of the mother should be associated. 2- this event is usually predictable, and there's systematic monitoring; so not interesting to build a model for that
Hypokalemia	18	Hypokalemi a (low potassium level)	yes	Usually detected in practice
Somnolence	15	non	-	Usually not a serious event
Hypotension	16	hypotension	no	Undetectable in EREMI, trigger not interesting for the prediction, event usually detected

ADR nature	Number of cases
Withdrawal syndrome	20
Hypokalemia	18
Hypotension	16
Somnolence	15
Diabetes	5
Urinary retention	4
Hyperthermia	4
Hypertension	4
Dyskinesia	4
Diarrhea	4
Allergic reaction	4
Hypernatremia	3
Hyperglycemia	3
Extrapyramidal syndrome	3
Weight gain	2
Vomiting	2
Thrombocytopenia	2
Swallowing disorders / Malaise / Apnea	2
Skin rash	2
QT prolongation	2
Pruritus	2
Neutropenia	2
Mycosis	2
Hepatic cytolysis	2
Elevated transaminases	2
Dizziness	2
Cholestasis	2
Anaphylactic reaction	2
Skin rash	1
Urine color	1
Unsteady gait	1
Tremor	1
Transaminases/elevated GGT	1
Tachycardia	1
Swallowing disorders / Malaise	1
Somnolence, Respiratory depression, Overdose	1
Somnolence/Malaise	1
Somnolence and Abnormal involuntary movements	1
Skin erythema	1

Table A.2 : List of the validated ADR in EREMI database of LYON.

ADR nature	Number of cases
Red man syndrome	1
Reactivation of Epstein-Barr virus infection	1
Reactivation of CMV infection, high concentration of	1
immunosuppressive drugs	
Peripheral sensory neuropathy	1
Oliguria / Fluid overload	1
Nausea	1
Metabolic acidosis / Hypernatremia	1
Meningeal syndrome	1
Malignant hyperthermia / Hepatic cytolysis	1
Loose stools	1
Increase in gamma-GT - Cholestasis	1
Hypotension and heart failure	1
Hypophosphatemia/Hypokalemia	1
Hyponatremia/Hypokalemia/Hypophosphatemia (suspected tubulopathy)	1
Hyponatremia	1
Hypokalemia / premature ventricular contractions	1
Hypokalemia / Elevated blood urea	1
Hypokalemia / Bradycardia	1
Hypoglycemia	1
Hypocalcemia	1
Hyperthermia / Headache	1
Hypertensive episode / Lower limb edema	1
Hyperlactatemia / Off-label drug use	1
Hypercreatininemia	1
Hypercalcemia	1
Hyperammonemia	1
Hot flashes / Headache	1
HHV-6 infection	1
Hepatitis	1
Hepatic cytolysis / Increased GGT	1
Headache / Vomiting	1
Hallucinations	1
Gross hematuria	1
Gonalgia	1
Galactorrhea	1
Extrapyramidal disorders and Somnolence	1
Euphoria	1
Erythematous rash	1
Epigastralgia / Vomiting	1
Drug Overdose / Hematemesis	1

ADR nature	Number of cases
Drop in blood pressure, malaise, urinary incontinence, reduced heart rate	1
Disorders of calcium metabolism	1
Cramps	1
CMV viremia	1
Carbohydrate intolerance	1
Bradycardia / Hypotension	1
Behavioral disorders, Ataxia, Vomiting	1
Ataxia	1
ARF (acute respiratory failure)	1
Anemia / Neutropenia	1
Akathisia / Dysarthria	1
Adenovirus infection	1
Total	198

Figure A.2: The processes of classification of the type of data and the availability in EREMI database of triggers



Table A.3 : Classification of the type of data and the availability of the identified triggers in

EREMI database of triggers

Medication-related triggers	EHR usually available?	Is it a structured data	Availability of the trigger in EREMI database
23-hour observation changed to full admission (upgrade of care)	No	yes	No
Abnormal body temperature	yes	yes	No
Anesthesia related harm	yes	no	No
Abnormal heart rate or blood pressure	yes	yes	No
Abnormal potassium level	yes	yes	Yes
Abnormal respiratory rate	yes	yes	No
Abnormal sodium level	yes	yes	Yes
Medication reaction	sometimes	no	No
Cancelled elective procedure/delayed discharge	yes	?	No
Acetylcysteine administration	yes	yes	Yes
Activated charcoal	yes	yes	Yes
Activation of dose range checking	yes	yes	Yes
Acute dialysis	yes	no	No
Administration of 3 or more nephrotoxins (NTMx) on the same calendar day or intravenous (IV) aminoglycoside (AG) for 3 or more days in a row	yes	yes	Yes
administration of glucagon or glucose $\geq 10\%$	yes	yes	Yes
Admission: >3 days	yes	yes	Yes
Adverse drug event	sometimes	no	No
Occurrence of a complication	sometimes	no	No
All-cause deaths in hospital	yes	?	No

Medication-related	EHR usually	Is it a structured	Availability of the
triggers	available?	data	trigger in EREMI
Angioedema or lip swelling	ves	no	No
Anti Xa >1.5 mg/dL	ves	ves	Yes
Anti-allergic or Adrenaline	ves	ves	Yes
adminstration			
Anti-emetic adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Anticoagulant	yes	yes	Yes
Antidiarrheal administration	yes	yes	Yes
Antihistamine admistration	yes	yes	Yes
Elevated digoxine level	yes	yes	Yes
Any laboratory abnormalities	yes	yes	Yes
Benadryl (dinhenhydramine)	yes	yes	Yes
administration			
Biopsy of bone marrow, kidney, or liver	yes	no	No
Biperiden, promethazine or diazepam administration	yes	yes	Yes
Calcium gluconate administration	yes	yes	Yes
Calcium ionised >1,5 mg/dl	yes	yes	Yes
Abrupt medication stop	yes	No	No
Emergent C-section delivery (Neonate Only)	yes	no	No
Chloride level <80 mEq/l	yes	yes	Yes
Chlorphenamine adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Chlorphenamine or antihistamine adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Constipation	yes	no	No
Cyclosporin A > 400 $\mu$ g,L-1 (treatment)> 500 $\mu$ g,L-1 (transplantation of organ)	yes	yes	Yes
Decrease in hemoglobin or hematocrit > 25%	yes	yes	Yes
Decreased level of consciousness or pressure sores	yes	no	No

Medication-related triggers	EHR usually available?	Is it a structured data	Availability of the trigger in EREMI
			database
Delirium/agitation	yes	no	No
Dextrose administration	yes	yes	Yes
Dextrose administration and insulin administration	yes	yes	Yes
Dextrose administration and low serum glucose level	yes	yes	Yes
Digoxin Immune Fab administration	yes	yes	Yes
Early Readmission (upgrade of care)	yes	yes	Yes
Any urgent code	yes	?	No
Unplanned intubation	yes	no	No
Dystonia, ataxia, torticollis, dyskinesia	yes	no	No
Drug level out of range	yes	yes	Yes
Early warning score	yes	yes	No
Long mechanical ventilation postoperatively	yes	no	No
Change in planned procedure	yes	?	No
Rescue	yes	no	No
Elevated anti-epileptics level	yes	yes	Yes
Unplanned insertion of central line	yes	no	No
Elevated liver enzymes	yes	yes	Yes
Elevated liver enzymes or high total bilirubin level	yes	yes	Yes
Elevated pancreatic enzymes	yes	yes	Yes
Elevated tacrolimus level	yes	yes	Yes
Elevated theophylline level	yes	yes	Yes
Embolus/thrombus	yes	?	No
Emergency surgery on inpatient	yes	no	No
Transfer to higher level of care (upgrade of care)	yes	yes	Yes
Medication-related	EHR usually	Is it a structured	Availability of the trigger in EPEMI
-------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------	--------------------	--------------------------------------
uiggeis	available:	uata	database
Fracture or osteoporosis	yes	no	No
Gastrointestinal symptoms	yes	no	No
glucose adminstration and insulin adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
glucose adminstration and no insulin adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Glutathione administration	yes	yes	Yes
Granulocyte colony- stimulating factor	yes	yes	Yes
Haemoglobin < 8 g/dL	yes	yes	Yes
Hallucinations/delirium/IC U syndrome	yes	no	No
Hearing disturbance or hearing loss	yes	no	No
Heparin administration	yes	yes	Yes
Hepatotoxic medications administration and Elevated liver enzymes	yes	yes	Yes
High INR	yes	yes	Yes
High PTT	yes	yes	Yes
High total bilirubin level	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperglycaemia	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperkalemia	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperkalemia and age more than 1 year	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperkalemia and sodium polystyrene administration	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperkalemia or sodium polystyrene administration	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperlactataemia on antiretroviral therapy	yes	yes	Yes
hypernatremia	yes	yes	Yes
Hyperphosphatemia	yes	yes	Yes
Hypertension	yes	yes	No
Hypocalcemia	yes	yes	Yes
Hypoglycaemia	yes	yes	Yes

Medication-related	EHR usually	Is it a structured	Availability of the trigger in <b>FRFM</b>
triggers	available:	uata	database
Hypoglycaemia or glucose administration	yes	yes	Yes
Hypokalemia	yes	yes	Yes
Hypomagnesemia	yes	yes	Yes
Hyponatremia	yes	yes	Yes
Hypotension	yes	yes	No
Нурохіа	yes	yes	No
In hospital stroke	yes	?	No
Induced delivery	yes	?	No
Insulin administration	yes	yes	Yes
Insulin administration and Hypoglycaemia	yes	yes	Yes
Interactions	yes	yes	Yes
Laxative adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Laxative or stool softener adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Leucopenia	yes	yes	Yes
Any antidote administration	yes	yes	Yes
Magnesium level >3,5 mEq/l	yes	yes	Yes
Mechanical ventilation complication	yes	no	No
Readmission within 30 days	yes	yes	Yes
Meperidine administraion and rising serum creatinine	yes	yes	Yes
Metabolic acidosis: anion gap > 11 with drug cause	yes	yes	Yes
Methadone administration	yes	yes	Yes
Mucositis or mucosal ulceration	yes	no	No
Naloxone (Narcan) administration	yes	yes	Yes
Narcotic admistration or benzodiazepine adminstration	yes	yes	Yes
Nausea, vomiting	yes	no	No
Necrotizing enterocolitis	yes	no	No

Medication-related	EHR usually	Is it a structured	Availability of the trigger in FRFMI
uiggeis	available:	uata	database
Negative viral hepatitis screening test results	yes	yes	Yes
Nephrotoxin administration	yes	yes	Yes
Nephrotoxin administration and rising serum creatinine	yes	yes	Yes
new arrhythmia	yes	no	No
new onset of jaundice	yes	no	No
Transfusion	yes	no	No
Pain	yes	no	No
Pancytopaenia	yes	yes	Yes
Paracetamol concentration done (regardless of result)	yes	yes	Yes
Phentolamine administration	yes	yes	Yes
positive D-dimer	yes	yes	Yes
Prescribing of extrapyramidal symptoms corrector	yes	yes	Yes
pRIFLE criteria	sometimes	no	No
Protamine administration	yes	yes	Yes
Pruritus	yes	no	No
PTT >100 s or High INR	yes	yes	Yes
PTT >100s and heparine administration	yes	yes	Yes
PTT >100s and warfarine administraion	yes	yes	Yes
Pulmonary edema, pleural effusion, or pneumothorax	yes	no	No
Rash	yes	no	No
Rash or ulceration	yes	no	No
Readmission to ICU/ED/HDU within short period	yes	yes	Yes
Unplanned admission	no	no	No
Require resuscitation in ward	yes	no	No
Abnormal electrolyte levels	yes	yes	Yes

Medication-related	EHR usually	Is it a structured	Availability of the trigger in <b>FRFM</b>
unggers	avanable:	uata	database
Abrupt reduction of dose of medication	yes	yes	Yes
Retinopathy in premature infant on oxygen	yes	no	No
Rising serum creatinine	yes	yes	Yes
Rising serum creatinine or urea	yes	yes	Yes
Romazicon (flumazenil) administration	yes	yes	Yes
Romazicon (flumazenil) administration, Inotropics administration or naloxoe administration	yes	yes	Yes
Seizure	yes	no	No
Serum Lithium >1.0 mmol/litre	yes	yes	Yes
Significant weight gain	yes	yes	Yes
Skin- and blood vessel harm, thrombophlebitis	yes	no	No
Sodium polystyrene administration	yes	yes	Yes
Sudden onset wheezing	yes	no	No
Systemic corticosteroid administration	yes	yes	Yes
Terbutaline administration	yes	yes	Yes
Thrombocytopenia	yes	yes	Yes
Drug combinations not normally recommended	yes	yes	No
Elevated anti-epileptics level and low albumine level	yes	yes	Yes
Transfusion, arrest, or death in OR	yes	no	No
Triglycerides >500 mg/dl	yes	yes	Yes
Ultrasound guided drainage	yes	no	No
Ultrasound of the brain > week 32 - < 3 months	yes	no	No
Elevated eophyline level	yes	yes	Yes
Elevated lidocaine level	yes	yes	Yes

Medication-related triggers	EHR usually available?	Is it a structured data	Availability of the trigger in EREMI database
Restraint use	yes	no	No
Upper gastrointestinal bleed	yes	no	No
Urinary retention	yes	no	No
Vital sign changes	yes	yes	No
Vitamin K	yes	yes	Yes
vitamin K and High INR	yes	yes	Yes
Warfarin administration or High INR >6 and vitamin K administration	yes	yes	Yes
Withdrawal	sometimes	no	No